AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

Large Multiuser MIMO Detection: Algorithms and Architectures

by HADI AKRAM SARIEDDEEN

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy to the Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering of the Maroun Semaan Faculty of Engineering and Architecture at the American University of Beirut

> Beirut, Lebanon March 2018

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

Large Multiuser MIMO Detection: Algorithms and Architectures

by HADI AKRAM SARIEDDEEN

Approved by:

Dr. Ali Chehab, Professor

Electrical and Computer Engineering

Dr. Mohammad M. Mansour, Professor

Electrical and Computer Engineering

Dr. Louay Jallou!

Qualcomm Inc. (San Jose, California)

Dr. Louay Bazzi, Professor

Electrical and Computer Engineering

Ali Chebdo

Committee Chair

Advisor

Du allou

Member of Committee

Member of Committee

Dr. Francisco Monteiro, Assistant Professor M ISCTE - University Institute of Lisbon

Member of Committee

Date of dissertation defense: March 29, 2018

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

THESIS, DISSERTATION, PROJECT RELEASE FORM



I authorize the American University of Beirut to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of my thesis, dissertation, or project; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes.

I authorize the American University of Beirut, to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of it; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes after: One year from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation or project. Two

Two ____ years from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation or project. Three ____ years from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation or project.

Algenature <u>May 14, 2018</u> Date

Contents

| Acknowledgements 1 | | | | |
|--------------------|--------------------|--|----|--|
| \mathbf{A} | Abstract | | | |
| 1 | Intr | oduction | 16 | |
| | 1.1 | MIMO Wireless Technology | 16 | |
| | | 1.1.1 Detection in Single-User MIMO | 18 | |
| | | 1.1.2 Detection in Multiuser MIMO | 20 | |
| | | 1.1.3 Low-Resolution Precoding in Massive MIMO | 22 | |
| | 1.2 | Contributions and Outline | 25 | |
| | 1.3 | Thesis-Related Publications | 28 | |
| 2 | \mathbf{Sys}^{r} | tem Model and Reference Detectors | 30 | |
| | 2.1 | System Model | 30 | |
| | 2.2 | ML Detector | 31 | |
| | 2.3 | MMSE and ZF Detectors | 32 | |
| | 2.4 | Sphere Decoder | 32 | |
| | 2.5 | Nulling-and-Cancellation Detector | 35 | |
| | 2.6 | Chase Detector | 35 | |
| | 2.7 | Layered Orthogonal Lattice Detector | 36 | |
| | 2.8 | Subspace Detector | 37 | |
| | | 2.8.1 Conventional WR Decomposition | 38 | |
| | | 2.8.2 Detection Routine | 40 | |
| 3 | Iter | ative MIMO Detection with Large Constellations | 41 | |
| | 3.1 | Turbo-LORD | 41 | |
| | | 3.1.1 Low-Complexity LORD | 42 | |
| | 3.2 | Proposed Approaches | 43 | |
| | | 3.2.1 Enhancing Search Region Location | 43 | |
| | | 3.2.2 Enhancing LLR Saturation | 45 | |
| | 3.3 | Complexity Study | 46 | |
| | 3.4 | Simulation Results | 47 | |

| 4 | Rec | luced-Complexity QRD-Based Detection | 50 |
|----------|------|---|-----|
| | 4.1 | Permutation-Robust QRD | 51 |
| | 4.2 | Application to Subspace Detector | 53 |
| | | 4.2.1 Single-Permutation Subspace Detector | 53 |
| | | 4.2.2 Pairwise Subspace Detector | 53 |
| | | 4.2.3 2-Stage Subspace Detector | 54 |
| | 4.3 | Application to Sphere Decoder | 58 |
| | | 4.3.1 Improved Layer Ordering Using MRQRD | 59 |
| | | 4.3.2 MRQRD Dataflow Architecture | 61 |
| | | 4.3.3 TSA Architecture | 63 |
| 5 | Lar | ge MIMO Detection via Channel Puncturing | 67 |
| | 5.1 | Punctured QR Decomposition (WRD) | 67 |
| | 5.2 | Punctured ML Detector (PML) | 70 |
| | 5.3 | Punctured N/C Detector (PN/C) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$ | 70 |
| | 5.4 | Punctured Chase Detector (PCD) | 70 |
| | 5.5 | Vector-Based Subspace Detector (VSSD) | 71 |
| | 5.6 | Symbol-Based Subspace Detector (SSSD) | 72 |
| | 5.7 | Soft-Output Detection | 73 |
| | 5.8 | Architectures and Complexity Analysis | 73 |
| | 5.9 | Channel Shortening vs Channel Puncturing | 77 |
| | 5.10 | Simulation Results | 80 |
| 6 | Cap | oacity, Diversity, and BER Analysis | 89 |
| | 6.1 | Statistical Properties of Punctured Channels | 89 |
| | 6.2 | Analysis of Capacity | 91 |
| | 6.3 | Analysis of Achievable Diversity Gain | 94 |
| | | 6.3.1 Punctured ML Detector / Punctured Chase Detector | 96 |
| | | 6.3.2 Symbol-Based Subspace Detector | 99 |
| | 6.4 | Characterization and Analysis of BER | 102 |
| | | 6.4.1 Punctured N/C Detector $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$ | 102 |
| | | 6.4.2 Punctured Chase Detector | 105 |
| | | 6.4.3 Symbol-Based Subspace Detector | 110 |
| | 6.5 | Comments on Soft-Output Detection | 112 |
| 7 | Dua | al-Layer Multiuser MIMO Detection | 115 |
| | 7.1 | System Model | 116 |
| | 7.2 | Interference Rejection Combining | 116 |
| | 7.3 | ML MC for 2×2 MU-MIMO Systems | 117 |
| | 7.4 | Proposed MU-MIMO Receivers | 119 |
| | 7.5 | Joint MC and Detection Architecture | 122 |
| | 7.6 | Simulation Results | 124 |

| 8 | Higl | n-Order Multiuser MIMO Detection | 132 | | |
|----|------------------|--|-----|--|--|
| | 8.1 | System Model | 132 | | |
| | 8.2 | Reference MU-MIMO MC Schemes | 133 | | |
| | | 8.2.1 Likelihood-Based MC | 133 | | |
| | | 8.2.2 MC Using Higher-Order Cumulants | 135 | | |
| | 8.3 | Proposed MU-MIMO MC Schemes | 136 | | |
| | | 8.3.1 Modified Likelihood-Based MC | 136 | | |
| | | 8.3.2 Hierarchical MC | 138 | | |
| | | 8.3.3 Assuming High-Order Interfering Modulation Types | 138 | | |
| | 8.4 | Joint MC and Detection Architecture | 139 | | |
| | 8.5 | Simulation Results | 141 | | |
| | | | | | |
| 9 | Per- | Layer MC for Adaptive MIMO Systems | 145 | | |
| | 9.1 | Likelihood-Based MIMO MC | 145 | | |
| | 9.2 | Proposed MIMO MC | 147 | | |
| | 9.3 | Joint MC and Detection Architecture | 148 | | |
| | 9.4 | Simulation Results | 149 | | |
| 10 | Mas | sive MIMO 1-Bit Precoding | 154 | | |
| | 10.1 | System Model | 154 | | |
| | 10.2 | Reference Precoders | 156 | | |
| | | 10.2.1 Linear Quantized Precoders | 156 | | |
| | | 10.2.2 Nonlinear Quantized Precoders | 157 | | |
| | 10.3 | Proposed QRD-Based Precoders | 158 | | |
| | 10.4 | Proposed Non-QRD-Based Precoders | 160 | | |
| | 10.5 | Complexity Analysis | 162 | | |
| | 10.6 | Simulation Results and Discussions | 165 | | |
| 11 | Con | clusions and Future Work | 170 | | |
| Bi | Bibliography 174 | | | | |

List of Figures

| 2.1 | Channel matrix structures for 4x4 MIMO | 38 |
|------|---|----|
| 3.1 | Iter-LC-LORD algorithm flowchart. | 44 |
| 3.2 | Constellation schematic - black circles indicate third MSB is 1 | 45 |
| 3.3 | FEB performance - uncorrelated channels - 15% full complexity | 10 |
| 0.0 | carriers - $\overline{T} = 1$ (solid) and $\overline{T} = 4$ (dotted) | 47 |
| 3.4 | FEB performance - correlated channels - 15% full complexity Car- | 1. |
| 0.1 | riers - $\overline{T} = 1$ (solid) and $\overline{T} = 4$ (dotted) | 48 |
| 3.5 | FEB performance - correlated channels - 30% full complexity car- | 10 |
| 0.0 | riers - $\overline{T} = 1$ (solid) and $\overline{T} = 4$ (dotted). | 48 |
| | | 10 |
| 4.1 | QRD savings under column permutations. | 52 |
| 4.2 | A 2-stage 4×4 MIMO PWSD architecture | 54 |
| 4.3 | A 2-stage 8×8 MIMO PWSD architecture | 55 |
| 4.4 | BER performance - 8×8 MIMO - 16-QAM - uncorrelated channels. | 58 |
| 4.5 | Optimized dataflow graph for 4×4 MRQRD | 61 |
| 4.6 | Permutation schedule 1 | 62 |
| 4.7 | Permutation schedule 2 | 62 |
| 4.8 | Modified TSA-QRD for a 4×4 Matrix | 63 |
| 4.9 | Node count CDF for various layer ordering | 66 |
| 5.1 | Hierarchical architectural design for SO SSSD | 74 |
| 5.2 | Hierarchical architectural design for SO LORD. | 75 |
| 5.3 | Achievable information rates - 4×4 MIMO | 80 |
| 5.4 | HO FER performance - 4 × 4 MIMO | 81 |
| 5.5 | HO FER performance - 8 × 8 MIMO | 81 |
| 5.6 | HO FER performance - 16×16 MIMO | 82 |
| 5.7 | HO FER performance - 64×64 MIMO | 82 |
| 5.8 | SO FER performance - 8×8 MIMO | 83 |
| 5.9 | SO FER performance - 16×16 MIMO | 84 |
| 5.10 | SO FER performance - 64×64 MIMO | 84 |
| 5.11 | SO FER performance - 128×128 MIMO | 85 |
| 5.12 | SO FER performance - 4×4 MIMO - correlated channels | 86 |
| 5.13 | SO FER performance - 8×8 MIMO - correlated channels | 86 |

| $5.14 \\ 5.15$ | SO FER performance - 16×16 MIMO - correlated channels SO FER performance - 64×64 MIMO - correlated channels | 87 87 |
|--|--|---|
| $\begin{array}{c} 6.1 \\ 6.2 \\ 6.3 \\ 6.4 \\ 6.5 \\ 6.6 \\ 6.7 \\ 6.8 \\ 6.9 \\ 6.10 \end{array}$ | Empirical vs theoretical CDFs of the diagonal elements of \mathbf{R} Empirical vs theoretical CDFs of the diagonal elements of \mathbf{R} Achievable rates (bps/Hz) with 4×4 MIMO Achievable rates (bps/Hz) with 16×16 MIMO Achievable rates (bps/Hz) with 64×64 MIMO Empirical error probabilities with CD - 4×4 MIMO - 16 -QAM. Theoretical (solid lines) vs simulated BERs - 4×4 MIMO - 16 -QAM. Theoretical (solid lines) vs simulated BERs - 16×16 MIMO - 16 -QAM. Empirical error probabilities with SSD - 4×4 MIMO - 16 -QAM. QRD-based vs WRD-based distance metrics | $90 \\ 90 \\ 95 \\ 95 \\ 96 \\ 107 \\ 109 \\ 109 \\ 112 \\ 113$ |
| 7.1 | 2×2 MU-MIMO system model $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$ | 116 |
| 7.2 | Lattice points used in MC schemes | 119 |
| 7.3 | Architecture for a 2×2 MU-MIMO detector | 121 |
| 7.4 | CCR performance - $\overline{\Lambda}$ is 16-QAM - $T = 12$ - 0.9 correlation | 124 |
| 7.5 | CFER performance - ML Detection - Λ is 16-QAM - $T = 52 - 0.9$ | 105 |
| ¬ 0 | correlation. \dots \dots \dots \dots $$ | 125 |
| 7.6 | CFER performance - ML Detection - Λ is 16-QAM - $T = 12 - 0.9$ | 196 |
| 77 | CEED performance ML Detection $\overline{\Lambda}$ is 16 OAM $T = 12$ | 120 |
| 1.1 | UP ER performance - ML Detection - A is 10-QAM - $I = 12$ - | 196 |
| 78 | CCR Performance ICLORD $\overline{\mathbf{A}}$ is 64 OAM $ \mathbf{Q} = 40.06$ | 120 |
| 1.0 | correlation $CORT = 10$ -LORD - A is 04-QAM - $ \mathbf{O} = 49$ - 0.0 | 127 |
| 79 | BEB Performance - LC-LORD - $\overline{\Lambda}$ is 64-OAM - $ \Theta = 49 - 0.6$ | 121 |
| 1.0 | correlation. | 127 |
| 7.10 | BER Performance - LC-LORD - $\overline{\Lambda}$ is 64-QAM - $ \Theta = 49$ - ucorre- | |
| | lated channels. | 128 |
| 7.11 | BER Performance - LC-LORD - $\overline{\Lambda}$ is 64-QAM - $ \Theta = 25$ - uncor- | |
| | related channels. | 128 |
| 7.12 | BER Performance - LC-LORD - $\overline{\Lambda}$ is 64-QAM - $\Theta = \overline{\Lambda}$ - uncorre- | |
| | lated channels. | 129 |
| Q 1 | MU MIMO system model | 122 |
| 0.1 8 9 | Architecture for joint hierarchical MC and SSSD | 130 |
| 0.2 8 3 | CCB performance - 4×4 MU-MIMO - $N_{\rm max} = 2$ - M is 64-OAM | 100 |
| 0.0 | - uncorrelated | 140 |
| 8.4 | FER performance - 4×4 MU-MIMO - $N_{\text{mor}} = 2$ - \mathcal{M} is 64-OAM | |
| U. 1 | - uncorrelated | 141 |
| 8.5 | FER performance - 8×8 MU-MIMO - $N_{\text{user}} = 2$ - \mathcal{M} is 64-QAM | |
| | - uncorrelated | 142 |
| | | |

| 8.6 | FER performance - 4×4 MU-MIMO - $N_{user} = 2$ - \mathcal{M} is 64-QAM | |
|--|---|---|
| | - 0.3 correlation. | 143 |
| 8.7 | FER performance - 4×4 MU-MIMO - $N_{user} = 2$ - \mathcal{M} is 64-QAM | |
| | - 0.9 correlation | 143 |
| 9.1 | Joint MC and subspace detection architecture | 150 |
| 9.2 | CCR performance - uncorrelated channels | 151 |
| 9.3 | CCR performance - correlated channels. | 151 |
| 9.4 | FER performance - correlated channels - 64-QAM on layer of interest. | 152 |
| | | |
| 10.1 | Massive MIMO downlink system model | 155 |
| $10.1\\10.2$ | Massive MIMO downlink system model | 155 162 |
| $10.1 \\ 10.2 \\ 10.3$ | Massive MIMO downlink system model | 155 162 163 |
| $10.1 \\ 10.2 \\ 10.3 \\ 10.4$ | Massive MIMO downlink system model | 155 162 163 164 |
| $10.1 \\ 10.2 \\ 10.3 \\ 10.4 \\ 10.5$ | Massive MIMO downlink system model | 155 162 163 164 165 |
| $10.1 \\ 10.2 \\ 10.3 \\ 10.4 \\ 10.5 \\ 10.6$ | Massive MIMO downlink system model | 155 162 163 164 165 166 |
| $10.1 \\ 10.2 \\ 10.3 \\ 10.4 \\ 10.5 \\ 10.6 \\ 10.7 \\ $ | Massive MIMO downlink system model | 155 162 163 164 165 166 167 |

List of Tables

| 3.1 | Detector Complexities in Terms of Distance Computations | 47 |
|---------------------|---|--|
| $4.1 \\ 4.2$ | Computational Savings in Permutation-Robust SSDs Computational Savings in PR-QRD | $\begin{array}{c} 57\\ 64 \end{array}$ |
| $5.1 \\ 5.2 \\ 5.3$ | Summary of Proposed and Studied Detectors | 68 76 76 |
| 7.1 7.2 | Computational Complexity of MC Schemes with ML De- tection | 22 23 |
| 8.1 | Theoretical Cumulants for Different Constellations 1 | _36 |
| 9.1 | Computational Complexity of MIMO MC Schemes 1 | .48 |
| 10.1 | Summary of Precoders and Recommendations | 69 |

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank my advisor, Prof. Mohammad Mansour and my coadvisor, Prof. Ali Chehab, for their continuous moral and technical support over the past five years. They had given me the opportunity to pursue my Ph.D. on an interesting research topic in a very stimulating research environment. My very special thanks also go to Prof. Ayman Kayssi, who alongside Prof. Ali Chehab believed in my potentials and admitted me to an accelerated Ph.D. program.

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to my dissertation committee members, Dr. Louay Jalloul, Prof. Louay Bazzi, and Prof. Francisco Monteiro. In fact, the impact that the committee members had on me goes far beyond their constructive feedback on my dissertation. Dr. Jalloul had given me a window towards the work in industry through fruitful discussions at an early stage in my research work, Prof. Bazzi has taught me two of the most interesting graduate courses, and Prof. Monteiro was so generous to refer me to relevant research in the community during the first conference that I attended.

I am grateful to many more professors who taught me graduate courses at AUB. In particular, I would like to thank Prof. Zaher Dawy, Prof. Ibrahim Abou Fayssal, Prof. Youssef Nasser, and Prof. Imad Elhajj for making me a more proficient person. Furthermore, I would like to thank the staff at the Maroun Semaan Faculty of Engineering and Architecture, in particular Ms. Rabab Abi Shakra, who helped me in all the logistic details throughout my years at AUB. I would also like to extend my gratitude to the National Council for Scientific Research for partially financing my research.

To Ashraf, Iyad, Jamal, Oussama, Raghid, Saleem, Wissam, and Yamen, thank you for listening, offering me advice, and supporting me through this entire process. You all are the best friends anyone could ever ask for.

Words fail me to express my appreciation to my parents, Akram and Sania, for their love and support, and to my sister's family, Naja, Inas, and Yamen, for the emotional support, and caring.

An Abstract of the Dissertation of

Hadi Akram Sarieddeen

Doctor of Philosophy Major: Electrical and Computer Engineering

Title: Large Multiuser MIMO Detection: Algorithms and Architectures

for

After decades of research on multiple-input multiple-output (MIMO) technology, including paradigm shifts from point-to-point to multiuser MIMO (MU-MIMO), an ample literature exists on techniques to exploit the spatial dimension to increase link throughput and network capacity of wireless communication systems. *Massive* MIMO, which supports hundreds of antennas at the base station (BS), is celebrated as the key enabling technology of the upcoming fifth generation (5G) wireless communication standard. However, the use of *large* MIMO systems in the future is also indispensable, especially for high-speed wireless backhaul connectivity. *Large* MIMO systems use tens of antennas in communication terminals, and can afford a large number of antennas on both the transmitter and the receiver sides. While favorable propagation in *massive* MIMO ensures that reliable performance can be achieved by simple linear processing, the inherent symmetry in *large* MIMO renders the computational complexity of near-optimal signal processing schemes exponential in the number of antennas.

In this thesis, we investigate the problem of efficient data detection in *large* MIMO and high order MU-MIMO systems. First, near-optimal low-complexity

detection algorithms are proposed for regular MIMO systems. Then, a family of low-complexity hard-output and soft-output detection schemes based on channel matrix puncturing targeted for *large* MIMO systems is proposed. The performance of these schemes is characterized and analyzed mathematically, and bounds on capacity, diversity gain, and probability of bit error are derived. After that, efficient high order MU-MIMO detectors are proposed, based on joint modulation classification and subspace detection, where the modulation type of the interferer is estimated, while multiple decoupled streams are individually detected. Hardware architectures are designed for the proposed algorithms, and the promised gains are verified via simulations. Finally, we map the studied searchbased detection schemes to low-resolution precoding at the transmitter side in *massive* MIMO and report the performance-complexity tradeoffs.

Abbreviations

| $5\mathrm{G}$ | fifth generation |
|---------------|---|
| ADC | analog-to-digital converter |
| AIR | achievable information rate |
| AIR-PM | achievable-information-rate-based partial marginalization |
| ALRT | average likelihood ratio test |
| BER | bit error rate |
| BPSK | binary phase shift keying |
| BRF | breadth-first |
| BS | base station |
| BSF | best-first |
| CC | cyclic cumulant |
| CCR | correct classification ratio |
| CD | chase detector |
| CDF | cumulative distribution function |
| CFER | coded frame error rate |
| CG | center generator |
| CMLD | counter-ML-distance-based MC |
| CYLD | cyclic layered orthogonal lattice detector |
| CYSD | cyclic subspace detection |
| DAC | digital-to-analog converter |
| DF | depth-first |

| DI | distance increment |
|--------------|--|
| DP | diagonal-process |
| FER | frame error rate |
| FLOP | floating-point operation |
| GLRT | generalized likelihood ratio test |
| GR | Givens rotation |
| GS | Gram-Shmidt |
| HLRT | hybrid likelihood ratio test |
| НО | hard-output |
| HT | Householder transformation |
| IA | interference-aware |
| II | interference-ignoring |
| IRC | interference rejection combining |
| Iter-LC-LORD | iterative LC-LORD |
| LC-LORD | low-complexity layered orthogonal lattice detector |
| LLR | log-likelihood ratio |
| LO-LC-LORD | layer-ordered LC-LORD |
| LORD | layered orthogonal lattice detector |
| LORP | layered orthogonal lattice precoder |
| LQP | linear quantized precoder |
| LSD | list sphere decoding |
| LTE | long term evolution |
| MAP | maximum-a-posteriori |
| MC | modulation classification |
| MGS | modified Gram-Schmidt |
| MIMO | multiple-input multiple-output |
| ML | maximum likelihood |
| MMSE | minimum mean square error |

| MMSE-LC-LORD | minimum mean square error LC-LORD |
|---|--|
| MR | minimum cumulative residual |
| MRC | maximal ratio combining |
| MRQRD | minimum cumulative residual QR decomposition |
| МТ | modulation type |
| MU-MIMO | multiuser multiple-input multiple-output |
| $\rm N/C$ | nulling-and-cancellation |
| NLQP | nonlinear quantized precoder |
| OFDM | orthogonal frequency-division multiplexing |
| PCD | punctured chase detector |
| PED | partial Euclidean distance |
| PEP | pairwise error probability |
| РМ | partial marginalization |
| PML | punctured maximum likelihood |
| PN/C | punctured nulling-and-cancellation |
| PPCD | partially-punctured chase detector |
| PPN/C | partially-punctured nulling-and-cancellation |
| PR-QRD | permutation-robust QR decomposition |
| PSV | partial symbol vector |
| PWLD | pairwise layered orthogonal lattice detector |
| PWSD | pairwise subspace detector |
| QAM | quadrature amplitude modulation |
| QPSK | quadrature phase shift keying |
| QRD | QR decomposition |
| RAD | real addition |
| $\operatorname{RegTh}-\operatorname{LC-LORD}$ | region-thresholding LC-LORD |
| RF | radio frequency |
| RML | real multiplication |

| SD | sphere decoder |
|---------------------|--|
| SE | Schnorr-Euchner |
| SIC | successive interference cancellation |
| SINR | signal-to-interference-plus-noise ratio |
| SL-MMSE | single-layer minimum mean square error |
| SNR | signal-to-noise ratio |
| SO | soft-output |
| SP | sphere precoder |
| SPLD | single-permutation layered orthogonal lattice detector |
| SPSD | single-permutation subspace detector |
| SQRD | sorted QR decomposition |
| SQUID | squared-infinity norm Douglas-Rachford splitting |
| SSD | subspace detector |
| SSSD | symbol-based subspace detector |
| T-LORD | turbo layered orthogonal lattice detector |
| TP | triangular-process |
| TSA | triangular systolic array |
| UE | user equipment |
| UTM | upper-triangular matrix |
| V-BLAST | vertical Bell Labs layered space time |
| VSSD | vector-based subspace detector |
| WiFi | wireless fidelity |
| WRD | WR decomposition |
| ZF | zero forcing |
| ZFDF | ZF with decision-feedback |

Symbols and Notation

Bold upper case, bold lower case, and lower case letters correspond to matrices, vectors, and scalars, respectively. Unless otherwise stated, all variables are complex. In what follows we list key symbols in this thesis and detail the notation.

Latin Alphabet

| Α | upper-triangular sub-matrix of ${f R}$ |
|-------------------------|---|
| Å | upper-triangular sub-matrix of $\mathring{\mathbf{R}}$ |
| $\bar{\mathbf{B}}$ | matrix used in AIR computations |
| В | number of BS antennas in massive MIMO |
| b | first $N-1$ elements of the last column of ${\bf R}$ |
| $\mathring{\mathbf{b}}$ | first $N-1$ elements of the last column of $\mathring{\mathbf{R}}$ |
| \mathbf{b}_n | coded bit-representation of a symbol x_n |
| $b_{n,k}$ | k th element of \mathbf{b}_n |
| $ar{b}_{ij}$ | element of $\bar{\mathbf{B}}$ at the <i>i</i> th row and <i>j</i> th column |
| \mathbf{C}_r | receive antenna correlation matrix |
| \mathbf{C}_t | transmit antenna correlation matrix |
| $C_{\rm H}$ | capacity of regular channel |
| $C_{ m \mathring{R}}$ | achievable rate under channel puncturing |
| $C_{ m R,Opt}$ | capacity under channel puncturing |
| с | equivalent to $r_{N,N}$ |
| \mathring{c} | equivalent to $\mathring{r}_{N,N}$ |

| d | difference between transmitted and erroneously detected symbol vector | |
|---------------------------------|---|--|
| d^{ML} | Euclidean distance metric of hard-output ML solution | |
| $d_{n,k}^{\overline{	ext{ML}}}$ | counter-ML Euclidean distance metric corresponding to $b_{n,k}$ | |
| \mathbf{G}_r | modified Gram matrix for AIR computations | |
| Н | channel matrix under rich scattering | |
| Ē | augmented channel matrix in massive MIMO | |
| \mathbf{H}_1 | first $N-1$ columns of H | |
| \mathbf{H}_{c} | correlated channel matrix | |
| \mathbf{H}_r | modified channel matrix for AIR computations | |
| \mathbf{h}_n | n th column of ${f H}$ | |
| $I_{\rm AIR}$ | achievable information rate | |
| J | number of frames retaining the modulation classification output | |
| $ar{J}$ | number of iterations in Iter-LC-LORD algorithm | |
| L | number of OFDM symbols in modulation classification | |
| \bar{L} | number of possible quantization labels | |
| $L_{\rm H}$ | lower bound on capacity of regular channel | |
| $L_{ m \mathring{R}}$ | lower bound on achievable rate under channel puncturing | |
| L | set of possible quantization labels | |
| $ar{\mathcal{L}}$ | set of possible quantization symbols | |
| М | number of receive antennas | |
| \mathcal{M} | specific modulation constellation | |
| Ν | number of transmit antennas | |
| $N_{\rm user}$ | number of user antennas | |
| $N_{\rm inter}$ | number of interfering antennas | |
| n | noise vector | |
| Р | precoding matrix | |
| P | permutation matrix | |
| \mathbf{P}^\dagger | orthogonal projection onto the column space of ${f H}$ | |

| \mathbf{P}^{\perp} | orthogonal projection onto the left nullspace of ${\bf H}$ | |
|----------------------------|--|--|
| Р | maximum allocated power | |
| $\bar{\mathbf{p}}_n$ | n th column of $ar{\mathbf{P}}$ | |
| P^{Detector} | BER of a specific Detector | |
| $\acute{P}^{\rm Detector}$ | BER of a specific channel-punctured Detector | |
| P^{A} | probability of error value used in BER analysis | |
| P^{B} | probability of error value used in BER analysis | |
| P^{C} | probability of error value used in BER analysis | |
| P^{D} | probability of error value used in BER analysis | |
| $\acute{P}^{ m B}$ | probability of error value used in BER analysis | |
| $ec{P}^{\mathrm{C}}$ | probability of error value used in BER analysis | |
| $\acute{P}^{ m D}$ | probability of error value used in BER analysis | |
| P_n | BER at layer n of a N/C detector | |
| \acute{P}_n | BER at layer n of a PN/C detector | |
| Р | list of candidate symbol vectors in PCD | |
| $\mathcal{P}_{n,k}^{(1)}$ | subset of ${\mathcal P}$ where the bit $b_{n,k}$ is 1 | |
| $\mathcal{P}_{n,k}^{(0)}$ | subset of \mathcal{P} where the bit $b_{n,k}$ is 0 | |
| Q | unitary matrix generated by the QRD of ${\bf H}$ | |
| \mathbf{q}_n | n th column of ${f Q}$ | |
| q | number of bits per symbol | |
| R | UTM generated by the QRD of ${\bf H}$ | |
| $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}$ | scaled \mathbf{R} in massive MIMO | |
| $\mathring{\mathbf{R}}$ | punctured UTM generated by the WRD of ${\bf H}$ | |
| \mathbf{R}_1 | first $N-1$ columns of ${f R}$ | |
| $\mathring{\mathbf{R}}_1$ | first $N-1$ columns of $\mathring{\mathbf{R}}$ | |
| \mathbf{r}_n | n th column of ${f R}$ | |
| $\mathring{\mathbf{r}}_n$ | $n { m th} { m column} { m of} \stackrel{{}_\circ}{{ m R}}$ | |
| r _{ij} | element of ${f R}$ at the <i>i</i> th row and <i>j</i> th column | |

| r _{ij} | element of $\mathring{\mathbf{R}}$ at the <i>i</i> th row and <i>j</i> th column |
|-----------------------------|--|
| S | number of possible modulation types |
| S | list of candidate symbol vectors in CD |
| $\mathcal{S}_{n,k}^{(1)}$ | subset of ${\mathcal S}$ where the bit $b_{n,k}$ is 1 |
| $\mathcal{S}_{n,k}^{(0)}$ | subset of \mathcal{S} where the bit $b_{n,k}$ is 0 |
| SNR | SNR value |
| s | symbol vector before quantization |
| $\overline{\mathbf{s}}$ | augmented symbol vector in massive MIMO |
| $\tilde{\mathbf{s}}$ | modified $\bar{\mathbf{s}}$ after QRD |
| Т | number of observations (tones) in modulation classification |
| \bar{T} | number of detection/decoding iterations |
| U | matrix used in AIR computations |
| U | number of users in massive MIMO |
| \mathcal{U}_j | modulation type of interferer j |
| u _{ij} | element of ${f U}$ at the <i>i</i> th row and <i>j</i> th column |
| W | normalized matrix generated by the WRD of ${\bf H}$ |
| \mathbf{w}_n | n th column of ${f W}$ |
| X | finite N -dimensional lattice |
| X_n | normalized constellation at layer n |
| $ar{\mathcal{X}}_j$ | N-dimensional lattice corresponding to hypothesis j of modulation types |
| $\mathcal{X}_{n,k}^{(0)}$ | subset of X where the bit $b_{n,k}$ is 0 |
| $\mathcal{X}_{n,k}^{(1)}$ | subset of X where the bit $b_{n,k}$ is 1 |
| $\mathcal{X}_{n,n,k}^{(0)}$ | subset of X_n where the bit $b_{n,k}$ is 0 |
| $\mathcal{X}_{n,n,k}^{(1)}$ | subset of \mathcal{X}_n where the bit $b_{n,k}$ is 1 |
| x | transmitted symbol vector |
| \mathbf{x}_1 | first $N-1$ elements of x |
| $\mathbf{x}^{(1)}$ | true transmitted symbol vector |
| $\mathbf{x}^{(2)}$ | erroneously detected symbol vector |

| $\hat{x}^{\rm Detector}$ | hard-output vector solution of a specific Detector | |
|-------------------------------|---|--|
| x_n | n th element of \mathbf{x} | |
| $\hat{x}_n^{\rm Detector}$ | n th element of $\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{	ext{Detector}}$ | |
| У | received vector | |
| $\widetilde{\mathbf{y}}$ | modified received vector after QRD | |
| $ar{\mathbf{y}}$ | modified received vector after WRD | |
| $	ilde{\mathbf{y}}_1$ | first $N-1$ elements of $\tilde{\mathbf{y}}$ | |
| $ar{\mathbf{y}}_1$ | first $N-1$ elements of $\bar{\mathbf{y}}$ | |
| $\hat{y}^{\rm Detector}$ | equalized output vector of a specific Detector | |
| $\hat{y}_n^{\text{Detector}}$ | n th element of $\hat{\mathbf{y}}^{	ext{Detector}}$ | |
| | | |

Greek Alphabet

| α | transmit correlation factor | |
|-----------------------------------|---|--|
| \bar{lpha} | receive correlation factor | |
| β | precoding factor | |
| γ | branch SNR | |
| Δ | used in diversity analysis for regular channels | |
| Å | used in diversity analysis for punctured channels | |
| Θ | modulation constellation of reduced size | |
| θ_1 | complex multiplications saved under puncturing | |
| θ_2 | number of FLOPS required for QRD | |
| $	heta_3$ | number of FLOPS required for puncturing | |
| $ar{\Lambda}$ | modulation type of the user of interest | |
| Λ_j | modulation type j of interferer | |
| $\lambda_{n,k}^{\text{Detector}}$ | the LLR of bit $b_{n,k}$ of a specific Detector | |
| μ | variable used in BER analysis | |
| ξ_j | a priori LLRs for bits corresponding to x_j | |
| | | |

| Q | minimum error distance on a constellation |
|-------------------------------|---|
| $\bar{\varrho}$ | variable used in BER analysis |
| σ^2 | noise variance |
| Υ_j^2 | scaled chi-squared distributed random variable with \boldsymbol{j} degrees of freedom |
| Φ | empty constellation |
| $\varphi^{\mathrm{Detector}}$ | cost function of a specific Detector |
| χ_j^2 | chi-squared distributed random variable with j degrees of freedom |

Notation

| 0 | column vector of zeroes | |
|--|---|--|
| · | scalar norm or cardinality of a set | |
| · | vector L_2 norm | |
| $\ \cdot\ _{\mathrm{F}}$ | matrix Frobenius norm | |
| [·] | slicing operation | |
| С | set of complex numbers | |
| $\mathcal{CN}(\mathit{mu},\mathit{var})$ | complex Gaussian distribution with mean mu and variance var | |
| $d(\mathbf{x})$ | Euclidean distance metric as a function of ${\bf x}$ | |
| $\bar{d}(\mathbf{x})$ | Euclidean distance metric under puncturing | |
| $E[\cdot]$ | expected value | |
| $(\cdot)^{\mathcal{H}}$ | conjugate transpose | |
| \mathbf{I}_N | identity matrix of size N | |
| $\mathfrak{I}(\cdot)$ | imaginary part | |
| $\log(\cdot)$ | natural logarithm | |
| $\mathcal{N}(\cdot)$ | normal distribution | |
| $\Pr(\cdot)$ | probability density function | |
| $\mathscr{P}_{ abla}(\cdot)$ | precoding function | |
| $Q(\cdot)$ | Q-function | |

| $oldsymbol{Q}(\cdot)$ | quantizer-mapping function |
|----------------------------|----------------------------|
| R | set of real numbers |
| $\Re(\cdot)$ | real part |
| $(\cdot)^T$ | transpose function |
| $\operatorname{Tr}(\cdot)$ | trace function |

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 MIMO Wireless Technology

Wireless data usage continues to increase with the enhancements in smartphones and broadband-enabled portables, leading to an exponential growth in mobile data traffic. Such increasing demands are met by optimized network architectures, and one of the most important optimizations is taking advantage of the spatial dimension to improve reliability, spectral efficiency, and spatial separation of users. Towards that end, multiple-input multiple-output (MIMO) technology has been successfully used in several wireless communications standards [1–4]. MIMO technology [5] is a technique by which more antennas are added to increase link throughput and network capacity. However, conventional MIMO configurations fall short of providing the required spatial diversity in the upcoming fifth generation (5G) mobile communication standard, which promises to connect billions of devices and achieve several gigabit-per-second data rates.

After decades of research on MIMO technology [5–9], including a paradigm shift from point-to-point to multiuser MIMO (MU-MIMO) [10], massive MIMO [11– 15] is currently being celebrated as a key enabling technology for 5G. With massive MIMO, a base station (BS) can simultaneously accommodate a large number (100 or more) of co-channel users. This allows for fine-grained beamforming to serve hundreds of user equipments (UEs) in the same time-frequency resources, resulting in an order-of-magnitude increase in capacity [16–20]. However, many challenges have to be addressed in order to achieve the promised theoretical advantages. For example, pilot contamination is a fundamental limitation in a multi-cell system [21, 22], and non-ideal hardware is an inevitable constraint [23, 24].

Despite the extensive work on massive MIMO, *large* MIMO will also play an important role in the future. Large MIMO systems [25] use tens of antennas in communication terminals, and can afford a large number of antennas on both the transmitter and the receiver sides, such as for example 8×8 , 16×16 , 32×32 , and 64×64 configurations. Large point-to-point MIMO wireless links are of specific interest in 5G for high-speed wireless backhaul connectivity between BSs. Also, multipoint-to-point large MU-MIMO can be used in 5G in the uplink when the number of served transmitting users is less than, but comparable to, the number of BS antennas. Nevertheless, large MIMO can also be considered for point-to-multipoint downlink MU-MIMO [26], whether in enhanced versions of current wireless communications standards, or in 5G, where users sharing the same physical resource blocks are chosen based on the degree of orthogonality of their cascaded precoder and channel.

Furthermore, the order of modulation types (MTs) is rising to increase capacity. For example, quadrature amplitude modulations (QAMs) of size 1024 (1024-QAM) and beyond are currently being accommodated. Such modulations have previously found use in low-noise high-performance infrastructures, and they are now paving their way into future wireless communication standards. At the receiver side, the main disadvantage of employing such MTs is the scalability of existing data detection schemes.

1.1.1 Detection in Single-User MIMO

After being traditionally driven by diversity-multiplexing tradeoffs, recent wireless communication system designs have been driven by two factors; system performance in terms of throughput and bit error rate (BER), and system complexity in terms of processing latency and computational complexity.

The performance of MIMO systems is largely determined by the detection scheme at the receiver side; various schemes provide different performance and complexity tradeoffs [27]. Linear detectors, such as zero forcing (ZF) and minimum mean square error (MMSE), are the least-complex, but the least-optimal as well. On the other hand, maximum likelihood (ML) detectors are optimal but most computationally intensive, with a complexity that grows exponentially with the number of antennas. Several sub-optimal detectors fill the spectrum in between, including sphere decoders (SDs) and their variants [28–35]. Moreover, in addition to conventional hard-output (HO) detectors, soft-output (SO) detectors play an important role in near-capacity achieving systems, but are more complex because they require processing significantly more signal combinations to generate reliability information.

In massive MIMO systems, linear detectors achieve near-optimal performance by exploiting the channel hardening effect [16], and approximate matrix inversions via Neumann series approximations [36] are often used for practical implementations. However, large MIMO systems do not have very large receive-to-transmit antenna ratios. Hence, they cannot achieve the performance gains of asymmetric massive MIMO systems, and they do not allow for similar practical implementations, where Neumann series expansions fail to converge. For large MIMO systems, the detection schemes in the literature are grouped into several areas: detection based on local search [37,38]; detection based on meta-heuristics [39,40]; detection via message passing on graphical models [41,42]; lattice reduction (LR) aided detection [43,44]; and detection using Monte Carlo sampling [45]. However, for these schemes to achieve a near-ML performance with high orders of antennas and modulation constellations, the entailed complexity would be prohibitive.

A popular family of MIMO detectors that achieves good performance and complexity tradeoffs employs nonlinear subset-stream detection. The nullingand-cancellation (N/C) detector [46] is a low-complexity member of this family; it consists of linear nulling followed by successive interference cancellation (SIC). The chase detector (CD) [47,48] is a more complex member of this family; it first creates a list of candidate decision vectors, and then chooses the best candidate from this list as a final decision. Chase detection is considered a special case of list detection. However, it differs from list sphere decoding (LSD) [8], for example, in the way the list is generated and administered; in LSD, list admission is based on proximity to an initial solution, while in CD, list generation is deterministic, and is done by spanning all possible sub-tree symbols emanating from the root symbol in a specific layer of interest. Furthermore, other popular subset-stream detectors exist (e.g., [49–51]), that decompose the channel matrix into lower order sub-channels to reduce the number of jointly detected streams.

All aforementioned subset-stream detectors make use of QR decomposition (QRD). However, the SO subspace detector (SSD) [52], transforms the channel matrix via a punctured QRD, which we refer to in this thesis as WR decomposition (WRD). In [53–55], WRD-based SSD is generalized to allow for joint detection of arbitrary-sized subsets of decoupled streams, and efficient implementation methods are presented. The QRD-based version of this detector is called the layered orthogonal lattice detector (LORD) [56, 57], and both are special cases of the CD. To the best of our knowledge, the use of punctured QRD in MIMO detectors has not been studied analytically in the literature, and its applicability to large MIMO systems has not been addressed.

1.1.2 Detection in Multiuser MIMO

MU-MIMO technology [5,26] allows simultaneous transmissions to multiple users over the same time-frequency resource elements, by using multiple antennas at the transmitter and the receiver. The main issue in the multi-user scenario is interference. Intra-cell interference occurs when a BS sends information to multiple users within a cell, over spatially almost-orthogonal channels. At the receiving side, the desired user knows its channel and tries to estimate the interference without knowing the MT of the interfering signal.

Different interference mitigation proposals have led to different receiver designs. Conventional linear processing techniques only use the channel estimate of the co-scheduled user, without requiring the knowledge of its MT. Such techniques include [58] interference-ignoring (II), interference rejection combining (IRC), and single-layer MMSE (SL-MMSE), with the latter two having the exact coded performance [59]. However, if the detectors explicitly take into account the modulation formats of the desired and interference signals, remarkable performance gains can be achieved. Such interference-aware (IA) detectors, ML and minimum distance detectors [58] for example, are noise limited, rather than interference limited, and are not prone to error floors like conventional detectors.

Since current communication standards do not provide information about the interfering MT in the downlink, several techniques emerged, that decide on a specific interfering MT. In [60,61], the constellation of the interfering user's signal is presumed to be 16-QAM, regardless of its actual size, and without making any attempt to estimate it. A better approach, however, is to add an interference modulation classification (MC) routine, followed by a regular IA detector [62,63]. MC is the task of recognizing the MT employed at the transmitter of a detected signal, which is required for various military and civilian applications. In particular, cognitive radio with adaptive MTs [64] is a promising future application of MC. In such scenario, the transmitter dynamically adjusts the data rate by

switching the modulation order depending on channel conditions. By employing automatic (blind) MC at the receiver, the communication overhead can be significantly reduced.

MC techniques can be classified into two categories [65]: feature-based and likelihood-based. With feature-based classification, inherent characteristics of the received waveform are exploited, such as higher order correlations, hierarchical cumulants, zero-crossing rates, and power estimations. Such characteristics are regarded as discriminant features and decisions are made based on their observed values. With likelihood-based classification, on the other hand, the decision is made on the modulation format that has the highest probability within multiple hypotheses. This is achieved by computing complex likelihood functions. In this thesis, we consider a combination of both.

The two main likelihood-based MC approaches [66–68] are the average likelihood ratio test (ALRT) and the generalized likelihood ratio test (GLRT). While ALRT treats the signal and channel parameters as unknown random variables with known distributions, GLRT treats them as deterministic but unknown. The hybrid likelihood ratio test (HLRT) is a combination of the previous two. These approaches were extended to multiuser and MIMO scenarios [69–72].

The most popular feature-based approach exploits the higher-order cyclic cumulants (CCs) of the baseband intercepted signal as powerful features for linear digital MC [73–75]. Calculating the higher-order cumulants of the sum of independent processes is mathematically convenient, and the intrinsic cyclostationarity of communication signals makes the CCs robust to interference and stationary noise. Moreover, without perfect channel state information (CSI), independent component analysis has been used [76] to blindly estimate the channel in conjunction with either likelihood-based or feature-based MC.

1.1.3 Low-Resolution Precoding in Massive MIMO

As the number of antennas increases, and if each antenna element has its own radio frequency (RF) chain at the BS, the hardware complexity and system costs will significantly increase, as well as the circuit power consumption, especially in the context of mmWave systems [77, 78] with high sampling rates. The dominant sources of power consumption at a BS with massive antenna arrays are analog-todigital converters (ADCs) in the uplink and digital-to-analog converters (DACs) in the downlink. For instance, the dissipated power in ADCs scales exponentially in the number of resolution bits and linearly in the sampling rate [79]. Moreover, a massive number of antennas puts extreme capacity requirements on the fronthaul interconnect link between the baseband processing unit and the radio unit (RF components), especially when these two units are separated by a large distance, such as in a cloud radio access network architecture [80], where the baseband processing is migrated from the BSs to a centralized unit.

The challenge is to jointly reduce system costs, power consumption, and interconnect bandwidth with minimal performance degradation. Recent research trends aim at either reducing the number of converters, by partitioning the signal processing operations between analog and digital domains using hybrid beamforming [81], or reducing their bit resolutions [82]. The latter employs coarse quantization, which has the extra benefit of lowering the linearity and noise requirements, because quantization noise may dominate the noise introduced by mixers, oscillators, filters, and low-noise amplifiers, which further reduces the RF circuit power. It was argued in [83] that the energy efficiency is maximized at intermediate ADC resolutions, typically in the range of 4 to 8 bits. In the extreme case of 1-bit quantization [84, 85], only simple low-complexity comparators are required [86], and there is no need for automatic gain control circuitry to match the dynamic range of the ADCs. It is known that quadrature phase shift keying (QPSK) is capacity achieving over complex-valued Gaussian channels in the 1-bit case [87], as well as with Rayleigh-fading assuming perfect CSI [88].

With low-resolution ADCs in the uplink [89,90], a special design of signaling schemes and receiver algorithms is required at the BS to combat the resultant nonlinearity. Note that by exploiting the time division duplex reciprocity, only uplink channels need to be estimated. However, channel estimation on the basis of quantized observations is challenging [91], especially with fast fading channels. In such scenarios, QPSK is optimal only when the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) exceeds a coherence-time-dependent threshold [92]. In [93], a system employing 1-bit ADCs with QPSK is shown to achieve large sum-rate throughputs when the BS employs a least squares channel estimator, followed by a linear maximal ratio combining (MRC) or ZF detector. This study is extended to high-order modulations in [94]. Bussgang's decomposition [95] is used for channel estimation in other studies [96,97], and a joint channel- and data-estimation algorithm is presented in [98], which outperforms separate channel estimation and data detection at the expense of high complexity. Furthermore, since implementing ZF or MMSE requires the computation of matrix inversions, computationally efficient approximations based on truncated polynomial expansions [99, 100] or conjugate-gradient techniques [101] have been proposed. Nevertheless, efficient nonlinear detection schemes are viable alternatives that can boost performance if the BS can afford a marginal increase in complexity. In [102] 1-bit massive MIMO detection based on variational approximate message passing was proposed.

With low-resolution DACs in the downlink, conventional low-complexity linear quantized precoders (LQPs), such as ZF or MMSE, followed by quantization, can achieve good performance, but only at high transmit-to-receive antenna ratios and low-to-moderate SNRs [103, 104]. To compensate the performance loss in 1-bit massive MIMO systems with linear processing, 2.5 times more antennas need to be deployed at the BS [105]. However, reliable data transmission can be retained under quantization if sophisticated precoding algorithms that can mitigate both multi-user interference and quantization artifacts are employed. In [106], two nonlinear quantized precoders (NLQPs) are proposed; the first is based on semi-definite relaxation and squared-infinity norm Douglas-Rachford splitting (SQUID), while the second adapts the SD to a quantized sphere precoder (SP). In [107,108], two low-complexity nonlinear 1-bit precoding algorithms based on biconvex relaxation are presented. They achieve better error-rate performance compared to linear precoding followed by quantization. Heuristic nonlinear precoding schemes can also provide a good performance-complexity tradeoff, such as subset-codebook precoding [109]. Furthermore, two-stage spatio-temporal precoding structures [110] can be used to suppress interuser interference.

There are several other notable studies in the literature on massive MIMO with coarse quantization. Mixed resolution architectures [111–114] and nonuniform resolutions [115] are considered to increase system performance. Solutions in the context of frequency-selective wideband channels that use orthogonal frequency division multiplexing (OFDM) have also been studied, such as in [116, 117] for the downlink, and in [118, 119] for the uplink. Moreover, while most studies assume Nyquist-rate sampling at the receiver, which is not optimal in the presence of quantization [120], it is shown in [121] that high-order constellations such as 16-QAM can be supported with 1-bit quantization when oversampling is applied at the receiver.

To sum up, most of the reference studies consider linear precoding and detection at the BS in massive MIMO systems. The performance of these linear solutions has been bounded analytically, including the case of coarse quantization, and efficient architectures have been proposed. Moreover, nonlinear precoding and detection solutions promise significant performance enhancements, especially in the presence of 1-bit ADCs and DACs. However, these solutions are not adequately addressed in the literature. There are mainly three gaps in recently proposed nonlinear solutions: they usually entail high complexity, their performance is not characterized analytically, and they are often studied disjointly as either precoding or detection schemes.

1.2 Contributions and Outline

The purpose of this thesis is to design efficient algorithms and architectures for MIMO, large MIMO, and MU-MIMO detection, as well as massive MIMO precoding. Using theoretical analysis and empirical simulations, the proposed algorithms are proven to be high-performance and low-complexity solutions. The structure of this thesis is as follows:

Chapter 2 introduces the detection problem in spatial multiplexing and presents reference linear and nonlinear receivers.

Chapter 3 presents early results on dual-layer MIMO systems as a starter. Several approaches are proposed to reduce the complexity of iterative detection and decoding when high order MTs are employed. It is argued that lowcomplexity LORD (LC-LORD) introduces significant performance degradation, especially with high channel correlation. We propose improving the location of a reduced region of search within a 1024-QAM constellation, as well as enhancing the bit log-likelihood ratio (LLR) approximation. The proposed schemes are studied in the context of non-iterative and iterative detection and decoding, and significant gains are achieved in both cases.

Chapter 4 presents a permutation-robust QRD (PR-QRD) technique, using the modified Gram-Schmidt (GS) orthogonalization procedure and elementary matrix operations. This technique is then used to reduce the complexity of two popular detectors in the literature. First, computationally efficient subspace detection schemes based on special layer ordering, followed by PR-QRD are proposed. A hardware architecture is designed, which allows building an 8-layer detector from 4-layer and 2-layer constituent detector blocks. Second, PR-QRD is used in low-complexity SD, where an optimized layer-ordering scheme based on the minimum cumulative residual (MR) criterion is considered.

Chapter 5 presents a family of low-complexity detection schemes based on channel matrix puncturing targeted for large MIMO systems. It is well-known that the computational cost of MIMO detection based on QRD is directly proportional to the number of non-zero entries involved in back-substitution and slicing operations in the triangularized channel matrix, which can be too high for low-latency applications involving large MIMO dimensions. By systematically puncturing the channel to have a specific structure, it is demonstrated that the detection process can be accelerated by employing standard schemes such as CD, LSD, N/C detection, and SSD on the transformed matrix. The difference between optimal channel shortening and efficient channel puncturing is also highlighted in this chapter. Simulations of coded and uncoded scenarios certify that the proposed schemes scale up efficiently, both in the number of antennas and constellation size, as well as in the presence of correlated channels.

Chapter 6 introduces a theoretical analysis. The performance of the proposed channel-punctured detectors is characterized and analyzed mathematically, and bounds on the capacity, diversity gain, and probability of bit error are derived. Surprisingly, it is shown that puncturing does not negatively impact the receive diversity gain in HO detectors. The analysis is extended to SO detection when computing per-layer bit LLRs; it is shown that significant performance gains are attainable by ordering the layer of interest to be at the root when puncturing the channel.

Chapter 7 presents near-optimal data detection schemes for dual-layer MU-MIMO systems. Joint likelihood-based MC of the co-scheduled user and data detection receivers are developed. By expanding the Max-Log- maximum-aposteriori (MAP) MC approach to include distances of counter ML hypothesis symbols, the decision metric for MC is shown to be an accumulation over a set of tones of Euclidean distance computations, that are also used by the detectors for bit LLR soft decision generation. With a small complexity overhead, the proposed approaches achieve near-optimal performance. Efficient hardware architectures are presented for the proposed approaches.
Chapter 8 extends the work on MU-MIMO to higher antenna orders. A detector that employs joint MC and low-complexity subspace detection is proposed, by which the MT of the interferer is estimated, while multiple decoupled streams are individually detected. A hierarchical MC scheme is proposed, comprising feature-based and near-optimal likelihood-based classifiers, as well as a classifier that always assumes the interfering MT to be a fixed high order QAM. An efficient hardware architecture that realizes the proposed algorithms is presented. Simulations demonstrate that depending on the channel condition, one of the proposed schemes can achieve near IA performance with a minimum complexity overhead.

Chapter 9 presents a novel near-optimal low-complexity likelihood-based MC scheme for MIMO systems with adaptive MTs. First, the channel matrix is decomposed employing subspace decomposition, and then the MT on the partially decoupled stream of interest gets detected using a modified likelihood metric. A joint MC and subspace detection receiver is also presented.

Chapter 10 extends the study to address the problem of efficient precoding in the downlink of massive MIMO systems that use 1-bit DACs. By adapting the procedures of popular search-based detection algorithms to 1-bit quantized precoding, two families of nonlinear precoders are proposed. The first employs QRD combined with tree-based search techniques, and the second uses Gibbs sampling for search enumerations without decomposing the channel. Simulations demonstrate that some of the proposed schemes outperform reference nonlinear precoders, both in performance and complexity with low order MIMO, and in performance with a graceful increase in computations in the context of massive MIMO with high order modulation types.

Chapter 11 concludes the presented work and specifies future directions.

1.3 Thesis-Related Publications

At the time of writing, this thesis work had been incrementally published in three journal papers and eight conference papers as follows:

Journal Papers:

- H. Sarieddeen, M. M. Mansour, and A. Chehab, "Large MIMO detection schemes based on channel puncturing: Performance and complexity analysis," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, no. 99, pp. 1–1, 2017.
- H. Sarieddeen, M. M. Mansour, L. Jalloul, and A. Chehab, "High order multi-user MIMO subspace detection," *J. of Signal Process. Syst.*, vol. 90, no. 3, pp. 305–321, Mar. 2017.
- H. Sarieddeen, M. M. Mansour, and A. Chehab, "Modulation classification via subspace detection in MIMO systems," *IEEE Commun. Lett.*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 64–67, Jan. 2017.

Conference Papers:

- H. Sarieddeen, M. M. Mansour, and A. Chehab, "Channel-Punctured Large MIMO Detection," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Inf. Theory (ISIT)*, Vail, CO, USA, Jun. 2018 (to appear).
- H. Sarieddeen, M. M. Mansour, and A. Chehab, "Hard-output chase detectors for large MIMO: BER performance and complexity analysis," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Personal Indoor and Mobile Radio Commun. (PIMRC)*, Montreal, Canada, Oct. 2017, pp. 1–5.
- H. Sarieddeen and M. M. Mansour, "Enhanced low-complexity layer-ordering for MIMO sphere detectors," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Commun. (ICC)*, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, May 2016, pp. 1–6.

- H. Sarieddeen, M. M. Mansour, L. M. A. Jalloul, and A. Chehab, "Lowcomplexity joint modulation classification and detection in MU-MIMO," in *Proc. IEEE Wireless Commun. and Netw. Conf. (WCNC)*, Doha, Qatar, Apr. 2016, pp. 1–6.
- H. Sarieddeen, M. M. Mansour, and A. Chehab, "Efficient near-optimal 8x8 MIMO detector," in Proc. IEEE Wireless Commun. and Netw. Conf. (WCNC), Doha, Qatar, Apr. 2016, pp. 1–6.
- H. Sarieddeen, M. M. Mansour, and A. Chehab, "Efficient subspace detection for high-order MIMO systems," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Process. (ICASSP)*, Shanghai, China, Mar. 2016, pp. 1001–1005.
- H. Sarieddeen, M. Mansour, L. Jalloul, and A. Chehab, "Efficient near optimal joint modulation classification and detection for MU-MIMO systems," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Process.* (ICASSP), Shanghai, China, Mar. 2016, pp. 3706–3710.
- H. Sarieddeen, M. M. Mansour, L. M. A. Jalloul, and A. Chehab, "Lowcomplexity MIMO detector with 1024-QAM," in *Proc. IEEE Global Conf.* on Signal and Inform. Process. (GlobalSIP), Orlando, FL, USA, Dec. 2015, pp. 883–887.
- H. Sarieddeen, M. M. Mansour, L. M. A. Jalloul, and A. Chehab, "Likelihoodbased modulation classification for MU-MIMO systems," in *Proc. IEEE Global Conf. on Signal and Inform. Process. (GlobalSIP)*, Orlando, FL, USA, Dec. 2015, pp. 873–877.

Chapter 2

System Model and Reference Detectors

2.1 System Model

We consider spatial multiplexing in a MIMO system with N transmit antennas and M = N receive antennas. The equivalent complex baseband input-output system relation is given by

$$\mathbf{y} = \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{n},\tag{2.1}$$

where $\mathbf{y} \in C^{M \times 1}$ is the received complex vector, $\mathbf{H} = [\mathbf{h}_1 \cdots \mathbf{h}_n \cdots \mathbf{h}_N] \in C^{M \times N}$ is the channel matrix with entries that are assumed to be $C\mathcal{N}(0,1)$ i.i.d. random variables, $\mathbf{x} = [x_1 \cdots x_n \cdots x_N]^T \in C^{N \times 1}$ is the transmitted symbol vector, and $\mathbf{n} \in C^{M \times 1}$ is the noise vector with $C\mathcal{N}(0, \sigma^2)$ entries $(\mathsf{E}[\mathbf{nn}^{\mathcal{H}}] = \sigma^2 \mathbf{I}_M)$.

Each symbol $x_n, n \in \{1, \dots, N\}$, belongs to a normalized complex constellation $(\mathbb{E}[x_n^{\mathcal{H}}x_n] = 1)$, and we have $\mathbf{x} \in X \triangleq X_1 \times \cdots \times X_n \times \cdots \times X_N \subset C^{N \times 1}$, where X is the finite set of points on a N-dimensional lattice generated by all possible symbol vectors. For simplicity, we assume a uniform modulation constellation \mathcal{M} on all layers, and hence $X = \mathcal{M}^N$. The coded bit-representation of a symbol x_n is denoted by $\mathbf{b}_n = (b_{n,1}, \cdots, b_{n,k}, \cdots, b_{n,q})$, where $q = \lceil \log(|\mathcal{M}|) \rceil$ and $b_{n,k} \in \{0, 1\}$

for $k = 1, \dots, q$. The SNR is defined in terms of the noise variance as

$$SNR = \frac{N}{\sigma^2}.$$
 (2.2)

At the receiver side, and assuming perfect knowledge of the channel, QRD decomposes \mathbf{H} as $\mathbf{H} = \mathbf{QR}$, where $\mathbf{Q} = [\mathbf{q}_1 \cdots \mathbf{q}_n \cdots \mathbf{q}_N] \in C^{M \times N}$ has orthonormal columns $\mathbf{q}_n \in C^{M \times 1}$ ($\mathbf{Q}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{Q} = \mathbf{I}_N$), and $\mathbf{R} = [r_{ij}] \in C^{N \times N}$ is a square upper-triangular matrix (UTM) with real and positive diagonal entries. The transformed receive symbol vector can then be equivalently expressed as

$$\tilde{\mathbf{y}} = \mathbf{Q}^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{y} = \mathbf{R} \mathbf{x} + \mathbf{Q}^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{n}, \qquad (2.3)$$

where $\mathbf{Q}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{n}$ and \mathbf{n} are statistically identical since \mathbf{Q} is orthonormal.

2.2 ML Detector

An "exhaustive" log-max ML detector searches the complete lattice \mathcal{X} , computing $|\mathcal{M}|^N$ Euclidean distance metrics, to solve for

$$\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\mathrm{ML}} = \underset{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{X}}{\mathrm{arg\,min}} \|\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}\|^2 = \underset{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{X}}{\mathrm{arg\,min}} \|\tilde{\mathbf{y}} - \mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}\|^2, \qquad (2.4)$$

where equality holds since **Q** is unitary. The LLR of bit $b_{n,k}$, is generated as

$$\lambda_{n,k}^{\mathrm{ML}} = \frac{1}{\sigma^2} \left(\min_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{X}_{n,k}^{(0)}} \|\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}\|^2 - \min_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{X}_{n,k}^{(1)}} \|\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}\|^2 \right),$$
(2.5)

where the sets $\mathcal{X}_{n,k}^{(0)} \triangleq \{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{X} : b_{n,k} = 0\}$ and $\mathcal{X}_{n,k}^{(1)} \triangleq \{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{X} : b_{n,k} = 1\}$ correspond to subsets of symbol vectors in \mathcal{X} , having in the corresponding *k*th bit of the *n*th symbol a value of 0 and 1, respectively.

2.3 MMSE and ZF Detectors

The MMSE detector generates an equalized output

$$\hat{\mathbf{y}}^{\text{MMSE}} = [\hat{y}_1^{\text{MMSE}} \cdots \hat{y}_n^{\text{MMSE}} \cdots \hat{y}_N^{\text{MMSE}}]^T = \left(\mathbf{H}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{H} + (1/\mathsf{SNR})\mathbf{I}_N\right)^{-1}\mathbf{H}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{y}, \quad (2.6)$$

and the LLRs can then be calculated as

$$\lambda_{n,k}^{\text{MMSE}} = \frac{1}{\sigma_{\text{MMSE},n}^2} \left(\min_{x_n \in \mathcal{X}_{n,n,k}^{(0)}} \left| \hat{y}_n^{\text{MMSE}} - x_n \right|^2 - \min_{x_n \in \mathcal{X}_{n,n,k}^{(1)}} \left| \hat{y}_n^{\text{MMSE}} - x_n \right|^2 \right), \quad (2.7)$$

where the sets $\mathcal{X}_{n,n,k}^{(0)} \triangleq \{x_n \in \mathcal{X}_n : b_{n,k} = 0\}$ and $\mathcal{X}_{n,n,k}^{(1)} \triangleq \{x_n \in \mathcal{X}_n : b_{n,k} = 1\}$ correspond to subsets of symbols in \mathcal{X}_n , having in the corresponding *k*th bit a value of 0 and 1, respectively, and $\sigma_{\text{MMSE},n}^2 = \sigma^2 \tau_n$ is a scaled variance with τ_n being the *n*th diagonal element of the matrix $\left(\mathbf{H}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{H} + (1/\text{SNR})\mathbf{I}_N\right)^{-1}$.

Note that unbiased SO MMSE detection [122] slightly outperforms this conventional detector. However, the performance gap is negligible, and thus this detector serves as a good reference. Similarly, ZF solves for an equalized output $\hat{\mathbf{y}}^{\text{ZF}} = (\mathbf{H}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{H})^{-1}\mathbf{H}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{y}$, and the rest of the derivation remains intact.

2.4 Sphere Decoder

The SD achieves exact log-max ML performance with less computations, by executing a tree-based search on a subset of X, skipping vectors in the space whose partial distance already exceeds the current best distance. Note that for each bit, one of the two minima in (2.5) corresponds to the distance $d^{\rm ML}$ of the hard ML solution

$$d^{\mathrm{ML}} = \min_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{X}} \|\tilde{\mathbf{y}} - \mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}\|^2, \qquad (2.8)$$

having the bit representations \mathbf{b}_n^{ML} s associated with the ML solution \mathbf{x}^{ML} . The other minima corresponds to the distance $d_{n,k}^{\overline{\text{ML}}}$ of the counter ML ($\overline{\text{ML}}$) hypoth-

esis, having in the same bit position the complement of $b_{n,k}^{\text{ML}}$, $\overline{b_{n,k}^{\text{ML}}}$, where:

$$d_{n,k}^{\overline{\mathrm{ML}}} = \min_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{X}_{n,k}^{(\mathbf{b}_{n,k}^{\mathrm{ML}})}} \|\tilde{\mathbf{y}} - \mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}\|^2.$$
(2.9)

Therefore, the LLRs can be expressed as

$$\lambda_{n,k}^{\mathrm{ML}} = \begin{cases} d^{\mathrm{ML}} - d_{n,k}^{\overline{\mathrm{ML}}} & \text{if } b_{n,k}^{\mathrm{ML}} = 0\\ d_{n,k}^{\overline{\mathrm{ML}}} - d^{\mathrm{ML}} & \text{if } b_{n,k}^{\mathrm{ML}} = 1 \end{cases}$$

$$(2.10)$$

By exploiting the upper triangular structure of **R**, the distance metric $d(\mathbf{x}) = \|\tilde{\mathbf{y}} - \mathbf{Rx}\|^2$ can be written as

$$d(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{m=1}^{M} \left| \tilde{y}_n - \sum_{j=n}^{N} r_{n,j} x_j \right|^2, \qquad (2.11)$$

which in turn can be expressed recursively as

$$d_n(x_n|x_{n+1}\cdots x_N) = d_{n+1}(x_{n+1}|x_{n+2}\cdots x_N) + e_n(x_n|x_{n+1}\cdots x_N)$$
(2.12)

$$e_n(x_n|x_{n+1}\cdots x_N) = \left| \tilde{y}_n - \sum_{j=n+1}^N r_{n,j} x_j - r_{n,n} x_n \right|^2, \qquad (2.13)$$

for $n = N, N-1, \dots, 1$, where d_n is the partial Euclidean distance (PED) of the partial symbol vector (PSV) $[x_n x_{n+1} \cdots x_N]^T$, and e_n is the distance increment (DI) when appending x_n at level n to the PSV $[x_{n+1} \cdots x_N]^T$ $(d_{N+1} = 0$ and $d_1 = d(\mathbf{x}))$. Note that accumulated PEDs are reused when exploring lower tree levels.

The recursion in (2.12) can be mapped to an N-level tree, with a root node at level N+1, leaves at level 1, and nodes at levels $n = N, N-1, \dots, 1$ having 2^q children. A parent node has a weight d_n , and branches to its children have associated weights e_n . A path traversed form the root to a leaf corresponds to a lattice point. The first leaf node reached is called the Babai point [123], and it gets updated every time a new leaf with a smaller weight is reached. Finding the ML solution corresponds to finding the leaf with the smallest weight.

The counter-ML solution for $b_{n,k}$ can be found by searching for the leaf with the smallest weight that can be reached through paths in the tree whose kth bit of the *n*th symbol is the binary complement of that in the ML solution. This is in effect a traversal of a pruned tree, which gets repeated $N\times2^{q}$ times. Consequently, a SO detector requires a total of $N\times2^{q}+1$ tree traversals. However, an alternate solution exists [124], where a single tree traversal is sufficient.

The search space can be limited within a sphere centered at $\tilde{\mathbf{y}}$, whose (squared) radius is the minimum distance of any leaf that has already been reached during the current search. In a depth-first (DF) traversal, the children of a node are visited before its siblings, and whenever the PED of an internal node exceeds the radius, that node and its subtree get pruned. However, such pruning is more complicated in a SO detector, where an internal node can only be pruned if it is unable to update any of the $\overline{\text{ML}}$ distances, not only the ML distance. Moreover, fixed-point implementations require putting constraints on the magnitude of the LLR values, and towards that end, fixed or adaptive radius scaling can be applied, which further reduces the region of search, and hence the node count.

The order in which symbols are enumerated at each level is directly related to the complexity of the detector. The optimal Schnorr-Euchner (SE) [125] ordering enumerates symbols in the ascending order of their DIs at each tree level. Moreover, with breadth-first (BRF) traversal, the siblings of a node are visited before its children (the *K*-best algorithm [126] for example). As for best-first (BSF) traversal [127], it combines both DF and BRF to reach the shortest path with a reduced search space, however, it is memory-constrained.

2.5 Nulling-and-Cancellation Detector

The N/C detector [46] is used in the widely known vertical Bell Labs layered space time (V-BLAST) architecture [128]. When combined with QRD, N/C becomes a computationally-efficient procedure which is highly sensitive to layer ordering. Nulling is performed by linearly pre-multiplying the received vector with $\mathbf{Q}^{\mathcal{H}}$, which suppresses the interference from x_l , l > n, at the *n*th layer. This is followed by SIC (back-substitution and slicing) to suppress co-antenna interference; hence, $\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{N/C} = [\hat{x}_1^{N/C} \cdots \hat{x}_n^{N/C} \cdots \hat{x}_N^{N/C}]$ is computed as

$$\hat{x}_{n}^{\mathrm{N/C}} = \left[\left(\tilde{y}_{n} - \sum_{l=n+1}^{N} r_{nl} \hat{x}_{l}^{\mathrm{N/C}} \right) / r_{nn} \right]_{\mathcal{M}}, \qquad (2.14)$$

for $n = N, N - 1, \dots, 1$, where $\lfloor \alpha \rceil_{\mathcal{M}} \triangleq \arg \min_{x \in \mathcal{M}} |\alpha - x|$ is the slicing operator on the constellation \mathcal{M} .

2.6 Chase Detector

The CD [48] mitigates error propagation in SIC by populating a list $\mathcal{S}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{R})$ of candidate symbol vectors for final decision. It first partitions $\tilde{\mathbf{y}}$, \mathbf{R} , and \mathbf{x} as

$$\tilde{\mathbf{y}} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_1 \\ \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_N \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{R} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{A} & \mathbf{b} \\ \mathbf{0} & c \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{x} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{x}_1 \\ x_N \end{bmatrix},$$
 (2.15)

where $\tilde{\mathbf{y}}_1 \in C^{(N-1)\times 1}$, $\tilde{y}_N \in C^{1\times 1}$, $\mathbf{A} \in C^{(N-1)\times(N-1)}$, $\mathbf{b} \in C^{(N-1)\times 1}$, $c \in \mathcal{R}^{1\times 1}$, $\mathbf{x}_1 \in \mathcal{M}^{N-1}$, $\mathbf{0}$ is a $1 \times (N-1)$ vector of zero-valued entries, and $x_N \in \mathcal{M}$. Then, for each x_N at the root layer, a candidate vector is calculated as in (2.14) and added to \mathcal{S} . The maximum number of candidate vectors in \mathcal{S} is $|\mathcal{M}|$, and the final HO decision vector is chosen from \mathcal{S} to be

$$\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{CD}} = \underset{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{S}}{\arg\min} \|\tilde{\mathbf{y}} - \mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}\|^2.$$
(2.16)

Note that CD differs from LSD [8]. LSD list admission depends on run-time channel conditions, which makes it nondeterministic and more complex. In a SO setting, LSD does not guarantee computing all the required distance metrics.

2.7 Layered Orthogonal Lattice Detector

Instead of executing the CD routine once, LORD repeats chase detection with different layer orderings, each time with a different layer as root, by cyclically shifting the columns of **H**. The best output from these trials is the final solution. Each permuted **H** at step t, $t = 1, \dots, N$, is QR-decomposed into $\mathbf{Q}^{(t)}$ and $\mathbf{R}^{(t)}$ according to (2.15). Let $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{(t)}^{\text{CD}}$ denote the output CD solution from step t. Then, the final solution $\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{LORD}}$ is $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{(t_{min})}^{\text{CD}}$, where

$$t_{min} = \underset{t \in \{1, \cdots, N\}}{\operatorname{arg\,min}} \left\| \tilde{\mathbf{y}} - \mathbf{R} \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{(t)}^{\text{CD}} \right\|^2.$$
(2.17)

Since distances are preserved under different layer orderings with QRD, the accumulated candidate vectors across different partitions form an "extended" candidate list, despite the potential overlap of lists from each partition. Therefore, the added gain with LORD compared to CD is significant. Note that optimized layer ordering, using some form of sorted QRD (SQRD), for example, can further enhance the performance.

For dual-layer MIMO systems (N = 2) LORD achieves exact optimal log-max ML performance, and it only requires 2×2^q instead of 2^{q^2} distance computations. By analogy with (2.15), the corresponding 2×2 modified system model can be represented as:

$$\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x} \rightarrow \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{y}_1 \\ \tilde{y}_2 \end{bmatrix} - \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & c \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{bmatrix},$$
 (2.18)

where $a_1, c_1 \in \mathcal{R}^+$, and $b_1 \in \mathcal{C}$. We have, $\min_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{X}} \|\tilde{\mathbf{y}} - \mathbf{Rx}\|^2 = \min_{x_2 \in \mathcal{X}_2} d_2(x_2)$:

$$\min_{x_2 \in \mathcal{X}_2} d_2(x_2) = \min_{\substack{x_2 \in \mathcal{X}_2 \\ x_1 \in \mathcal{X}_1}} (|\tilde{y}_2 - cx_2|^2 + |\tilde{y}_1 - ax_1 - bx_2|^2)$$
(2.19)
$$= \min_{x_2 \in \mathcal{X}_2} (|\tilde{y}_2 - cx_2|^2 + |\tilde{y}_1 - a\hat{x}_1 - bx_2|^2),$$

where \hat{x}_1 is obtained by slicing $(\tilde{y}_1 - bx_2)/a \in C$ over the constellation X_1 :

$$\hat{x}_1 = \lfloor (\tilde{y}_1 - bx_2)/a \rceil_{X_1} \in X_1.$$
(2.20)

Note that this implementation requires only $|X_2| = 2^q$ distance computations.

In a SO setting, the LLRs of the bits in the symbol x_2 can be obtained as:

$$\lambda_{2,k}^{\mathrm{ML}} = \min_{x_2 \in \mathcal{X}_{2,2,k}^{(0)}} d_2(x_2) - \min_{x_2 \in \mathcal{X}_{2,2,k}^{(1)}} d_2(x_2), \ k = 1, \dots, q.$$
(2.21)

To obtain the LLRs $\lambda_{1,k}^{\text{ML}}$ for the bits in x_1 , the same operation is repeated in a reversed order, where the x_1 symbols are exhaustively searched, while the interference over layer 2 is subtracted, followed by simple slicing over X_2 . Note that to find the hard-decision ML solution only, a 1-sided decomposition is needed on either layer 1 or 2.

2.8 Subspace Detector

The aforementioned optimal LORD implementation for 2×2 MIMO cannot scale up for $N \geq 3$ without loosing optimality. This is because **R** would include offdiagonal terms, the red-marked entries in Fig. 2.1(f), that prevent computing the ML solution by enumerating symbols on one layer and finding the minima through slicing individually on all other layers in parallel. In fact, the ML solution requires enumerating symbols on N-1 layers and slicing on the last layer, which results in $O(2^{q^N})$ complexity.



Figure 2.1: Channel matrix structures for 4x4 MIMO.

However, the channel matrix can be punctured to zero-out undesirable entries, as shown in Fig. 2.1(g) for a 4-layer MIMO system [54]. This configuration allows us to enumerate symbols on layer 4, while finding the minimum distances on layers 3 to 1 in parallel, through slicing only on the corresponding layers. Moreover, to compute the LLRs for bits associated with layers 3 to 1, a similar process is repeated on each layer, after cyclical column shifting followed by channel matrix decomposition. The effective punctured channels are shown in Fig. 2.1(h)-(j), respectively. When adopting the complementary QL decomposition (QLD), the corresponding desirable structures are shown in Fig. 2.1(b)-(e). In this case, by enumerating symbols on layer 1, the minimum on layers 2 to 4 can be found in parallel through slicing, and a similar process is repeated on other layers.

2.8.1 Conventional WR Decomposition

The first step in SSD is channel matrix decomposition. While LORD only requires QRD, a more powerful WRD scheme is required to puncture the red-marked entries above the diagonal in Fig. 2.1(f). WRD transforms **H** into a punctured UTM $\mathring{\mathbf{R}} = [\mathring{r}_{ij}] \in C^{N \times N}$ with $\mathring{r}_{ii} \in \mathcal{R}^+$, by puncturing entries between the diagonal and the last column through a matrix $\mathbf{W} = [\mathbf{w}_1 \cdots \mathbf{w}_n \cdots \mathbf{w}_N] \in C^{M \times N}$, such that

 $\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{H} = \mathbf{\mathring{R}}$. The transformed received symbol vector can be expressed as

$$\bar{\mathbf{y}} = \mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{y} = \mathring{\mathbf{R}} \mathbf{x} + \mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{n}.$$
(2.22)

We assume **H** to have a full column rank. Setting $\mathbf{W} = (\mathbf{H}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{H})^{-1}\mathbf{H}^{\mathcal{H}}$ to be the left Moore-Penrose pseudo-inverse of **H** results in $\mathring{\mathbf{R}} = \mathbf{I}_N$, and choosing **W** to be an orthonormal basis of the column space of **H** transforms it into an unpunctured UTM, with **W** being unitary (QRD). In general, if $\mathring{\mathbf{R}}$ is punctured, then **W** is non-unitary. We impose the condition on the column vectors of **W** to have unit length, i.e., $\mathbf{w}_n^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{w}_n = 1$ for $n = 1, \ldots, N$.

Let $\mathbf{P}^{\dagger} = \mathbf{H}(\mathbf{H}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{H})^{-1}\mathbf{H}^{\mathcal{H}}$ be the orthogonal projection onto the column space of \mathbf{H} , and $\mathbf{P}^{\perp} = \mathbf{I} - \mathbf{H}(\mathbf{H}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{H})^{-1}\mathbf{H}^{\mathcal{H}}$ be the orthogonal projection onto the left nullspace of \mathbf{H} . Let $\mathbf{H}_{\mathcal{I}}$ be the submatrix formed by the columns of \mathbf{H} whose index $n \in \mathcal{I}$ (if $\mathcal{I} = 1, 3$, then $\mathbf{H}_{\mathcal{I}} = [\mathbf{h}_1\mathbf{h}_3]$). Denote by \mathcal{I}_n the column index set of the entries in the *n*th row of \mathbf{H} to be zeroed out, and define $\tilde{\mathbf{w}}_n = \mathbf{P}_{\mathcal{I}_n}^{\perp}\mathbf{h}_n$, where

$$\mathbf{P}_{\mathcal{I}_n}^{\perp} = \mathbf{I}_N - \mathbf{H}_{\mathcal{I}_n} (\mathbf{H}_{\mathcal{I}_n}^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{H}_{\mathcal{I}_n})^{-1} \mathbf{H}_{\mathcal{I}_n}^{\mathcal{H}}, \qquad (2.23)$$

and $\mathbf{H}_{I_n} = \{\mathbf{h}_m \mid m \in \mathcal{I}_n\}$. The normalized vector is derived as $\mathbf{w} = \tilde{\mathbf{w}}_n / \|\tilde{\mathbf{w}}_n\|$ with $\|\tilde{\mathbf{w}}_n\| = \sqrt{\mathbf{h}_n^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{P}_{I_n}^{\perp} \mathbf{h}_n}$. Let $\mathbf{D} = [d_n] \in \mathcal{R}^+$ be a diagonal matrix whose entries are given by $d_n = 1/\sqrt{\mathbf{h}_n^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{P}_{I_n}^{\perp} \mathbf{h}_n}$, $n = 1, \ldots, N$. The matrix that zeroes out the entries in the rows of \mathbf{H} at column positions given in \mathcal{I}_n is

$$\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}} = \mathbf{D} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{h}_{1}^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{P}_{\tilde{I}_{1}}^{\perp} \\ \mathbf{h}_{2}^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{P}_{\tilde{I}_{2}}^{\perp} \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{h}_{N}^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{P}_{\tilde{I}_{N}}^{\perp} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(2.24)

For example, in a 4×4 MIMO system, we choose the puncturing sets as $I_1 = 2, 3$, $I_2 = 1, 3, I_3 = 1, 2$, and $I_4 = 1, 2, 3$.

2.8.2 Detection Routine

To generate SO LLRs for all layers, the *N* streams are decoupled, one at a time in *N* steps, by cyclically shifting the columns of **H** and generating the punctured UTMs, as shown in Fig. 2.1(g-j). Each permuted **H** at step *t* is WR-decomposed into $\mathbf{W}^{(t)}$ and $\mathring{\mathbf{R}}^{(t)}$. We first partition $\bar{\mathbf{y}}^{(t)}$, $\mathring{\mathbf{R}}^{(t)}$, and **x** as in (2.15)

$$\bar{\mathbf{y}}^{(t)} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\mathbf{y}}_1^{(t)} \\ \bar{\mathbf{y}}_N^{(t)} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{R}} = \begin{bmatrix} \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{A}}^{(t)} & \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{b}}^{(t)} \\ \mathbf{0} & \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{c}}^{(t)} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{x} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{x}_1 \\ x_N \end{bmatrix}, \quad (2.25)$$

where in this case $\mathring{\mathbf{A}}^{(t)} \in \mathcal{R}^{(N-1)\times(N-1)}$ is a diagonal matrix. Then, the vector with minimum distance corresponding to a structure t is

$$\mathbf{x}_{(t)}^{\text{WR}} = \underset{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{X}}{\arg\min} \left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}}^{(t)} - \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{R}}^{(t)} \mathbf{x} \right\|^2$$
(2.26)

$$= \underset{x_N \in \mathcal{M}}{\operatorname{arg\,min}} \left(\left\| \bar{y}_N^{(t)} - \mathring{c}^{(t)} x_N \right\|^2 + \left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}}_1^{(t)} - \mathring{\mathbf{A}}^{(t)} \hat{\mathbf{x}}_1 - \mathring{\mathbf{b}}^{(t)} x_N \right\|^2 \right), \tag{2.27}$$

where $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_1 = \lfloor (\bar{\mathbf{y}}_1^{(t)} - \mathbf{\dot{b}}^{(t)} x_N) / \mathbf{\dot{A}}^{(t)} \rceil_{\mathcal{M}^{N-1}}$ is the sliced output. Since $\mathbf{\dot{A}}^{(t)}$ is diagonal, slicing is applied to individual elements of $\bar{\mathbf{y}}_1^{(t)}$ over \mathcal{M} . To generate soft outputs, we compute two distance metrics defined as

$$\mathbf{u}_{n,k,t}^{\mathrm{WR}} = \underset{x_n \in \mathcal{X}_{n,n,k}^{(0)}}{\mathrm{arg min}} \left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}}^{(t)} - \mathring{\mathbf{R}}^{(t)} \mathbf{x} \right\|^2$$
(2.28)

$$\mathbf{v}_{n,k,t}^{\text{WR}} = \underset{x_n \in \mathcal{X}_{n,n,k}^{(1)}}{\arg\min} \left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}}^{(t)} - \mathring{\mathbf{R}}^{(t)} \mathbf{x} \right\|^2,$$
(2.29)

which can be expanded as in (2.26). The LLRs are then calculated as

$$\lambda_{n,k}^{\text{SSD}} = \frac{1}{\sigma^2} \left[\min_{t} \left(\left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}}^{(t)} - \mathring{\mathbf{R}}^{(t)} \mathbf{u}_{n,k,t}^{\text{WR}} \right\|^2 \right) - \min_{t} \left(\left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}}^{(t)} - \mathring{\mathbf{R}}^{(t)} \mathbf{v}_{n,k,t}^{\text{WR}} \right\|^2 \right) \right], \quad (2.30)$$

for n = 1, ..., N, $k = 1, ..., \log |\mathcal{M}|$, and t = N-n+1. Note global minimum distances are tracked here, rather than just minimizing over the per stream LLRs.

Chapter 3

Iterative MIMO Detection with Large Constellations

In this chapter, we build on the LC-LORD [57], and propose four efficient SO detection schemes. In the first three approaches, we enhance the location of the reduced region of search within a constellation, based on layer ordering, iterative updates of the center of region of search, and HO MMSE detection. In the fourth approach, we propose an enhanced saturation criteria for bit LLRs. The corresponding results are published in [129].

We limit the discussion to dual-layer MIMO (N = M = 2) and assume a high order MT. Hence, the received signal can be written as $\mathbf{y} = \mathbf{h}_1 x_1 + \mathbf{h}_2 x_2 + \mathbf{n}$, where x_1 and x_2 are drawn from the same Gray-mapped 1024-QAM.

3.1 Turbo-LORD

Turbo-LORD (T-LORD) [130] [131] is a generalization of LORD, that builds on the MAP detector instead of the ML detector, and that is used in the context of iterative detection and decoding. The MAP detector accepts from the decoder, along with the received vector \mathbf{y} , a priori LLRs ξ_1 and ξ_2 , for bits corresponding to x_1 and x_2 , respectively. The resultant modified distance metric is

$$\varphi^{\mathrm{T-LORD}}(\mathbf{x}) = -\frac{1}{\sigma^2} \|\tilde{\mathbf{y}} - \mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}\|^2 + \mathbf{b}_1 \xi_1 + \mathbf{b}_2 \xi_2, \qquad (3.1)$$

and the a-posteriori LLRs after the tth detection/decoding iteration can be calculated as

$$\lambda_{n,k,t}^{\mathrm{T-LORD}} = \max_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{S}_{n,k,t}^{(1)}} \varphi^{\mathrm{T-LORD}}(\mathbf{x}) - \max_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{S}_{n,k,t}^{(0)}} \varphi^{\mathrm{T-LORD}}(\mathbf{x}), \qquad (3.2)$$

where $S_{n,k,t}^{(0)} \triangleq \{\mathbf{x} \in S_t : b_{n,k} = 0\}$ and $S_{n,k,t}^{(1)} \triangleq \{\mathbf{x} \in S_t : b_{n,k} = 1\}$. Note that S_t is defined at the *t*th detection/decoding iteration as S in Sec. 2.6.

3.1.1 Low-Complexity LORD

Searching $|\mathcal{M}| = 1024$ lattice points is computationally demanding. LC-LORD [57] aims at reducing the number of visited candidate points, by only exploring a subset of the constellation at the root layer, a reduced QAM Θ . For convenience, Θ is a square subset of \mathcal{M} , centered at the equalized output $\tilde{y}_2/r_{2,2}$.

LC-LORD does not guarantee the computability of (3.2), since one of the two terms will not exist if all points in Θ have a unique bit value at a specific bit location. This is known as LLR saturation. Note that with Gray coded symbol mapping, the LLRs for low order bits are less likely to get saturated, but this gets more probable as $|\Theta|$ decreases. Moreover, LC-LORD need not be applied to all carriers, in fact, and based on the implementation constraints, the authors in [57] proposed a mechanism in which they isolate the worst carriers and apply full complexity LORD to them. The criteria to identify the worst carriers is to select the smallest of

$$\min_{l=1,2} r_{(2,2)}^l,\tag{3.3}$$

where l denotes the antenna index at the root layer.

3.2 Proposed Approaches

3.2.1 Enhancing Search Region Location

The performance of LC-LORD is constrained by the probability of the actual transmitted symbol to lie outside the reduced QAM, causing its failure. The situation is worse with correlated channels, where **H** tends to be ill-conditioned, and consequently $r_{2,2}$ tends to zero. Towards increasing the likelihood of the actual transmitted symbol to lie inside the reduced QAM, we propose three approaches.

The first approach is based on layer ordering [132] followed by N/C, which is also known as ZF with decision-feedback (ZFDF). We first find the equalized output on layer-2 and project its value on layer-1 to obtain $\bar{\mathbf{x}}^1 = [\bar{x}_1^1, \bar{x}_2^1]$, following the procedure in (2.14). Then we permute the columns of the channel matrix, find the equalized output on layer-1, and project its value on layer-2 to obtain $\bar{\mathbf{x}}^2 = [\bar{x}_1^2, \bar{x}_2^2]$. Finally, the centers of search on both layers would be the components of either $\bar{\mathbf{x}}^1$ or $\bar{\mathbf{x}}^2$, with the choice being made on the vector that better minimizes the distance metric $\|\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}\|^2$. We call the corresponding detector layer-ordered LC-LORD (LO-LC-LORD).

The second approach adds an iterative behavior to the detector, as shown in Fig. 3.1. It starts by feeding the equalized symbol on the root layer (layer-2 here) to a center generator (CG). The CG accepts a center of reduced search on one layer, and outputs enhanced centers on both layers. The CG functionality is based on HO LC-LORD. This means that CG applies LC-LORD from one direction only, and the components of the hard sub-ML output vector will serve as centers for reduced QAMs in the next iteration. This can iterate as long as the output differs from the input, and in every iteration we get closer to the true ML HO. However, there is no guarantee that the algorithm will reach the true ML value at convergence, since it might get stuck in a local minimum. The algorithm halts after a maximum number of \bar{J} iterations. Once the center is obtained, the



Figure 3.1: Iter-LC-LORD algorithm flowchart.

algorithm proceeds with LC-LORD as described in Sec. 3.1.1, working in both directions, on reduced constellations Θ_1 and Θ_2 in layers 1 and 2, respectively. We call the corresponding detector iterative LC-LORD (Iter-LC-LORD).

Moreover, as a third approach, the components of the HO vector of an MMSE detector are used as centers for reduced search regions. We call the latter approach MMSE-LC-LORD. Note that in these approaches the centers are generated on both layers simultaneously, and not independently on each layer, which prevents processing the layers in a fully parallel mode.



Figure 3.2: Constellation schematic - black circles indicate third MSB is 1.

In the case of T-LORD, the overhead of these approaches can be reduced by only applying them in the first detection/decoding iteration. If the HO of LC-LORD is passed over \bar{T} detection/decoding iterations, the center of reduced search would be updated on every iteration, the same way the CG updates it in Iter-LC-LORD. Note that center updates from one detection/decoding iteration to another can also be driven by the a priori information [57].

3.2.2 Enhancing LLR Saturation

The authors in [57] suggested either saturating the LLR to a maximum threshold value, or substituting the missing term in (3.2) by the maximum Euclidean norm within Θ . These approaches are easy to implement, but might remarkably degrade performance when $|\Theta|$ is small. Our proposed approach, region-thresholding LC-LORD (RegTh-LC-LORD), fills the empty component in (3.2) by an approximate distance metric. We first locate the closest point to the center of $|\Theta|$, having an opposite bit value at the bit location of interest (green point in Fig. 3.2). Then, we project this point on the other layer (slicing), and find the distance from the resultant vector to the received symbol vector. This mechanism depends on the regions of specific bit values. We augment all our proposed approaches with this thresholding method.

3.3 Complexity Study

The computational complexity can be split into two components, complexity of preprocessing stage and complexity of search routine. The preprocessing stage is mainly composed of QRD and equalizations. All LORD-based approaches require two QRDs. However, a solution [133] exists, in which the equalized outputs on both layers are efficiently computed without QRD, and in [134], an optimized scheme for QRD-based distance computations was proposed. All LC-LORD versions have an extra burden of handling the search region boundaries.

On the other hand, the complexity of the search routine is dominated by Euclidian distance computations, that are quantified by the number of visited lattice points. LORD is the most complex with $2 \times |\mathcal{M}|$ computations. After that comes Iter-LC-LORD, which has a variable complexity with a worst case scenario of $(\bar{J}+2)\times|\Theta|$ computations. Note that it has a lower complexity on average because the reduced QAMs in subsequent iterations will largely overlap, and hence redundant distance computations can be avoided. Finally, the least complex are LC-LORD and LO-LC-LORD, with each requiring $2\times|\Theta|$ distance computations. The search cost of SO MMSE is half that of LORD because the computed distances are between points on a single layer. Table 3.1 summarizes the approaches and their worst case complexity when applied to a single tone, in terms of distance computations.

| Approach | Description | Complexity |
|---------------|--------------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| ML | Full Complexity LORD | $2 \times \mathcal{M} $ |
| LC-LORD | Low Complexity LORD | $2 \times \Theta $ |
| LO-LC-LORD | Layer Ordered LC-LORD + Thresholding | $2 \times \Theta $ |
| Iter-LC-LORD | Iterative LC-LORD + Thresholding | $(\bar{J}+2) \times \Theta $ |
| MMSE-LC-LORD | MMSE-based LC-LORD + Thresholding | $2 \times \Theta $ |
| RegTh-LC-LORD | m LC-LORD + Thresholding | $2 \times \Theta $ |
| MMSE | SO MMSE | $ \mathcal{M} $ |

Table 3.1: Detector Complexities in Terms of Distance Computations



Figure 3.3: FER performance - uncorrelated channels - 15% full complexity carriers - $\overline{T} = 1$ (solid) and $\overline{T} = 4$ (dotted).

3.4 Simulation Results

The implementation followed the system model of Sec. 2.1. Turbo coding and decoding was used with a code rate of 1/2. In addition to the zero-mean i.i.d. $C\mathcal{N}(0, 1)$ channel (rich scattering), we considered highly correlated channels using the long term evolution (LTE) [4] model, with transmit and receive correlation coefficients of 0.9. We assumed $|\Theta| = 225$, $\bar{J} = 8$ and $\bar{T} = 4$.



Figure 3.4: FER performance - correlated channels - 15% full complexity Carriers - $\overline{T} = 1$ (solid) and $\overline{T} = 4$ (dotted).



Figure 3.5: FER performance - correlated channels - 30% full complexity carriers - $\bar{T} = 1$ (solid) and $\bar{T} = 4$ (dotted).

Figures 3.3 to 3.5 show the frame error rate (FER) performance. The numbers in the legend correspond to the average complexity in terms of the number of visited points. For Iter-LC-LORD, we avoided redundant computations across iterations, and noted that with $|\Theta| = 225$, only 1.8 out of the $\overline{J} = 8$ iterations are required on average to converge. Figure 3.3 corresponds to the case when the worst 15% of carriers were treated with full complexity LORD, and the channels are uncorrelated. All proposed approaches achieved near-optimal performance, restoring the error floors in LC-LORD plots at high SNR. Figure 3.4 then shows the respective performance under high channel correlation, where all sub-ML approaches suffer. Compared to LC-LORD, our approaches added a remarkable gain, with the best being LO-LC-LORD, followed by Iter-LC-LORD, then MMSE-LC-LORD, and finally RegTh-LC-LORD. Note that the higher complexity version of LC-LORD ($|\Theta| = 361$) could not beat the less complex Iter-LC-LORD. Finally, despite high channel correlation, the near-optimality of our proposed approaches was restored when the worst 30% of carriers were treated with full complexity, as shown in Fig. 3.5.

Conclusion

In this chapter, efficient low-complexity detection in 2×2 MIMO systems that use the very high order 1024-QAM has been studied. Several enhancements were proposed to LC-LORD, namely, LO-LC-LORD, Iter-LC-LORD, MMSE-LC-LORD, and RegTh-LC-LORD. The proposed algorithms have been shown to remarkably enhance the performance at a low complexity overhead, both in the context of non-iterative and iterative detection and decoding.

Chapter 4

Reduced-Complexity QRD-Based Detection

In this chapter, we propose computationally efficient detection algorithms, that consist of layer ordering followed by PR-QRD, based on the modified GS (MGS) orthogonalization.

First, the preprocessing complexity of SSD is reduced by using special layer orderings and PR-QRD. A hardware architecture is designed that allows building an 8-layer detector from 4-layer and 2-layer constituent detector blocks. The corresponding results appeared, in parts, in [135] and [55], and in a more comprehensive manner in [136].

Second, the computational complexity of the SD is reduced by employing an optimized layer-ordering scheme based on the MR criterion. An optimized dataflow architecture employing PR-QRD is proposed, alongside two efficient schedules for channel matrix permutations that optimize its use. A schedulespecific triangular systolic array (TSA) implementation of PR-QRD is also proposed. The corresponding results appeared in [137].

4.1 Permutation-Robust QRD

QRD can be computed using Givens rotation (GR), GS orthogonalization, or Householder transformation (HT) [138]. While the hardware implementation of HT is very complex, GR reduces the hardware area, but at the expense of longer clock latency. The classical GS algorithm allows a memory efficient implementation due to its inherent parallelism, resulting in better regularity in data flow and a potential for better hardware-efficiency. However, due to fixed-precision computation and round off errors, it can not guarantee the orthogonality of \mathbf{Q} . This limitation was overcome by the numerically superior MGS algorithm.

The MGS-based QRD of **H** is illustrated in Fig. 1. The algorithm consists of two main parts. In the first part, the diagonal elements of **R** and the columns of **Q** are computed. In the second part, the non-diagonal elements of **R** are computed and the columns of **H** are updated. Considering a 4×4 complex matrix, in the first part of the first iteration, the norm of \mathbf{h}_1 is assigned to r_{11} , and \mathbf{q}_1 is calculated as $\mathbf{q}_1 = \mathbf{h}_1/r_{11}$. Then, in the second part r_{12} , r_{13} , and r_{14} are calculated using \mathbf{q}_1 , \mathbf{h}_2 , \mathbf{h}_3 , and \mathbf{h}_4 as

$$r_{1j} = \mathbf{q}_1^T \mathbf{h}_j \quad 2 \le j \le 4, \tag{4.1}$$

and **H** gets updated by setting its first column to zero and subtracting from the other columns the length of the projection of \mathbf{q}_1 on them, i-e

$$\mathbf{h}_j = \mathbf{h}_j - \mathbf{q}_1 r_{1j} \quad 2 \le j \le 4. \tag{4.2}$$

This procedure is repeated with one less column every new iteration.

When computing the QRD of a matrix, which is derived from another matrix, of known decomposition, by some column permutations, computational savings can be made. Part of the decomposition result remains unaltered under specific permutations. For example, assume as shown in Fig. 4.1, columns 3 and 4 in **H** (in blue) were permuted. The first two columns of **Q** and **R** (in red) depend only Algorithm 1 MGS QRD algorithm.

1: procedure $MGS-QRD(\mathbf{H})$ 2: $k \leftarrow 1;$ for k = 1 : N do 3: $r_{kk} \leftarrow \sqrt{\mathbf{h}_k^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{h}_k}$ 4: $\mathbf{q}_k \leftarrow \mathbf{h}_k / r_{kk}$ 5: $j \leftarrow k + 1$ 6: for j = 1 : N do 7: $r_{kj} \leftarrow \mathbf{q}_k^T \mathbf{h}_j$ 8: $\mathbf{h}_{i} \leftarrow \mathbf{h}_{i} - \mathbf{q}_{k} r_{ki}$ 9: 10:end for end for 11:12: end procedure

$$\begin{bmatrix} h_{11} & h_{12} & h_{13} & h_{14} \\ h_{21} & h_{22} & h_{23} & h_{24} \\ h_{31} & h_{32} & h_{33} & h_{34} \\ h_{41} & h_{42} & h_{43} & h_{44} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} q_{11} & q_{12} & q_{13} & q_{14} \\ q_{21} & q_{22} & q_{23} & q_{24} \\ q_{31} & q_{32} & q_{33} & q_{34} \\ q_{41} & q_{42} & q_{43} & q_{44} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} r_{11} & r_{12} & r_{13} & r_{14} \\ 0 & r_{22} & r_{23} & r_{24} \\ 0 & 0 & r_{33} & r_{34} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & r_{44} \end{bmatrix}$$

Figure 4.1: QRD savings under column permutations.

on the first two columns of \mathbf{H} , and hence there is no need to recompute them. We propose a PR-QRD that saves these redundant computations.

Furthermore, note that for detection the product $\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{y}$ must also be formed. This can be efficiently computed by first right-augmenting \mathbf{y} to \mathbf{H} , and then performing QRD on the augmented matrix to form $\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}\tilde{\mathbf{R}} = [\mathbf{H}|\mathbf{y}]$. When carrying out the orthogonalization procedure, the same operations applied to the columns of \mathbf{H} are applied to the augmented column. This results in $\tilde{\mathbf{Q}} = [\mathbf{Q}|\mathbf{0}_{N\times 1}]$, with $\tilde{\mathbf{R}} = [\mathbf{R}|\tilde{\mathbf{y}}]$, where $\mathbf{H} = \mathbf{Q}\mathbf{R}$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{y}} = \mathbf{Q}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{y}$. Consequently, $\tilde{\mathbf{y}}$ is generated as a by-product. Then, carrying out the operations to puncture a given entry, these operations are also applied on the rightmost column of $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}$.

4.2 Application to Subspace Detector

Denote by the reference SSD algorithm of Sec. 2.8.2 the cyclic SSD (CYSD), that cyclically shifts the columns of **H** before each decomposition t. Since the $\mathbf{H}^{(t)}$ matrices differ by one swap operation, simplifications can be introduced.

4.2.1 Single-Permutation Subspace Detector

When cyclically shifting the columns of \mathbf{H} , the number of WRD operations required is equal to the number of layers to be processed, which is a significant computational burden that forms a bottleneck in high order MIMO. An alternative minimal swapping operation can reduce this computational overhead. For example, in the case of 4×4 MIMO, if we want to compute the LLRs of the bits on layer 2, we can swap \mathbf{h}_2 with \mathbf{h}_4 , and use the matrix decomposition of Fig. 2.1(g). We represent this swapping operation by a permutation:

$$\pi^{(t)}(i) = \begin{cases} N & \text{if } i = t \\ t & \text{if } i = N \\ i & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(4.3)

for t = 1, ..., N and i = 1, ..., N. The remainder of the SSD derivation, up to (2.30), remains intact. We call this algorithm single-permutation SSD (SPSD).

4.2.2 Pairwise Subspace Detector

Another approach, which we will later argue to be of a practical interest, is what we call pairwise SSD (PWSD). This approach consists of lumping the channel columns in pairs (assuming N even), and handling each pair of layers at a time. First, the pair of interest is swapped with the rightmost two columns. Then, the columns of the pair get swapped so that each can be at position i = N. For example, in the case of 4×4 MIMO, the 4 permuted channel matrices can be



Figure 4.2: A 2-stage 4×4 MIMO PWSD architecture.

 $\mathbf{H}_1 = [\mathbf{h}_3 \mathbf{h}_4 \mathbf{h}_1 \mathbf{h}_2], \ \mathbf{H}_2 = [\mathbf{h}_3 \mathbf{h}_4 \mathbf{h}_2 \mathbf{h}_1], \ \mathbf{H}_3 = [\mathbf{h}_1 \mathbf{h}_2 \mathbf{h}_3 \mathbf{h}_4], \ \text{and} \ \mathbf{H}_4 = [\mathbf{h}_1 \mathbf{h}_2 \mathbf{h}_4 \mathbf{h}_3].$ After each of the N permutations, the permuted channel matrix is decomposed, and the LLRs for the corresponding layer are computed as in (2.30).

4.2.3 2-Stage Subspace Detector

The reference CYSD with cyclic permutations does not allow further savings because all column positions are altered from one permutation to another. However, parallelism is an inherent feature in it, where the process on each layer can run on a separate core. If we discard this parallelism, and use a pipelined architecture, the decomposition output from one layer can be fed to the subsequent layer, allowing computational savings.

A 2-stage architecture for PWSD is shown in Figs. 4.2 and 4.3, for 4×4 and 8×8 MIMO, respectively. The odd channel permutations can execute in parallel, but with no redundant computations to save. The LLRs of their corresponding layers are sent to a buffer, and the WRD output is passed to the next stage, to assist the WRD of even permutations. A PR-WRD is thus applied in the second stage, making use of previous decompositions. Finally, the collected LLRs are processed as previously described. To implement SPSD in 8×8 MIMO, for



Figure 4.3: A 2-stage 8×8 MIMO PWSD architecture.

example, an 8-stage architecture is required, in which the decompositions are carried out serially, and each stage can make use of computations in all previous stages. Such an architecture, if used with PWSD, results in more savings than a 2-stage architecture. However, adding more stages complicates the architecture, and increases its size and latency.

We analyze the complexity in terms of floating-point operations (FLOPs) based on real multiplication (RML) and addition (RAD). Real division and square-root operations are equivalent to a RML. Also, complex multiplication requires 4 RMLs and 2 RADs, while complex addition requires 2 RADs.

Table 4.1 summarizes the redundant QRD computations that can be saved in the efficient implementations, depending on the permutations and their order, for 4×4 and 8×8 MIMO systems (the setup of permutations is not unique). The complete QRD in 4×4 MIMO requires a total of 304 RML and 176 RAD, and the savings are 88 RML and 40 RAD. The complete QRD in 8×8 MIMO requires a total of 2240 RML and 1472 RAD, and the savings in the PR-QRD reach 1296 RML and 816 RAD. This means that the overhead is reduced by around 30% with a 2-stage PWSD. The impact of the proposed approaches is more pronounced in higher order systems, 32×32 MIMO for example, but worse with lower order systems such as 4×4 MIMO, where the rightmost two columns constitute the majority of required computations. When the PR-WRD does not include matrix puncturing, CYSD, SPSD, and PWSD reduce to cyclic LORD (CYLD), single-permutation LORD (SPLD), and pairwise LORD (PWLD), respectively. The savings are more visible with LORD detectors where preprocessing is solely constituted of QRDs.

Figure 4.4 shows the BER performance of the proposed MIMO approaches, compared to that of CYSD/CYLD, and the linear ZF detector, for 8×8 MIMO with 16-QAM. The PWSD and SPSD curves coincided with the CYSD curve, and so did PWLD and SPLD with CYLD. This means that the savings came at no performance degradation cost.

 Table 4.1: Computational Savings in Permutation-Robust SSDs

| | Permutations | Saved Computations |
|---|--|--------------------|
| SPSD $4 \times 4 MIMO$ | 1: $\mathbf{h}_1\mathbf{h}_2\mathbf{h}_3\mathbf{h}_4$ | none |
| | 2: $\mathbf{h}_1\mathbf{h}_2\mathbf{h}_4\mathbf{h}_3$ | 88 RML+40 RAD |
| | 3: $\mathbf{h}_1\mathbf{h}_4\mathbf{h}_3\mathbf{h}_2$ | 28 RML+8 RAD |
| | 4: $\mathbf{h}_4\mathbf{h}_2\mathbf{h}_3\mathbf{h}_1$ | none |
| PWSD | 1: $\mathbf{h}_3\mathbf{h}_4\mathbf{h}_1\mathbf{h}_2$ | none |
| 4×4 MIMO | 2: $\mathbf{h}_3\mathbf{h}_4\mathbf{h}_2\mathbf{h}_1$ | 88 RML+40 RAD |
| | 3: $\mathbf{h}_1\mathbf{h}_2\mathbf{h}_3\mathbf{h}_4$ | none |
| | 4: $\mathbf{h}_1\mathbf{h}_2\mathbf{h}_4\mathbf{h}_3$ | 88 RML+40 RAD |
| SPSD 8×8 MIMO | 1: $\mathbf{h}_1\mathbf{h}_2\mathbf{h}_3\mathbf{h}_4\mathbf{h}_5\mathbf{h}_6\mathbf{h}_7\mathbf{h}_8$ | none |
| | 2: $\mathbf{h}_1\mathbf{h}_2\mathbf{h}_3\mathbf{h}_4\mathbf{h}_5\mathbf{h}_6\mathbf{h}_8\mathbf{h}_7$ | 1296 RML+816 RAD |
| | 3: $\mathbf{h}_1\mathbf{h}_2\mathbf{h}_3\mathbf{h}_4\mathbf{h}_5\mathbf{h}_8\mathbf{h}_7\mathbf{h}_6$ | 920 RML+560 RAD |
| | 4: $\mathbf{h}_1\mathbf{h}_2\mathbf{h}_3\mathbf{h}_4\mathbf{h}_8\mathbf{h}_6\mathbf{h}_7\mathbf{h}_5$ | 608 RML+352 RAD |
| | 5: $\mathbf{h}_1\mathbf{h}_2\mathbf{h}_3\mathbf{h}_8\mathbf{h}_5\mathbf{h}_6\mathbf{h}_7\mathbf{h}_4$ | 360 RML+192 RAD |
| | 6: $\mathbf{h}_1\mathbf{h}_2\mathbf{h}_8\mathbf{h}_4\mathbf{h}_5\mathbf{h}_6\mathbf{h}_7\mathbf{h}_3$ | 176 RML+80 RAD |
| | 7: $\mathbf{h}_1\mathbf{h}_8\mathbf{h}_3\mathbf{h}_4\mathbf{h}_5\mathbf{h}_6\mathbf{h}_7\mathbf{h}_2$ | 56 RML+16 RAD |
| | 8: $\mathbf{h}_8\mathbf{h}_2\mathbf{h}_3\mathbf{h}_4\mathbf{h}_5\mathbf{h}_6\mathbf{h}_7\mathbf{h}_1$ | none |
| 8-Stage PWSD 8×8 MIMO | 1: $\mathbf{h}_1\mathbf{h}_2\mathbf{h}_3\mathbf{h}_4\mathbf{h}_5\mathbf{h}_6\mathbf{h}_8\mathbf{h}_7$ | none |
| | 2: $\mathbf{h}_1\mathbf{h}_2\mathbf{h}_3\mathbf{h}_4\mathbf{h}_5\mathbf{h}_6\mathbf{h}_7\mathbf{h}_8$ | 1296 RML+816 RAD |
| | 3: $\mathbf{h}_1 \mathbf{h}_2 \mathbf{h}_3 \mathbf{h}_4 \mathbf{h}_7 \mathbf{h}_8 \mathbf{h}_6 \mathbf{h}_5$ | 608 RML+352 RAD |
| | 4: $\mathbf{h}_1 \mathbf{h}_2 \mathbf{h}_3 \mathbf{h}_4 \mathbf{h}_7 \mathbf{h}_8 \mathbf{h}_6 \mathbf{h}_6$ | 1296 RML+816 RAD |
| | 5: $\mathbf{h}_1 \mathbf{h}_2 \mathbf{h}_7 \mathbf{h}_8 \mathbf{h}_5 \mathbf{h}_6 \mathbf{h}_4 \mathbf{h}_3$ | 176 RML+80 RAD |
| | 6: $\mathbf{h}_1 \mathbf{h}_2 \mathbf{h}_7 \mathbf{h}_8 \mathbf{h}_5 \mathbf{h}_6 \mathbf{h}_3 \mathbf{h}_4$ | 1296 RML+816 RAD |
| | 7: $\mathbf{h}_7 \mathbf{h}_8 \mathbf{h}_3 \mathbf{h}_4 \mathbf{h}_5 \mathbf{h}_6 \mathbf{h}_2 \mathbf{h}_1$ | none |
| | 8: $\mathbf{h}_7 \mathbf{h}_8 \mathbf{h}_3 \mathbf{h}_4 \mathbf{h}_5 \mathbf{h}_6 \mathbf{h}_1 \mathbf{h}_2$ | 1296 RML+816 RAD |
| $\begin{array}{c} 2\text{-Stage PWSD} \\ 8 \times 8 \text{ MIMO} \end{array}$ | 1: $\mathbf{h}_1\mathbf{h}_2\mathbf{h}_3\mathbf{h}_4\mathbf{h}_5\mathbf{h}_6\mathbf{h}_8\mathbf{h}_7$ | none |
| | 2: $\mathbf{h}_1\mathbf{h}_2\mathbf{h}_3\mathbf{h}_4\mathbf{h}_5\mathbf{h}_6\mathbf{h}_7\mathbf{h}_8$ | 1296 RML+816 RAD |
| | 3: $\mathbf{h}_1 \mathbf{h}_2 \mathbf{h}_3 \mathbf{h}_4 \mathbf{h}_7 \mathbf{h}_8 \mathbf{h}_6 \mathbf{h}_5$ | none |
| | 4: $\mathbf{h}_1 \mathbf{h}_2 \mathbf{h}_3 \mathbf{h}_4 \mathbf{h}_7 \mathbf{h}_8 \mathbf{h}_6 \mathbf{\underline{h}}_6$ | 1296 RML+816 RAD |
| | 5: $\mathbf{h}_1 \mathbf{h}_2 \mathbf{h}_7 \mathbf{h}_8 \mathbf{h}_5 \mathbf{h}_6 \mathbf{h}_4 \mathbf{h}_3$ | none |
| | 6: $\mathbf{h}_1 \mathbf{h}_2 \mathbf{h}_7 \mathbf{h}_8 \mathbf{h}_5 \mathbf{h}_6 \mathbf{h}_3 \mathbf{h}_4$ | 1296 RML+816 RAD |
| | 7: $\mathbf{h}_7 \mathbf{h}_8 \mathbf{h}_3 \mathbf{h}_4 \mathbf{h}_5 \mathbf{h}_6 \mathbf{h}_2 \mathbf{h}_1$ | none |
| | 8: $\mathbf{h}_7 \mathbf{h}_8 \mathbf{h}_3 \mathbf{h}_4 \mathbf{h}_5 \mathbf{h}_6 \mathbf{h}_1 \mathbf{h}_2$ | 1296 RML+816 RAD |



Figure 4.4: BER performance - 8×8 MIMO - 16-QAM - uncorrelated channels.

Note that in these simulations only per-layer LLRs where computed, hence the SSD and LORD schemes were symbol-based, which explains why the SSD schemes performed better (more on that in Sec 5.6).

4.3 Application to Sphere Decoder

The number of tree nodes that get visited in a SD is highly nondeterministic, and depends on several factors such as the SNR and the degree of orthogonality of **H**. In particular, the order of the columns of **H** can be adjusted to reduce the tree search complexity without compromising performance. Adjusting the detection order of the spatial streams according to the channel realization is achieved by performing QRD on a permuted channel matrix $\mathbf{H}\mathbf{\bar{P}}$, rather than **H**, where $\mathbf{\bar{P}} = [\mathbf{\bar{p}}_1\mathbf{\bar{p}}_2\cdots\mathbf{\bar{p}}_N]$ is a permutation matrix, and $\mathbf{\bar{p}}_i$ is a unit vector having a value of 1 in the *i*th position. The modified system model is thus represented as

$$\mathbf{y} = \mathbf{H}\mathbf{z} + \mathbf{n} = (\mathbf{H}\bar{\mathbf{P}})(\bar{\mathbf{P}}^{-1}\mathbf{z}) + \mathbf{n} = \mathbf{Q}\mathbf{R}\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{n}$$
(4.4)

$$\mathbf{Q}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{y} = \tilde{\mathbf{y}} = \mathbf{R}\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{Q}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{n}.$$
 (4.5)

Studies [48, 139–141] show that more efficient pruning of the search tree is obtained when streams with higher effective SNR are mapped to tree levels closer to the root, which translates into the main diagonal entries of \mathbf{R} in $\mathbf{H}\bar{\mathbf{P}} = \mathbf{Q}\mathbf{R}$ being sorted in an ascending order. While solving the precise solution to this problem has a prohibitive complexity, SQRD [140, 141] is a popular heuristic algorithm, that achieves a good complexity/performance trade-off. The SQRD is an extension of the MGS orthogonalization algorithm [138] for QRD computation, that orders the columns of \mathbf{H} in each orthogonalization step. Although this scheme is effective for HO detection at high SNR, its performance degrades when applied to SO detection at low SNR. Nevertheless, other schemes that are more effective at low SNR are substantially more complex, such as the one in [142], which is based on orthogonal projections.

4.3.1 Improved Layer Ordering Using MRQRD

A more effective layer ordering scheme was proposed in [31], in which layers are ordered such that the corresponding Babai solution has MR among all possible orderings. The resulting ordered QRD is thus called minimum cumulative residual QRD (MRQRD). Starting with the LS solution of the unconstrained system [138]

$$\mathbf{z}^{\text{LS}} = \underset{\mathbf{z} \in C^{N}}{\arg\min} \|\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{z}\|^{2}$$
(4.6)

$$= \bar{\mathbf{P}} \cdot \underset{\mathbf{x} \in C^{N}}{\operatorname{arg\,min}} \|\tilde{\mathbf{y}} - \mathbf{R}\mathbf{x}\|^{2} = \bar{\mathbf{P}} \cdot \mathbf{x}^{\mathrm{LS}}, \qquad (4.7)$$

and assuming that \mathbf{H} has a full column rank, the LS solution is found to be unique, with a residual defined as

$$\operatorname{Res}^{\mathrm{LS}} = \left\| \mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H} \mathbf{z}^{\mathrm{LS}} \right\|^{2} = \left\| \tilde{\mathbf{y}} - \mathbf{R} \mathbf{x}^{\mathrm{LS}} \right\|^{2}, \qquad (4.8)$$

that is minimal and independent of the column order. Moreover, the smaller the residual is, the better we can predict \mathbf{y} with the columns of \mathbf{H} [138].

However, for a given subset of \mathbf{H} , $\{\mathbf{h}_{p_1}, \cdots, \mathbf{h}_{p_k}\}$ (p_i , composed of k permuted columns, is the location of 1 in $\bar{\mathbf{p}}_i$), the partial LS solution has a corresponding residual that is not unique, which is expressed as

$$\operatorname{Res}^{\mathrm{LS}}[\mathbf{h}_{p_1},\cdots,\mathbf{h}_{p_k}] = \min_{\mathbf{z}\in\mathcal{C}^k} \left\| \mathbf{y} - [\mathbf{h}_{p_1},\cdots,\mathbf{h}_{p_k}]\mathbf{z} \right\|^2$$
(4.9)

$$\neq \operatorname{Res}^{\mathrm{LS}}[\mathbf{h}_{1},\cdots,\mathbf{h}_{k}]. \tag{4.10}$$

Casting this in the context of the tree-search scheme, the Babai solution and its residual both depend on the permutation $\overline{\mathbf{P}}$. We choose $\overline{\mathbf{P}}$, from all possible permutations Π , such that the cumulative residual of the corresponding partial Babai solutions, when derived from layer N back to layer 1, is minimal:

$$CRes^{Bab}[\mathbf{h}_{p_1},\cdots,\mathbf{h}_{p_N}] = \min_{\text{all }\Pi} \sum_{k=1}^N Res^{Bab}[\mathbf{h}_{p_k},\cdots,\mathbf{h}_{p_N}].$$
(4.11)

The Babai solution and its residual are defined as

$$x_k^{\text{Bab}} = \underset{x \in \mathcal{M}}{\operatorname{arg\,min}} \left| \tilde{y}_k - \sum_{j=k+1}^N r_{k,j} x_j - r_{k,k} x \right|^2$$
(4.12)

$$\operatorname{Res}^{\operatorname{Bab}}[\mathbf{r}_{p_k},\cdots,\mathbf{r}_{p_N}] = \left\| [\mathbf{r}_{p_k},\cdots,\mathbf{r}_{p_N}] \mathbf{x}_k^{\operatorname{Bab}} - \tilde{\mathbf{y}} \right\|^2,$$
(4.13)

for $k = N, N-1, \dots, 1$, where $\mathbf{x}_k^{\text{Bab}} = [x_k^{\text{Bab}}, \dots, x_N^{\text{Bab}}]^T$.

Reordering according to the MR criterion of (4.11) is a pre-detection stage that is capable of reducing the node count. The price to pay is a moderate increase in the number of computations and memory locations to determine the



Figure 4.5: Optimized dataflow graph for 4×4 MRQRD.

MR. We propose optimized architectures based on PR-QRD to decrease this computational overhead.

4.3.2 MRQRD Dataflow Architecture

For a relatively small number of layers, the desired permutation can be efficiently determined. In what follows, we consider a 4×4 MIMO system. An efficient dataflow architecture that simultaneously performs QRD and finds the Babai solution and its residual is shown in Fig. 4.5. First, the elements of **R** are derived row-wise from top to bottom. Then, the Babai solution and the residuals are computed simultaneously from bottom to top and right to left, respectively. In



Figure 4.6: Permutation schedule 1.



Figure 4.7: Permutation schedule 2.

order to compute the residuals for all 4! = 24 possible permutations and identify the minimum, the block should repeat the computations according to a specific schedule. In what follows, we propose two efficient schedules.

The first schedule is shown in Fig. 4.6. Note that the square numbers correspond to the indices of the channel matrix columns, where the highlighted indices correspond to locations of QRD redundant computations. In a straightforward implementation that does not require additional memory, and that only considers savings when the leftmost columns get permuted, only blue-highlighted positions are saved. This is an intuitive design, since it saves computations in finding the Babai solution as well as QRD. For example, if the first two layers are swapped, the block only recomputes the first two rows of \mathbf{R} , and then finds the remaining two Babai components and computes the residuals.

Assuming a more advanced circuitry, that allows the storage of several decomposition outputs in memory and supports savings when column permutations take place at either side of \mathbf{H} , enhanced schedules can be designed. This is feasible since the MRQRD computations are parallelizable, and are not on the critical path. In an extreme case where all 24 decompositions are stored in memory, additional computational savings occur at yellow locations in Fig. 4.6. The sec-


Figure 4.8: Modified TSA-QRD for a 4×4 Matrix.

ond proposed schedule allows a good tradeoff between space and computational complexity, as shown in Fig. 4.7. Here, the hardware implementation is assumed to store the outputs of only four consecutive decomposition stages in memory.

4.3.3 TSA Architecture

A computationally efficient and numerically stable TSA QRD architecture for a 4×4 matrix using MGS was presented in [143]. The first stage of QRD is executed by a diagonal-process (DP) unit, which computes the diagonal elements of **R** and the columns of **Q**. In the second stage, a triangular-process (TP) unit computes the non-diagonal elements of **R**, and updates the remaining columns of **H**. The TSA QRD architecture can thus be formed by repetitive DP and TP operations. Figure 4.8 shows a TSA architecture modified to cope with PR-QRD.

Because savings are not always possible, condition signals depending on specific permutations are added, that decide whether a block should execute or not. Note that the colored DPs and TPs are active low on these signals, and that a multiplexer exists at their output, that either selects a newly computed value or

| Permutations | Redundant | Saved |
|--------------|--|----------------|
| Type-0 | none | none |
| Type-1 | $\mathbf{q}_1, \mathbf{q}_2, r_{11}, r_{12}, r_{22}$ | 88 RML+40 RAD |
| Type-2 | $\mathbf{q}_3, \mathbf{q}_4, r_{33}, r_{34}, r_{44}$ | 88 RML+40 RAD |
| Type-3 | \mathbf{q}_4,r_{44} | 28 RML+8 RAD |
| Type-4 | ${f q}_1,r_{11}$ | 28 RML+8 RAD |
| Type-5 | Type1 \bigcup Type2 | 176 RML+80 RAD |

Table 4.2: Computational Savings in PR-QRD

a value stored in a buffer. The operation requires seven time slots, with DPs executing on odd time slots and TPs on even ones. For example, in time slot 1, \mathbf{h}_1 is fed to DP and r_{11} and \mathbf{q}_1 are obtained. The remaining columns of \mathbf{H} are delayed in a buffer, waiting for \mathbf{q}_1 to be available at all TPs of time slot 2 in parallel. The TPs then pass their output to the subsequent stages, and so on.

There exist five types of permutations. Some do not make use of any redundant computations, and others make full use of them. We refer to these permutations as Type-0 and Type-5, respectively. Type-1 corresponds to the case when the last two columns are swapped, and Type-2 to the case when the first two columns are swapped instead. Note that Type-1 does not allow for savings in residual computations. Finally, Type-3 and Type-4 correspond to the cases when only the last and first columns remain intact, respectively.

Table 4.2 summarizes the permutation types, assuming $[\mathbf{h}_1\mathbf{h}_2\mathbf{h}_3\mathbf{h}_4]$ is initially decomposed, and shows the redundant computations in QRD, as well as the computational savings that can be achieved using a PR-QRD. Note that one complete QRD requires a total of 304 RMLs and 176 RADs, and the savings in the PR-QRD reach 176 RMLs and 80 RADs. In total, the schedule of Fig. 4.6 allows for savings in QRD equal to 1280 RMLs and 544 RADs, while the schedule of Fig. 4.7 allows for savings equal to 2112 RMLs and 960 RADs. Noting that the total 24 QRDs require 7296 RMLs and 4224 RADs, the schedule of Fig. 4.7 reduces the QRD overhead by more than 25%. The savings in residual computations are less significant, since the Babai solution of (4.12) can be found by a simple slicing operation, and (4.13) needs to be recomputed.

Moreover, in addition to computational savings, time savings are also achievable. Figure 4.8 highlights the time slots that can be saved with different permutation types. Two from the seven time slots are saved with Type-1 permutations, three with Type-2, and five with Type-4 (Fig. 4.8 corresponds to schedule 2, and hence Type-3 and Type-4 are not highlighted). Thus, 60 time slots from the total 168 time slots that are required by all 24 permutations are saved in the second proposed schedule, which accounts for a time saving percentage of 36% in QRD computations.

Figure 4.9 from [31] shows the cumulative distribution function (CDF) of the node count for various QRD schemes, with HO and SO detection, when DF treesearch was employed. Six different ordering schemes were studied, including the best ordering among all possible permutations (Best). The MRQRDns is the same as MRQRD, but with no symbol slicing when propagating values in the recursion. MxRQRD, on the other hand, orders the layers based on maximum forward residuals (orders layers in ascending order of residuals). The gap in the median node count between hard and soft ML detection ranged between 2 to 3 orders of magnitude. Moreover, SO ML detection is found to be more sensitive to the ordering scheme than HO detection, where the gap between the best ordering scheme and the case when no ordering is applied is one order of magnitude. The figure illustrates the advantage of the proposed ordering schemes based on MRs in reducing the node count compared to SQRD, both with or without slicing in the recursion.



Figure 4.9: Node count CDF for various layer ordering

Conclusion

Enhanced layer-ordering schemes have been proposed for SO SSDs and SDs, and low-complexity hardware architectures have been proposed, with corresponding execution schedules. The implementations employed a PR-QRD, based on the MGS orthogonalization algorithm. It has been shown through simulations that using the proposed scheme with SSD, the QRD overhead can be reduced by 30% for 8×8 MIMO with no performance degradation cost, and it has been argued that the savings are more profound with higher order MIMO. With SD, the QRD overhead has been reduced by 25% in computations and 36% in time, when reducing the node count by one order of magnitude, for 4×4 MIMO.

Chapter 5

Large MIMO Detection via Channel Puncturing

In this chapter we present a family of WRD-based detectors that build on popular QRD-based detectors (Table 5.1). In particular, we propose a punctured ML (PML) detector, a punctured N/C (PN/C) detector, a punctured CD (PCD), as well as a HO SSD. We then propose efficient architectures and analyze the computational complexity of the proposed detectors. We show that the computational savings are much more pronounced with large MIMO dimensions. Finally, we study the performance of the proposed detectors in the context of large MIMO with high order MTs, and in the presence of spatial channel correlation. We show that the performance of these schemes scales up efficiently with high orders, and that they are superior to their QRD-based counterparts in the presence of channel correlation. The results of this section appeared, in parts, in [144] and [145].

5.1 Punctured QR Decomposition (WRD)

A brute force approach for computing \mathbf{W} [52] (Sec. 2.8.1) involves matrix inversions, which is complex and prone to roundoff error. However, an alternative

| WRD-Based Detectors | QRD-Based Detectors |
|---------------------|---------------------|
| ML | PML = PCD |
| N/C | PN/C |
| CD | PCD |
| LORD | SSD |
| SLORD | SSSD |

Table 5.1: Summary of Proposed and Studied Detectors

approach exists that employs QRD followed by elementary matrix operations [54].

Let **H** be QR-decomposed such that $\mathbf{Q}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{H} = \mathbf{R}$. Obviously, $\mathbf{q}_{N}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{q}_{N} = 1$ and $\mathbf{q}_{N}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{h}_{n} = 0$ for all n = 1, ..., N-1, hence, $\mathbf{w}_{N} = \mathbf{q}_{N}$. Now assume the *n*th entry r_{mn} in row *m* of **R** is to be nulled, for m = 1, ..., N-2 and n = m+1, ..., N-1. We have $\mathbf{q}_{m}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{h}_{n} = r_{mn} \in C$ and $\mathbf{q}_{n}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{h}_{n} = r_{nn} \in \mathcal{R}^{+}$, from which it follows that $\left(\mathbf{q}_{m}^{\mathcal{H}} - \mathbf{q}_{n}^{\mathcal{H}}\frac{r_{mn}}{r_{nn}}\right)\mathbf{h}_{n} = 0$. Hence, with $\rho_{mn} \triangleq \frac{r_{mn}}{r_{nn}} \in C$, the equations

$$\mathbf{q}_m = \mathbf{q}_m - \mathbf{q}_n \rho_{mn}^{\mathcal{H}},\tag{5.1}$$

$$r_{mn} = r_{mn} - r_{nn}\rho_{mn}, \text{ and}$$
(5.2)

$$r_{mN} = r_{mN} - r_{nN}\rho_{mn},\tag{5.3}$$

when repeated for $n = N - 1, N - 2, \dots, m + 1$, would puncture the required *n*th entry and update the *N*th entry in row *m* of **R**, as well as update the *m*th column of **Q** accordingly, while

$$r_{mm} = r_{mm} / \|\mathbf{q}_m\|, \tag{5.4}$$

$$r_{mN} = r_{mN} / \|\mathbf{q}_m\|, \text{ and}$$
(5.5)

$$\mathbf{q}_m = \mathbf{q}_m / \|\mathbf{q}_m\|, \tag{5.6}$$

would normalize \mathbf{q}_m in \mathbf{Q} and update the non-zero entries in row m of \mathbf{R} accordingly. All these operations are to be carried for $m = N-2, N-3, \cdots, 1$. The resultant \mathbf{Q} is \mathbf{W} , and the resultant \mathbf{R} is $\mathring{\mathbf{R}}$.

In matrix form, we can write (5.1)-(5.4) using elementary matrices $\mathbf{E}_m = [e_{nj}], 1 \leq m \leq N$, which differ from \mathbf{I}_N by a single elementary row operation, defined as follows:

$$e_{nj} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } j = n \\ -r_{nm}/r_{mm} & \text{if } j = m, \ j \in I_n \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(5.7)

The product of these matrices forms the unscaled matrices $\mathbf{R}_2 = (\mathbf{E}_n \dots \mathbf{E}_1)\mathbf{R}$ and $\mathbf{Q}_2^{\mathcal{H}} = (\mathbf{E}_n^{\mathcal{H}} \dots \mathbf{E}_1^{\mathcal{H}})\mathbf{Q}^{\mathcal{H}}$. The scaling operations can be written using the diagonal matrix $\mathbf{\bar{D}} = [d_n] \in \mathcal{R}^+$, where $d_n = 1/\sqrt{[\mathbf{Q}_1^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{Q}_2]_{nn}}$ and $[\cdot]_{nn}$ denotes the nth diagonal element. The desired (scaled) matrices are given by $\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}} = \mathbf{\bar{D}}\mathbf{Q}_2^{\mathcal{H}}$ and $\mathbf{\mathring{R}} = \mathbf{\bar{D}}\mathbf{R}_2$. Note That unlike QRD, there is no permutation-robust implementation for puncturing. The punctured elements are in the upper rows, affecting the leftmost columns of \mathbf{Q} . Furthermore, if the system had more receive antennas (M > N), the "thin" form of the QRD for tall matrices would have been used, and other modifications would have immediately followed.

The transformed received symbol vector after applying $\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}$ can then be expressed as

$$\bar{\mathbf{y}} = \mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{y} = \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{R}} \mathbf{x} + \mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{n}, \tag{5.8}$$

where by analogy with 2.15 we have

$$\bar{\mathbf{y}} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\mathbf{y}}_1 \\ \bar{y}_N \end{bmatrix}, \quad \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{R}} = \begin{bmatrix} \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{A}} & \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{b}} \\ \mathbf{0} & \overset{\circ}{c} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{x} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{x}_1 \\ x_N \end{bmatrix}, \quad (5.9)$$

and in this case $\mathbf{\mathring{A}} \in \mathcal{R}^{(N-1)\times(N-1)}$ is a diagonal matrix. For example, in the special case of 4×4 MIMO, $\mathbf{\mathring{R}}$ is obtained from **R** by puncturing entries r_{23} , r_{12} , and r_{13} , respectively:

$$\mathbf{R} = \begin{bmatrix} r_{11} & r_{12} & r_{13} & r_{14} \\ 0 & r_{22} & r_{23} & r_{24} \\ 0 & 0 & r_{33} & r_{34} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & r_{44} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{\mathring{R}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathring{r}_{11} & 0 & 0 & \mathring{r}_{14} \\ 0 & \mathring{r}_{22} & 0 & \mathring{r}_{24} \\ 0 & 0 & \mathring{r}_{33} & \mathring{r}_{34} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \mathring{r}_{44} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(5.10)

5.2 Punctured ML Detector (PML)

Similar to the ML detector, an "exhaustive" PML detector searches X to find

$$\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{PML}} = \min_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{X}} \left\| \mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}(\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}) \right\|^2.$$
(5.11)

Pre-multiplying by \mathbf{W} , unlike \mathbf{Q} , modifies Euclidean distances, hence we have

$$d(\mathbf{x}) = \|\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}\|^2 = \|\mathbf{Q}^{\mathcal{H}}(\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x})\|^2$$
(5.12)

$$\neq \left\| \mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}(\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}) \right\|^2 = \left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}} - \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{R}}\mathbf{x} \right\|^2 = \bar{d}(\mathbf{x}).$$
(5.13)

Due to colored noise, this minimum distance detector is not optimal.

5.3 Punctured N/C Detector (PN/C)

With PN/C, we null by pre-multiplying by $\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}$ instead of $\mathbf{Q}^{\mathcal{H}},$ and perform SIC as

$$\hat{x}_{n}^{\mathrm{PN/C}} = \left\lfloor \left(\bar{y}_{n} - \mathring{r}_{nN} \hat{x}_{N}^{\mathrm{PN/C}} \right) / \mathring{r}_{nn} \right\rfloor_{\mathcal{M}},$$
(5.14)

for $n = N - 1, \dots, 1$, where $\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{PN/C}} = [\hat{x}_1^{\text{PN/C}} \cdots \hat{x}_n^{\text{PN/C}} \cdots \hat{x}_N^{\text{PN/C}}]$, and $\hat{x}_N^{\text{PN/C}} = \lfloor \bar{y}_N / \mathring{r}_{NN} \rceil_{\mathcal{M}}$. Note that slicing on layers $n = N - 1, \dots, 1$ can be done in parallel since \mathbf{A} is diagonal.

5.4 Punctured Chase Detector (PCD)

The PCD builds on the partition in (5.9), and performs the operations of a CD (Sec. 2.6). A modified list of candidate symbol vectors $\mathcal{P}(\bar{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{\mathring{R}})$ is thus created. The distance of a vector $\mathbf{x} = [\mathbf{x}_1, x_N]^T$ is given by

$$\bar{d}(\mathbf{x}) = \left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}} - \mathring{\mathbf{R}} \mathbf{x} \right\|^2 = \left| \bar{y}_N - \mathring{c} x_N \right|^2 + \left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}}_1 - \mathring{\mathbf{A}} \mathbf{x}_1 - \mathring{\mathbf{b}} x_N \right\|^2.$$
(5.15)

For a given $x_N \in \mathcal{M}$, the distance in (5.15) is minimized as

$$\min_{\mathbf{x}_1 \in \mathcal{M}^{N-1}} \bar{d}(\mathbf{x}) = \left| \bar{y}_N - \mathring{c} x_N \right|^2 + \min_{\mathbf{x}_1 \in \mathcal{M}^{N-1}} \left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}}_1 - \mathring{\mathbf{A}} \mathbf{x}_1 - \mathring{\mathbf{b}} x_N \right\|^2$$
(5.16)

$$= \left| \bar{y}_N - \mathring{c} x_N \right|^2 + \left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}}_1 - \mathring{\mathbf{A}} \hat{\mathbf{x}}_1(x_N) - \mathring{\mathbf{b}} x_N \right\|^2$$
(5.17)

$$\triangleq \bar{d}^{\mathcal{H}}(\mathbf{x}(x_N)), \tag{5.18}$$

where $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_1(x_N) = \lfloor (\bar{\mathbf{y}}_1 - \mathbf{b} x_N) / \mathbf{A} \rceil_{\mathcal{M}^{N-1}}$, which is a vectorized slicing operation, and $\mathbf{x}(x_N) = [\hat{\mathbf{x}}_1(x_N), x_N]^T$. The symbol vector $\mathbf{x}(x_N)$ is then added to \mathcal{P} , together with its distance $d^{\mathcal{H}}(\mathbf{x}(x_N))$. The final HO symbol vector $\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{PCD}}$ is found from \mathcal{P} as the one with smallest distance.

While the PCD computes distances only to $|\mathcal{P}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{\mathring{R}})| = |\mathcal{M}|$ candidate symbol vectors, for a given layer ordering and channel partition, it is clear from (5.16) that it achieves the exact performance as that of the PML detector. In other words, there is no vector in the lattice \mathcal{X} , outside the set $\mathcal{P}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{R})$, that can have a smaller distance metric than that of the PCD solution. The proof goes as follows:

$$\min_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{X}} \bar{d}(\mathbf{x}) = \min_{x_N\in\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{x}_1\in\mathcal{M}^{N-1}} \left\{ \left| \bar{y}_N - \mathring{c}x_N \right|^2 + \left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}}_1 - \mathring{\mathbf{A}}\mathbf{x}_1 - \mathring{\mathbf{b}}x_N \right\|^2 \right\}$$
(5.19)

$$= \min_{x_N \in \mathcal{M}} \left\{ \left| \bar{y}_N - \mathring{c} x_N \right|^2 + \min_{\mathbf{x}_1 \in \mathcal{M}^{N-1}} \left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}}_1 - \mathring{\mathbf{A}} \mathbf{x}_1 - \mathring{\mathbf{b}} x_N \right\|^2 \right\}$$
(5.20)

$$= \min_{x_N \in \mathcal{M}} \left\{ \left| \bar{y}_N - \mathring{c} x_N \right|^2 + \left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}}_1 - \mathring{\mathbf{A}} \hat{\mathbf{x}}_1(x_N) - \mathring{\mathbf{b}} x_N \right\|^2 \right\}$$
(5.21)

$$= \min_{\mathbf{x}(x_N)\in\mathcal{P}} \vec{d}^{\mathcal{H}}(\mathbf{x}(x_N)).$$
(5.22)

5.5 Vector-Based Subspace Detector (VSSD)

The VSSD is an extension to PCD, the same way LORD is an extension to CD. The columns of **H** are cyclically shifted, and punctured UTMs are generated. Each permuted **H** at step $t, t = 1, \dots, N$, is WR-decomposed into $\mathbf{W}^{(t)}$ and $\mathring{\mathbf{R}}^{(t)}$ according to (5.9). Let $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{(t)}^{\text{PCD}}$ denote the PCD solution from step t. The final solution $\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{VSSD}}$ is $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{(t_{min})}^{\text{PCD}},$ where t_{min} is defined as:

$$t_{\min} = \underset{t \in \{1, \cdots, N\}}{\operatorname{arg\,min}} \left\| \mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H} \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{(t)}^{\operatorname{PCD}} \right\|^2.$$
(5.23)

Note that we revert back to the original space of **H** to compute the true Euclidean distance metrics in (5.23). The gain achieved by VSSD compared to PCD is limited, since each $\mathbf{\mathring{R}}^{(t)}$ generates an independent space, and hence we end up taking the best output from N independent trials. The VSSD is in effect the HO version of the reference SO SSD [53] (Sec. 2.8.2), and we refer to it by simply SSD in the remainder of this chapter.

5.6 Symbol-Based Subspace Detector (SSSD)

As a variation of SSD, the SSSD selects at each step t, only the root symbol of the output vector as a component of the final output vector. Thus, the output vector $\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{SSSD}} = [\hat{x}_1^{\text{SSSD}} \cdots \hat{x}_n^{\text{SSSD}} \cdots \hat{x}_N^{\text{SSSD}}]$ gets assembled one symbol at a time over N executions of PCD, where

$$\hat{x}_n^{\text{SSSD}} = \hat{x}_{N-n+1(t=n)}^{\text{PCD}}.$$
(5.24)

For example, in a 4×4 MIMO system, we have $\hat{x}_1^{\text{SSSD}} = \hat{x}_{4(t=1)}^{\text{PCD}}$, where $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{(t=1)}^{\text{PCD}}$ is the HO solution of a PCD following the partition in Fig. 2.1(g). Similarly $\hat{x}_2^{\text{SSSD}} = \hat{x}_{3(t=2)}^{\text{PCD}}$, $\hat{x}_3^{\text{SSSD}} = \hat{x}_{2(t=3)}^{\text{PCD}}$, and $\hat{x}_4^{\text{SSSD}} = \hat{x}_{2(t=4)}^{\text{PCD}}$, are obtained following the partitions (h), (i), and (j), respectively. Note that we can define symbol-based LORD (SLORD) in a similar manner:

$$\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{SLORD}} = [\hat{x}_1^{\text{SLORD}} \cdots \hat{x}_n^{\text{SLORD}} \cdots \hat{x}_N^{\text{SLORD}}]$$
(5.25)

$$\hat{x}_n^{\text{SLORD}} = \hat{x}_{N-n+1(t=n)}^{\text{CD}}.$$
(5.26)

5.7 Soft-Output Detection

To generate the LLRs with SSSD, the N streams should be decoupled in N steps, where in each step $t \in \{1, \dots, N\}$ the LLRs for the bits corresponding to symbol x_n (n = t) are calculated. Hence, for each bit, we compute

$$\lambda_{n,k,t}^{\text{SSSD}} = \frac{1}{\sigma^2} \left(\min_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{P}_{n,k,t}^{(0)}} \left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}}^{(t)} - \mathring{\mathbf{R}}^{(t)} \mathbf{x} \right\|^2 - \min_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{P}_{n,k,t}^{(1)}} \left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}}^{(t)} - \mathring{\mathbf{R}}^{(t)} \mathbf{x} \right\|^2 \right)$$
(5.27)

for $t = 1, \dots, N$ and $k = 1, \dots, \log(|\mathcal{M}|)$, where the sets $\mathcal{P}_{n,k,t}^{(0)} \triangleq \{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{y}^{(t)}, \mathbf{\mathring{R}}^{(t)}) : b_{n,k} = 0\}$ and $\mathcal{P}_{n,k,t}^{(1)} \triangleq \{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{y}^{(t)}, \mathbf{\mathring{R}}^{(t)}) : b_{n,k} = 1\}$ correspond to subsets of symbol vectors in $\mathcal{P}(\mathbf{y}^{(t)}, \mathbf{\mathring{R}}^{(t)})$, having in the corresponding kth bit of the *n*th symbol a value of 0 and 1, respectively. Note that these distance metrics can be expanded as in (5.15). Similarly, we can define the LLRs for SLORD as

$$\lambda_{n,k,t}^{\text{SLORD}} = \frac{1}{\sigma^2} \left(\min_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{S}_{n,k,t}^{(0)}} \left\| \tilde{\mathbf{y}}^{(t)} - \mathbf{R}^{(t)} \mathbf{x} \right\|^2 - \min_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{S}_{n,k,t}^{(1)}} \left\| \tilde{\mathbf{y}}^{(t)} - \mathbf{R}^{(t)} \mathbf{x} \right\|^2 \right), \tag{5.28}$$

where $\mathcal{S}_{n,k,t}^{(0)} \triangleq \{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{S}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}^{(t)}}, \mathbf{R}^{(t)}) : b_{n,k} = 0\}$ and $\mathcal{S}_{n,k,t}^{(1)} \triangleq \{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{S}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}^{(t)}}, \mathbf{R}^{(t)}) : b_{n,k} = 1\}.$

With SO SSD and LORD, tighter LLRs can be computed with an extra processing overhead by tracking global distances rather than per stream distances:

$$\lambda_{n,k}^{\text{SSD}} = \frac{1}{\sigma^2} \left[\min_{t} \left(\min_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{P}_{n,k,t}^{(0)}} \left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}}^{(t)} - \mathring{\mathbf{R}}^{(t)} \mathbf{x} \right\|^2 \right) - \min_{t} \left(\min_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{P}_{n,k,t}^{(1)}} \left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}}^{(t)} - \mathring{\mathbf{R}}^{(t)} \mathbf{x} \right\|^2 \right) \right]$$
(5.29)

$$\lambda_{n,k}^{\text{LORD}} = \frac{1}{\sigma^2} \left[\min_{t} \left(\min_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{S}_{n,k,t}^{(0)}} \left\| \tilde{\mathbf{y}}^{(t)} - \mathbf{R}^{(t)} \mathbf{x} \right\|^2 \right) - \min_{t} \left(\min_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{S}_{n,k,t}^{(1)}} \left\| \tilde{\mathbf{y}}^{(t)} - \mathbf{R}^{(t)} \mathbf{x} \right\|^2 \right) \right]. \quad (5.30)$$

5.8 Architectures and Complexity Analysis

The main motive behind channel puncturing is reducing complexity. To support this fact, a cost efficient architecture that implements the SSSD algorithm



Figure 5.1: Hierarchical architectural design for SO SSSD.

is shown in Fig. 5.1, together with a counterpart architecture that implements LORD in Fig. 5.2. The designs are hierarchical, showing SSSD using PCD building blocks, that themselves use PN/C, while LORD uses CD and N/C blocks.

With SSSD, the distances computed in PCD and their symbol vectors are



Figure 5.2: Hierarchical architectural design for SO LORD.

directly forwarded to an LLR processing unit at the corresponding layer of interest. The PCD processes on all other layers can run in parallel, and the complete LLR vector will be available at the output after the processing delay of one layer. However, the LORD architecture is not fully parallelizable. Moreover, the PCD

| Detection Scheme | QRD Cost | Puncturing Cost |
|----------------------------|---------------------|---------------------|
| $ML \rightarrow PML = PCD$ | $	heta_2/J$ | $	heta_3/J$ |
| $N/C \rightarrow PN/C$ | $	heta_2/J$ | $	heta_3/J$ |
| $CD \rightarrow PCD$ | $	heta_2/J$ | $	heta_3/J$ |
| $LORD \rightarrow SSD$ | $N 	imes 	heta_2/J$ | $N 	imes 	heta_3/J$ |
| $SLORD \rightarrow SSSD$ | $N 	imes 	heta_2/J$ | $N 	imes 	heta_3/J$ |

Table 5.2: Preprocessing Cost of Studied Detectors

Table 5.3: Savings in Studied HO Detectors

| Detection Scheme | Savings in Computations (FLOPs) | |
|----------------------------|--|--|
| $ML \rightarrow PML = PCD$ | $\left(\mathcal{M} ^N - \mathcal{M} \right) 	imes 	heta_1$ | |
| $N/C \rightarrow PN/C$ | θ_1 | |
| $CD \rightarrow PCD$ | $ \mathcal{M} 	imes 	heta_1$ | |
| $LORD \rightarrow SSD$ | $N \times (\mathcal{M} \times \theta_1 - (4N^2 + 4N - 2) \operatorname{RAD} - (4N^2 + 4N) \operatorname{RML})$ | |
| $SLORD \rightarrow SSSD$ | $N \times \mathcal{M} \times \theta_1$ | |

routine itself is much less complex than the CD routine because it performs fewer computations due to punctured entries.

Every time the product \mathbf{Rx} is computed instead of \mathbf{Rx} , (N - 2)(N - 1)/2complex multiplications are saved, which amounts to $\theta_1 = (N^2 - 3N + 2) \text{ RAD} + (2N^2 - 6N + 4) \text{ RML FLOPs}$. For example, in a 16×16 MIMO system, 77% of the multiplications required in N/C are saved with puncturing, and the savings increase to 94% in a 64×64 MIMO system. Therefore, the SO SSD and SSSD can save $N \times |\mathcal{M}| \times \theta_1$ FLOPs compared to the SO LORD and SLORD, respectively.

The only computational drawback in subspace schemes is in channel decomposition. As shown in [53,54], regular QRD requires $\theta_2 = (4N^3 - N^2 - N) \text{ RAD} + (4N^3 + 3N^2) \text{ RML FLOPs}$, and puncturing alone requires $\theta_3 = \frac{2}{3}(8N^3 - 15N^2 + 4N - 12) \text{ RAD} + (\frac{16}{3}N^3 - 7N^2 + \frac{8}{3}N - 20) \text{ RML FLOPs}$ (this overhead was reduced in [55] for SSD). However, channel matrix decompositions are only performed in the preprocessing stage of detection, and with slow fading channels, the decomposition outputs can be retained for a very large number of frames J. For HO computations, PN/C saves θ_1 FLOPs compared to N/C, PCD saves $|\mathcal{M}| \times \theta_1$ FLOPs compared to CD, SSSD saves $N \times |\mathcal{M}| \times \theta_1$ FLOPs compared to SLORD, and SSD saves $N \times (|\mathcal{M}| \times \theta_1 - (4N^2 + 4N - 2) \text{ RAD} - (4N^2 + 4N) \text{ RML})$ FLOPs compared to LORD, where the subtracted terms in the latter account for distance computations in (5.23). These results are summarized in Tables 5.2 and 5.3. Note that the substantial savings with PML are based on the fact that PML and PCD are identical. PML has no practical significance, and it is only included as a reference. Furthermore, extra memory is needed with LORD to compute the global minimum distance for every bit after layer processing [134], where it is required to store not only distances, but also their corresponding symbol vectors. The WRD-based approaches are thus computationally efficient, especially with slow fading channels and high order modulation constellations.

5.9 Channel Shortening vs Channel Puncturing

Channel puncturing can be conceived as an alternative efficient implementation of channel shortening. However, efficient implementation does not imply best performance. By maximizing the mutual information that the transceiver system can achieve with a mismatched channel model, a framework for constructing optimal channel shortening for subspace detection was proposed in [146], building on an original framework in [147]. The achievable information rate (AIR) metric was employed, which is a generalized mutual information that the transceiver system can achieve with a mismatched channel model at the receiver.

Building on the work in [146], a SO MIMO detector was proposed in [148] by utilizing AIR-based partial marginalization (AIR-PM). Partial marginalization (PM) [149,150] is a method of calculating LLRs without spanning entire lattices. The AIR-PM detector exploits a tree-based representation, where parent layers are exhaustively searched, and least-square estimates are used for marginalization on child layers. As in the case of SSD, since connections among all child layers are broken, PMs can be executed independently and in parallel. For AIR-based detection, the distance metric can be expressed as

$$d(\mathbf{y}|\mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{\sigma^2} \left(2\Re \{ \mathbf{x}^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{H}^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{y} \} - \mathbf{x}^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{H}^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{y} \right).$$
(5.31)

Neglecting the last term and absorbing the noise variance into \mathbf{H}_r and \mathbf{G}_r , the probability function of the resultant detection model would be

$$\tilde{\Pr}(\mathbf{y}|\mathbf{x}) = \exp\left(2\Re\{\mathbf{x}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{H}_{r}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{y}\} - \mathbf{x}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{G}_{r}\mathbf{x}\right).$$
(5.32)

Note that all lattice processing is contained in \mathbf{G}_r . The AIR is defined as

$$I_{\text{AIR}}(\mathbf{y}; \mathbf{x}) = \mathsf{E}_{\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}}[\ln \tilde{\Pr}(\mathbf{y}|\mathbf{x})] - \mathsf{E}_{\mathbf{y}}[\ln \tilde{\Pr}(\mathbf{y})], \qquad (5.33)$$

where $\tilde{\Pr}(\mathbf{y}) = \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{X}} \tilde{\Pr}(\mathbf{y}|\mathbf{x}) \Pr(\mathbf{x})$. Assuming complex Gaussian inputs, a closed form I_{AIR} expression was reached by optimizing (5.33) over a prefilter matrix \mathbf{H}_r :

$$I_{\text{AIR}}(\mathbf{y}; \mathbf{x}) = N + \ln \det(\mathbf{I}_N + \mathbf{G}_r) - \text{Tr}(\bar{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{I}_N + \mathbf{G}_r))$$
(5.34)

$$\mathbf{H}_r = \bar{\mathbf{W}}^{\mathcal{H}} (\mathbf{I}_N + \mathbf{G}_r) \tag{5.35}$$

$$\bar{\mathbf{W}} = \mathbf{H}^{\mathcal{H}} \left(\mathbf{H} \mathbf{H}^{\mathcal{H}} + \sigma^2 \mathbf{I}_N \right)$$
(5.36)

$$\bar{\mathbf{B}} = \mathbf{I}_N - \bar{\mathbf{W}}\mathbf{H} \tag{5.37}$$

$$\mathbf{G}_r = \mathbf{U}\mathbf{U}^{\mathcal{H}} - \mathbf{I}_N,\tag{5.38}$$

The matrix \mathbf{G}_r , and hence \mathbf{U} , is then chosen to maximize (5.34) under the decomposition constraints. The resultant \mathbf{U} matrix is shown in equations (26) and (27) in [148], and the resultant I_{AIR} reads:

$$I_{\text{AIR}}(\mathbf{y}; \mathbf{x}) = 2 \sum_{n=1}^{N} \ln u_{n,n}.$$
 (5.39)

The matrix \mathbf{U} has the same structure as the matrix \mathbf{R} in WRD, and its punctured shape is responsible for decreasing the complexity of lattice processing. It can be noted that computing \mathbf{U} with multiple parent layers is computationally intensive due to matrix inversions. However, for a single parent layer this overhead is graceful, where we have the *n*th diagonal element of \mathbf{U} computed from the elements of $\mathbf{\bar{B}}$ as follows:

$$u_{n,n} = \sqrt{\left(\bar{b}_{n,n} - \frac{\left|\bar{b}_{n,N}\right|^2}{\bar{b}_{N,N}}\right)^{-1}}.$$
(5.40)

Despite the fact that WRD in SSD is not optimal in the sense of maximizing the AIR, it can be shown to have a much lower complexity compared to AIR-PM when more than one layer is a parent layer, as well as a near-optimal performance. AIR-based detectors need to compute \mathbf{H}_r and \mathbf{G}_r . Computing \mathbf{H}_r requires a matrix inversion, which is a difficult task in the context of large MIMO. Moreover, computing \mathbf{G}_r (equation (26) and in [148]) also requires multiple matrix inversions when the number of parent layers is large. On the contrary, QRD/WRD-based schemes only require executing a QRD (followed by elementary matrix operations in case of WRD), which is a much simpler task, especially if a dedicated decomposition engine is used.

The AIRs of WRD-based and AIR-based schemes were obtained empirically via a Monte Carlo simulation by computing (5.33) for different MTs. These rates were compared to the theoretical AIR of the AIR-based detectors assuming Gaussian inputs (equation (5.39)). As shown in Fig. 5.3, AIRs with 16-QAM are much closer to the theoretical bound than those with QPSK. Furthermore, the gap in the AIR between WRD-based and AIR-based detectors is shown to be small at low SNR and negligible at high SNR.



Figure 5.3: Achievable information rates - 4×4 MIMO.

5.10 Simulation Results

The proposed detectors were simulated following the system model of Sec. 2.1. Both HO and SO scenarios were considered, where in the latter turbo coding was used, with a code rate of 1/2 and 8 decoding iterations. In addition to **H**, we considered $\mathbf{H}_c = \mathbf{C}_r^{1/2} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{C}_t^{1/2}$ that accounts for antenna correlation, where \mathbf{C}_t and \mathbf{C}_r are the transmit and receive antenna correlation matrices, respectively, with correlation factors $\alpha = \bar{\alpha} = 0.9$. We assume, for convenience, the generic exponential model [151]. Hence, in the case of 4×4 MIMO, we have

$$\mathbf{C}_{t} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & \alpha & \alpha^{2} & \alpha^{3} \\ \alpha & 1 & \alpha & \alpha^{2} \\ \alpha^{2} & \alpha & 1 & \alpha \\ \alpha^{3} & \alpha^{2} & \alpha & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{C}_{r} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & \bar{\alpha} & \bar{\alpha}^{2} & \bar{\alpha}^{3} \\ \bar{\alpha} & 1 & \bar{\alpha} & \bar{\alpha}^{2} \\ \bar{\alpha}^{2} & \bar{\alpha} & 1 & \bar{\alpha} \\ \bar{\alpha}^{3} & \bar{\alpha}^{2} & \bar{\alpha} & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(5.41)

Figures 5.4 to 5.7 show the HO FER performance with various MIMO config-







Figure 5.5: HO FER performance - 8×8 MIMO.







Figure 5.7: HO FER performance - 64×64 MIMO.



Figure 5.8: SO FER performance - 8×8 MIMO.

urations, when \mathcal{M} is 16-QAM and 1024-QAM [129]. In the context of 4×4 MIMO (Fig. 5.4), the performance degradation in PN/C compared to N/C is negligible, the chase detectors cut the gap between N/C and ML in half, and the PCD introduces a 2 dB loss compared to the CD. Moreover, while LORD achieves exact ML performance, SSD lags behind by also 2 dB. The relative performances of the detectors are maintained with very large constellations. Figures 5.5, 5.6, and 5.7 then show the performance of the proposed schemes in the context of 8×8 MIMO, 16×16 MIMO, and 64×64 MIMO, respectively. The relative performances are maintained, but the gap between WRD and QRD-based schemes increases from 2 dB, to 4 dB, 5 dB, and 7 dB, respectively. The SSSD was the only WRD-based detector to achieve a performance gain, compared to SLORD. Note that large MIMO systems do not achieve the gains of massive MIMO systems with very large receive-to-transmit antenna ratios, which, in addition to our definition of SNR, explain the high SNR range.







Figure 5.10: SO FER performance - 64×64 MIMO.



Figure 5.11: SO FER performance - 128×128 MIMO.

Figures 5.8 to 5.11 show the BER performance of the studied SO detectors, compared to a reference low-complexity MMSE detector [122], with various MIMO configurations, when \mathcal{M} is 16-QAM and 256-QAM. With relatively low MIMO orders, the SSSD (or SO PCD) outperforms LORD, and so does the SSD with high order MTs, while SLORD and MMSE lag behind. For example, the SO PCD achieves a 2.5 dB gain compared to LORD, at a BER of 10^{-4} in 16×16 MIMO with 256-QAM. However, with high order MIMO, SSSD can not beat LORD (5 dB and 7 dB gaps are noticed with 16-QAM). Nevertheless, at very high MIMO orders, the reduction in complexity with WRD-based detectors is particularly large, and the gap in performance can be as low as 1 dB or 2 dB with 256-QAM, where the effect of interference is reduced with larger MTs.

Figures 5.12 to 5.15 show the SO BER performance of the detectors under high channel correlation. Subspace detectors, SSD and SSSD, outperform the much more complex LORD. It is only at very high MIMO orders with low order



Figure 5.12: SO FER performance - 4×4 MIMO - correlated channels.



Figure 5.13: SO FER performance - 8×8 MIMO - correlated channels.



Figure 5.14: SO FER performance - 16×16 MIMO - correlated channels.



Figure 5.15: SO FER performance - 64×64 MIMO - correlated channels.

MTs that LORD slightly outperforms SSSD. This declares the SSSD the winning detector in the presence of channel correlation.

Conclusion

A family of low-complexity MIMO detectors that employ punctured QRD in lieu of regular QRD has been proposed. The proposed detectors have been shown to achieve significant computational savings in the context of large MIMO systems. Furthermore, significant performance gains have been observed with highly correlated channels. An architectural design has been proposed, by using the detectors of lower complexity as building blocks in their more complex extensions, and it has been established that the proposed schemes scale up efficiently both in the number of antennas and the constellation size. In particular, SO per-layer subspace detection has been shown to achieve a 2.5 dB SNR gain in 256-QAM 16×16 MIMO, while saving 77% of N/C computations.

Chapter 6

Capacity, Diversity, and BER Analysis

We analyze mathematically the capacity and BER performance of the proposed HO detectors. First, capacity bounds under puncturing are derived. Second, the diversity gain is characterized and used to show that channel matrix puncturing does not negatively affect the diversity gain in HO detection. Third, the performance of these detectors is studied via a probabilistic BER characterization. We extend the study for several variations of SO detection schemes, and show that significant performance gains can be achieved with channel puncturing. The results of this section appeared, in parts, in [144], [152], and [145].

6.1 Statistical Properties of Punctured Channels

Note that after puncturing, the column at the root layer in \mathbf{W} (layer *N* here), remains orthogonal to all other columns. Hence, taking the expectation of $\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{nn}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{W}$ over \mathbf{n} , we have:

$$\mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{n}}[\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{W}] = \begin{bmatrix} \sigma^{2} \ e_{12} \ e_{13} \ 0 \\ e_{12}^{\mathcal{H}} \ \sigma^{2} \ e_{23} \ 0 \\ e_{13}^{\mathcal{H}} \ e_{23}^{\mathcal{H}} \ \sigma^{2} \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ \sigma^{2} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(6.1)



Figure 6.1: Empirical vs theoretical CDFs of the diagonal elements of \mathbf{R} .



Figure 6.2: Empirical vs theoretical CDFs of the diagonal elements of $\mathbf{\ddot{R}}$.

Therefore, although the resultant noise is colored, WRD preserves the noise variance at the layer of interest. However, the statistical properties of the elements of $\mathbf{\mathring{R}}$ get distorted under puncturing. The non-zero elements of \mathbf{R} (given i.i.d. Rayleigh fading) are known to be independent random variables with the following distributions [46, 153]:

- The off-diagonal elements are circular symmetric complex Gaussian with unit variance.
- The square of the *n*th diagonal element is chi-squared distributed with 2(N n + 1) degrees of freedom, with a probability density function

$$f(g = r_{nn}^2) = \frac{1}{(N-n)!} g^{N-n} e^{-g}, \quad g \ge 0,$$
(6.2)

where chi-squared comes from the sum of squares of Rayleigh distributed random variables. This can be verified by analyzing the Householder matrix construction, as shown in Appendix B of [14].

While the distributions of non-zero off-diagonal elements remain intact, the distributions of diagonal elements at upper layers $n=1, \dots, N-3$, lose degrees of freedom from 2(N-n+1) down to 4, as depicted in Figs. 6.1 and 6.2 for a 4×4 channel matrix, where empirical CDFs of the diagonal elements are compared to theoretical chi-squared CDFs in solid lines. This is caused by the fact that each puncturing operation at layer n renders the nth column of \mathbf{W} dependent on one of the remaining columns, thus eliminating two degrees of freedom from the corresponding distribution of \mathring{r}_{nn}^2 .

6.2 Analysis of Capacity

In this section, we analyse the impact of channel puncturing on the capacity of MIMO systems. Recall from [6,7] that the capacity of a channel from our system model ($\mathsf{E}[\mathbf{nn}^{\mathcal{H}}] = \sigma^2 \mathbf{I}_M$ and $\mathsf{E}[\mathbf{xx}^{\mathcal{H}}] = \mathbf{I}_N$), expressed in bits per seconds per Herts (bps/Hz) is

$$C_{\mathbf{H}} = \log \det \left(\mathbf{I}_{M} + \frac{1}{\sigma^{2}} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{H}^{\mathcal{H}} \right), \tag{6.3}$$

which can be achieved when the transmitter uses Gaussian codebooks. Furthermore, a more generic equation for capacity is

$$C = \log \frac{\det \left(\mathbf{Z} + \mathbf{H} \Sigma \mathbf{H}^{\mathcal{H}} \right)}{\det \mathbf{Z}}, \tag{6.4}$$

where \mathbf{Z} is the covariance matrix of the altered noise and $\boldsymbol{\Sigma} = \mathsf{E}[\mathbf{x}\mathbf{x}^{\mathcal{H}}]$ is the transmit covariance matrix. This equation can be used to account for colored noise [154] resulting from any source of interference. Since \mathbf{n} is circular symmetric complex Gaussian, then the colored noise $\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{n}$ is also circular symmetric complex Gaussian, with a covariance matrix $\mathsf{E}_{\mathbf{n}}[\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{W}]$. Therefore, the capacity of the modified system model, with puncturing as a source of interference, can be expressed as

$$C_{\mathbf{\mathring{R}},\mathrm{Opt}} = \log \frac{\det \left(\mathsf{E}_{\mathbf{n}}[\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{W}] + \mathbf{\mathring{R}}\mathbf{\mathring{R}}^{\mathcal{H}}\right)}{\det \mathsf{E}_{\mathbf{n}}[\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{W}]}.$$
(6.5)

Under perfect knowledge of colored noise, $C_{\mathbf{H}}$ and $C_{\mathbf{R},Opt}$ are identical. Hence, in principle, if an optimal wightening filter is used in the proposed detectors to account for colored noise, there should be no loss in performance. However, the computational complexity of such a filter is arguably larger than the computational savings that are caused by puncturing, which is why we neglected the effect of colored noise in our proposed algorithms. The resultant achievable rate is thus expressed as

$$C_{\mathbf{\mathring{R}}} = \log \det \left(\mathbf{I}_{M} + \frac{1}{\sigma^{2}} \mathbf{\mathring{R}} \mathbf{\mathring{R}}^{\mathcal{H}} \right).$$
(6.6)

In what follows, we seek a lower bound on the achievable rates, assuming symmetric $N \times N$ MIMO, for simplicity. As described in [6] for regular MIMO, using results on random matrices [153] and the notion of unitarily equivalent rectangular matrices, we say that **H** is unitarily equivalent to the bidiagonal matrix

$$\begin{bmatrix} \chi_{2N} & & & \\ \chi_{2(N-1)} & \chi_{2(N-1)} & & \\ & \ddots & \ddots & \\ & & \chi_2 & \chi_2 \end{bmatrix},$$
(6.7)

where χ_j^2 is a chi-squared distributed random variable with *j* degrees of freedom. Note that this can be proved by performing the HT on **H**. Building on the distributions of the punctured matrix, and applying the HT once on the full column of $\mathbf{\mathring{R}}$, we can infer by analogy that $\mathbf{\mathring{R}}$ is unitarily equivalent to the matrix

$$\begin{bmatrix} \chi_4 & & & \\ \chi_{2(N-1)} & \chi_4 & & \\ & & \ddots & \\ & & & \chi_2 \end{bmatrix},$$
(6.8)

with the diagonal entries being all χ_4 except for the last entry, and where all the entries that are not shown are understood to be zeros. We next use the representation in (6.8) to derive a lower bound on (6.6). Define $\Upsilon_j = \frac{1}{\sigma}\chi_j$, the matrix $\mathbf{I}_M + \frac{1}{\sigma^2} \mathbf{\mathring{R}R}^{\mathcal{H}}$ has the form

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 + \Upsilon_4^2 & \Upsilon_4 \Upsilon_{2(N-1)} & & & \\ \Upsilon_4 \Upsilon_{2(N-1)} & 1 + \Upsilon_4^2 + \Upsilon_{2(N-1)}^2 & & & \\ & & 1 + \Upsilon_4^2 & & \\ & & & \ddots & \\ & & & & 1 + \Upsilon_4^2 & \\ & & & & 1 + \Upsilon_4^2 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (6.9)

In evaluating det $\left(\mathbf{I}_{M} + \frac{1}{\sigma^{2}} \mathring{\mathbf{R}} \mathring{\mathbf{R}}^{\mathcal{H}}\right)$ we get, from the product of the N main diagonal

terms in (6.9), a contribution of the form $L_{\mathbf{\mathring{R}}} + \boldsymbol{\varpi}$ where

$$L_{\mathbf{\mathring{R}}} = \left(1 + \Upsilon_4^2\right)^{N-1} (1 + \Upsilon_2^2), \tag{6.10}$$

and ϖ is a positive number. It can be easily noted that every negative term in the remainder of determinant computations is cancelled by a distinct positive contribution to ϖ , and that ϖ contains more terms than needed. Therefore $C_{\mathbf{R}} > L_{\mathbf{R}}$ with probability one, and we have our lower bound. Comparing this bound with the lower bound on $C_{\mathbf{H}}$ [6]

$$L_{\mathbf{H}} = \prod_{j=1}^{N} \left(1 + \Upsilon_{2j}^2 \right), \tag{6.11}$$

we note that despite the loss in degrees of freedom, both bounds are dominated by the term $(1 + \Upsilon_2^2)$, and hence the gap in achievable rates will appear as a shift that grows wider with larger number of antennas, and not a change in the slope.

Figures 6.3, 6.4, and 6.5 show the capacity plots alongside the bounds for 4×4 , 16×16 , and 64×64 MIMO, respectively. The plots verify the analysis: $C_{\rm H}$ and $C_{\rm R,Opt}$ are identical, the lower bounds are tight, and the gap is a shift that grows with MIMO order. Note that the studied capacities correspond to making use of the entire channel under a specific decomposition. It can be argued that with special layer ordering and layer-of-interest selection, such as with SSSD, or with optimized power allocation schemes, these gaps can be significantly reduced.

6.3 Analysis of Achievable Diversity Gain

It is known that ML detection achieves full receive diversity M, and it can be shown that the N/C and PN/C detectors, being special cases of ZF with decision feedback, can only achieve a receive diversity gain of 1. Moreover, it can be







Figure 6.4: Achievable rates (bps/Hz) with 16×16 MIMO.



Figure 6.5: Achievable rates (bps/Hz) with 64×64 MIMO.

argued that both SSD (VSSD) and LORD also achieve full diversity, since they exploit the full channel matrix \mathbf{H} to compute distance metrics. In what follows, we study the achievable diversity gains of PML (PCD), SSSD, and SLORD.

6.3.1 Punctured ML Detector / Punctured Chase Detector

To capture the diversity order of PML, we derive the pairwise error probability (PEP). Suppose that $\mathbf{x}^{(1)}$ is transmitted, while $\mathbf{x}^{(2)}$ is erroneously detected, the PEP can be expressed as

$$\Pr(\mathbf{x}^{(1)} \to \mathbf{x}^{(2)}) = \Pr\left(\left\|\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}(\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}^{(2)})\right\|^{2} \le \left\|\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}(\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}^{(1)})\right\|^{2}\right)$$
(6.12)

$$= \Pr\left(\left\|\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{H}(\mathbf{x}^{(1)} - \mathbf{x}^{(2)}) + \mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{n}\right\|^{2} \le \left\|\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{n}\right\|^{2}\right)$$
(6.13)

$$= \Pr\left(\Re(\mathbf{n}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{W}\overset{\circ}{\mathbf{R}}\mathbf{d}) \ge \frac{1}{2} \left\| \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{R}}\mathbf{d} \right\|^{2}\right), \tag{6.14}$$

where $\mathbf{d} \triangleq \mathbf{x}^{(1)} - \mathbf{x}^{(2)}$. Since **n** consists of circular symmetric complex Gaussian random variables, then so is $\mathbf{n}^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{W} \mathbf{\mathring{R}} \mathbf{d}$. It is easy to show that

$$\mathsf{E}\left[\mathbf{n}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{W}\mathbf{\mathring{R}}\mathbf{d}\right] = 0 \tag{6.15}$$

$$\mathsf{E}\left[(\mathbf{n}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{W}\mathbf{\mathring{R}}\mathbf{d})(\mathbf{n}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{W}\mathbf{\mathring{R}}\mathbf{d})^{\mathcal{H}}\right] = \mathsf{E}\left[\mathrm{Tr}(\mathbf{\mathring{R}}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{W}\mathbf{\mathring{R}}\mathbf{d}\mathbf{d}^{\mathcal{H}})\right]$$
(6.16)

$$= \sigma^{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left((\mathbf{W} \mathring{\mathbf{R}})^{\mathcal{H}} (\mathbf{W} \mathring{\mathbf{R}}) \mathbf{d} \mathbf{d}^{\mathcal{H}} \right), \qquad (6.17)$$

where $\operatorname{Tr}(\cdot)$ is introduced since $(\mathbf{n}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{W}\mathring{\mathbf{R}}\mathbf{d})(\mathbf{n}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{W}\mathring{\mathbf{R}}\mathbf{d})^{\mathcal{H}}$ is a scalar. Hence, we have

$$\Re(\mathbf{n}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{W}\mathring{\mathbf{R}}\mathbf{d}) \sim \mathcal{N}\left(0, \frac{\sigma^2}{2} \operatorname{Tr}\left((\mathbf{W}\mathring{\mathbf{R}})^{\mathcal{H}}(\mathbf{W}\mathring{\mathbf{R}})\mathbf{d}\mathbf{d}^{\mathcal{H}}\right)\right)$$
(6.18)

$$= \mathcal{N}\left(0, \frac{\sigma^2}{2} \left\|\mathbf{W}\mathring{\mathbf{R}}\mathbf{d}\right\|^2\right), \tag{6.19}$$

and therefore,

$$\Pr(\mathbf{x}^{(1)} \to \mathbf{x}^{(2)}) = Q\left(\frac{\left\|\mathbf{\mathring{R}d}\right\|^{2}}{\sqrt{2\sigma^{2}}\left\|\mathbf{W}\mathbf{\mathring{R}d}\right\|}\right)$$

$$\leq Q\left(\sqrt{\frac{\left\|\mathbf{\mathring{R}d}\right\|^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}\left\|\mathbf{W}\right\|_{\mathrm{F}}^{2}}}\right),$$
(6.20)
(6.21)

where the inequality holds since $\|\mathbf{W}\mathbf{\mathring{R}d}\| \leq \|\mathbf{W}\|_{\mathrm{F}} \|\mathbf{\mathring{R}d}\|$ (Sec. 5.2 in [155]). Moreover, using union bound, we have

$$\Pr(\mathbf{x}^{(1)} \to \mathbf{x}^{(2)}) \le Q\left(\sqrt{\frac{\left\|\mathbf{\mathring{R}d}_{\min}\right\|^{2}}{2\sigma^{2} \left\|\mathbf{W}\right\|_{\mathrm{F}}^{2}}}\right)$$
(6.22)

$$\leq \sum_{\mathbf{d}\in\Omega,\mathbf{d}\neq0} \mathcal{Q}\left(\sqrt{\frac{\left\|\mathbf{\mathring{R}d}\right\|^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}\|\mathbf{W}\|_{\mathrm{F}}^{2}}}\right),\tag{6.23}$$

where $\Omega \triangleq \{\mathbf{d} = \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x} \mid \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{X}\}$, and $\mathbf{d}_{\min} = \arg \min_{\mathbf{d} \in \Omega, \mathbf{d} \neq 0} \left\| \mathbf{\mathring{R}d} \right\|^2$. Finally, using the Chernoff bound, the average PEP is upper bounded as

$$\mathsf{E}\left[\Pr(\mathbf{x}^{(1)} \to \mathbf{x}^{(2)})\right] \le \sum_{\mathbf{d}\in\Omega, \mathbf{d}\neq0} \mathsf{E}\left[\exp\left(-\frac{\left\|\mathbf{\mathring{R}d}\right\|^{2}}{4\sigma^{2} \left\|\mathbf{W}\right\|_{\mathrm{F}}^{2}}\right)\right]$$
(6.24)

$$= \sum_{\mathbf{d}\in\Omega,\mathbf{d}\neq0} \mathsf{E}\left[\exp\left(-\frac{\left\|\mathbf{\mathring{R}d}\right\|^{2}}{4N\sigma^{2}}\right)\right],\tag{6.25}$$

where $\|\mathbf{W}\|_{\mathrm{F}}^2 = N$ since the columns of **W** were normalized in (5.4).

For regular ML detection [27, 156, 157], we have

$$\mathsf{E}\left[\Pr(\mathbf{x}^{(1)} \to \mathbf{x}^{(2)})\right] \le \sum_{\mathbf{d} \in \Omega, \mathbf{d} \ne 0} \mathsf{E}\left[\exp\left(-\frac{\|\mathbf{H}\mathbf{d}\|^2}{4\sigma^2}\right)\right]$$
(6.26)

$$\leq \sum_{\mathbf{d}\in\Omega,\mathbf{d}\neq0} \det\left(\mathbf{I}_N + \frac{\mathbf{d}\mathbf{d}^{\mathcal{H}}}{4\sigma^2}\right)^{-M},\qquad(6.27)$$

where the expected value over the elements of \mathbf{H} results in full receive diversity M, because each column of \mathbf{H} contains M independent Rayleigh distributed random variables, whose square is exponentially distributed. However, with $\mathbf{\mathring{R}}$ instead of \mathbf{H} in PML detection, the first N-1 columns have single diagonal elements, whose squares are chi-squared distributed with 4 degrees of freedom, which corresponds to two exponentially distributed complex random variables, and hence a receive diversity order equal to 2. Only column N of $\mathbf{\mathring{R}}$ provides a diversity equal to M.
Therefore, by analogy with (6.26), the average PEP for the PML detector is

$$\mathsf{E}\left[\Pr(\mathbf{x}^{(1)} \to \mathbf{x}^{(2)})\right] \le \sum_{\mathbf{d} \in \Omega, \mathbf{d} \ne 0} \det\left(\mathbf{I}_N + \frac{\mathbf{d}\mathbf{d}^{\mathcal{H}}}{4N\sigma^2}\right)^{-2}, \tag{6.28}$$

and hence PML detection can not achieve a receive diversity gain of order greater than 2. However, noting that PML and PCD are identical (Sec. 5.4), and knowing that the regular CD achieves a receive diversity order of 2 (more on that in Sec. 6.4.2), we conclude that channel puncturing does not reduce the diversity gain of the CD.

6.3.2 Symbol-Based Subspace Detector

To capture the diversity order of SSSD, we derive a modified PEP. Without loss of generality, we assume that layer N is the root layer of interest. Hence, an error occurs when $x_N^{(1)}$ is transmitted and $x_N^{(2)}$ is erroneously detected, with probability

$$\Pr(\boldsymbol{x}_{N}^{(1)} \rightarrow \boldsymbol{x}_{N}^{(2)}) = \Pr\left(\left\|\boldsymbol{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\left(\boldsymbol{y}-\boldsymbol{H}_{1}\boldsymbol{x}_{1}^{(2)}-\boldsymbol{h}_{N}\boldsymbol{x}_{N}^{(2)}\right)\right\|^{2} \leq \left\|\boldsymbol{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\left(\boldsymbol{y}-\boldsymbol{H}_{1}\boldsymbol{x}_{1}^{(1)}-\boldsymbol{h}_{N}\boldsymbol{x}_{N}^{(1)}\right)\right\|^{2}\right)$$

$$(6.29)$$

$$= \Pr\left(\left\|\boldsymbol{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\boldsymbol{H}_{1}\left(\boldsymbol{x}_{1}^{(1)}-\boldsymbol{x}_{1}^{(2)}\right)+\boldsymbol{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\boldsymbol{h}_{N}\left(\boldsymbol{x}_{N}^{(1)}-\boldsymbol{x}_{N}^{(2)}\right)+\boldsymbol{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\boldsymbol{n}\right\|^{2} \leq \left\|\boldsymbol{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\boldsymbol{n}\right\|^{2}\right)$$

$$(6.30)$$

$$=\Pr\left(\left\|\mathring{\boldsymbol{R}}_{1}\left(\boldsymbol{x}_{1}^{(1)}-\boldsymbol{x}_{1}^{(2)}\right)+\mathring{\boldsymbol{r}}_{N}\left(\boldsymbol{x}_{N}^{(1)}-\boldsymbol{x}_{N}^{(2)}\right)+\boldsymbol{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\boldsymbol{n}\right\|^{2} \leq \left\|\boldsymbol{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\boldsymbol{n}\right\|^{2}\right),$$

$$(6.31)$$

where $\mathbf{y} = \mathbf{H}_1 \mathbf{x}_1^{(1)} + \mathbf{h}_N x_N^{(1)} + \mathbf{n}$, $\mathbf{x}_1^{(2)} = \hat{\mathbf{x}}_1(x_N^{(2)})$ is computed as in Sec. 5.4, \mathbf{h}_N and $\mathring{\mathbf{r}}_N$ are the *N*th column of \mathbf{H} and $\mathring{\mathbf{R}}$, and $\mathbf{H}_1 \in C^{M \times (N-1)}$ and $\mathring{\mathbf{R}}_1 \in C^{M \times (N-1)}$ are the first N - 1 columns of \mathbf{H} and $\mathring{\mathbf{R}}$, respectively. Let $\mathring{\mathbf{\Delta}} = \mathring{\mathbf{R}}_1 \left(\mathbf{x}_1^{(1)} - \mathbf{x}_1^{(2)} \right)$, and

let $d=x_N^{(1)}-x_N^{(2)};$ we have

$$\Pr\left(\boldsymbol{x}_{N}^{(1)} \to \boldsymbol{x}_{N}^{(2)}\right) = \Pr\left(\left\|\boldsymbol{\mathring{\mathbf{r}}}_{N}d + \left(\boldsymbol{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\boldsymbol{\mathbf{n}} + \boldsymbol{\mathring{\Delta}}\right)\right\|^{2} \leq \left\|\boldsymbol{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\boldsymbol{\mathbf{n}}\right\|^{2}\right)$$
$$= \Pr\left(\left\|\boldsymbol{\mathring{\mathbf{r}}}_{N}d\right\|^{2} \leq -2\Re\left(\left(\boldsymbol{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\boldsymbol{\mathbf{n}} + \boldsymbol{\mathring{\Delta}}\right)^{\mathcal{H}}\boldsymbol{\mathring{\mathbf{r}}}_{N}d\right) - \left\|\boldsymbol{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\boldsymbol{\mathbf{n}} + \boldsymbol{\mathring{\Delta}}\right\|^{2} + \left\|\boldsymbol{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\boldsymbol{\mathbf{n}}\right\|^{2}\right)$$
$$\leq \Pr\left(-2\Re\left(\left(\boldsymbol{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\boldsymbol{\mathbf{n}} + \boldsymbol{\mathring{\Delta}}\right)^{\mathcal{H}}\boldsymbol{\mathring{\mathbf{r}}}_{N}d\right) \geq \left\|\boldsymbol{\mathring{\mathbf{r}}}_{N}d\right\|^{2} - \left\|\boldsymbol{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\boldsymbol{\mathbf{n}}\right\|^{2}\right). \quad (6.32)$$

Since **n** and the columns of **H** are circular symmetric complex Gaussian, then so is $\mathbf{n}^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{W} \mathring{\mathbf{r}}_N d + \mathring{\Delta}^{\mathcal{H}} \mathring{\mathbf{r}}_N d$. Thus, it can be shown that

$$\mathsf{E}\left[(\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{n} + \mathring{\mathbf{\Delta}})^{\mathcal{H}}\mathring{\mathbf{r}}_{N}d\right] = 0 \tag{6.33}$$

$$\mathsf{E}\left[\left(\left(\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{n}+\mathring{\mathbf{\Delta}}\right)^{\mathcal{H}}\mathring{\mathbf{r}}_{N}d\right)\left(\left(\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{n}+\mathring{\mathbf{\Delta}}\right)^{\mathcal{H}}\mathring{\mathbf{r}}_{N}d\right)^{\mathcal{H}}\right]=\sigma^{2}\|\mathbf{W}\mathring{\mathbf{r}}_{N}d\|^{2}+\left\|\mathring{\mathbf{\Delta}}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathring{\mathbf{r}}_{N}d\right\|^{2}$$
(6.34)

$$\Re\left(\left(\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{n}+\mathring{\mathbf{\Delta}}\right)^{\mathcal{H}}\mathring{\mathbf{r}}_{N}d\right)\sim\mathcal{N}\left(0,\frac{\sigma^{2}}{2}\|\mathbf{W}\mathring{\mathbf{r}}_{N}d\|^{2}+\frac{1}{2}\left\|\mathring{\mathbf{\Delta}}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathring{\mathbf{r}}_{N}d\right\|^{2}\right).$$
(6.35)

Hence, continuing from (6.32), we have

$$\Pr\left(x_{N}^{(1)} \to x_{N}^{(2)}\right) \leq Q\left(\frac{\|\mathbf{\mathring{r}}_{N}d\|^{2} - \|\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{n}\|^{2}}{\sqrt{2\sigma^{2}\|\mathbf{W}^{\mathbf{\mathring{r}}}_{N}d\|^{2} + 2\left\|\mathbf{\mathring{\Delta}}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{\mathring{r}}_{N}d\right\|^{2}}}\right)$$
(6.36)

$$= Q\left(\sqrt{\frac{\|\mathbf{\mathring{r}}_{N}d\|^{4} - 2\|\mathbf{\mathring{r}}_{N}d\|^{2}\|\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{n}\|^{2} + \|\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{n}\|^{4}}{2\sigma^{2}\|\mathbf{W}\mathbf{\mathring{r}}_{N}d\|^{2} + 2\|\mathbf{\mathring{\Delta}}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{\mathring{r}}_{N}d\|^{2}}}\right)$$
(6.37)

$$\leq Q\left(\sqrt{\frac{\left\|\mathbf{\mathring{r}}_{N}d\right\|^{4}-2\left\|\mathbf{\mathring{r}}_{N}d\right\|^{2}\left\|\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{n}\right\|^{2}}{\left\|\mathbf{\mathring{r}}_{N}d\right\|^{2}\left(2\sigma^{2}\left\|\mathbf{W}\right\|_{\mathrm{F}}^{2}+2\left\|\mathbf{\mathring{\Delta}}\right\|^{2}\right)}}\right)$$
(6.38)

$$= Q\left(\sqrt{\frac{\left\|\mathbf{\mathring{r}}_{N}d\right\|^{2} - 2\left\|\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{n}\right\|^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}\left\|\mathbf{W}\right\|_{\mathrm{F}}^{2} + 2\left\|\mathbf{\mathring{\Delta}}\right\|^{2}}}\right)$$
(6.39)

$$= Q\left(\sqrt{\frac{d^2 \|\mathbf{\mathring{r}}_N\|^2 - 2N\sigma^2}{2N\sigma^2 + 2 \|\mathbf{\mathring{\Delta}}\|^2}}\right).$$
(6.40)

Then, using union and Chernoff bounds, with $\Phi \triangleq \{d = x - \acute{x} \mid x, \acute{x} \in \mathcal{M}\} (|d|^2 = dd^{\mathcal{H}})$, the average PEP can be upper bounded as

$$\mathsf{E}\left[\Pr\left(x_{N}^{(1)} \to x_{N}^{(2)}\right)\right] \leq \sum_{d \in \Phi, d \neq 0} \mathsf{E}\left[\exp\left(-\frac{|d|^{2} \|\mathring{\mathbf{r}}_{N}\|^{2} - 2N\sigma^{2}}{4N\sigma^{2} + 4\left\|\mathring{\Delta}\right\|^{2}}\right)\right]$$
(6.41)
$$= \sum_{d \in \Phi, d \neq 0} \mathsf{E}\left[\exp\left(-\frac{|d|^{2} \|\mathring{\mathbf{r}}_{N}\|^{2}}{4N\sigma^{2} + 4\left\|\mathring{\Delta}\right\|^{2}}\right)\exp\left(\frac{2N\sigma^{2}}{4N\sigma^{2} + 4\left\|\mathring{\Delta}\right\|^{2}}\right)\right]$$
(6.42)

$$\approx \sum_{d \in \Phi, d \neq 0} \mathsf{E} \left[\exp \left(-\frac{|d|^2 \| \mathring{\mathbf{r}}_N \|^2}{4N\sigma^2 + 4 \left\| \mathring{\boldsymbol{\Delta}} \right\|^2} \right) \right], \tag{6.43}$$

where the last approximation holds since the second exponential term is less that $\exp(1)$, with equality at high SNR ($\sigma^2 = 0$). Finally, taking the expectation over all squared elements of $\mathring{\mathbf{r}}_N$, which are exponentially distributed, we obtain

$$\mathsf{E}\left[\Pr\left(x_{N}^{(1)} \to x_{N}^{(2)}\right)\right] \leq \sum_{d \in \Phi, d \neq 0} \prod_{l=1}^{M} \left(\frac{|d|^{2}}{4N\sigma^{2} + 4\left\|\mathring{\Delta}\right\|^{2}} + 1\right)^{-1} \tag{6.44}$$

$$\leq \sum_{d \in \Phi, d \neq 0} \left(\frac{|d|^2}{4N\sigma^2 + 4 \left\| \mathring{\boldsymbol{\Delta}} \right\|^2} \right)^{M} . \tag{6.45}$$

The denominator $4N\sigma^2 + 4 \| \mathring{\Delta} \|^2$ represents noise plus interference, hence, SSSD appears to achieve a full receive diversity gain at the layer of interest when BERs are plotted in terms of signal-to-interference-plus-noise ratio (SINR). In the case of SLORD, following a similar derivation, the average PEP can be expressed as

$$\mathsf{E}\left[\Pr\left(x_{N}^{(1)} \to x_{N}^{(2)}\right)\right] \le \sum_{d \in \Phi, d \neq 0} \left(\frac{|d|^{2}}{4N\sigma^{2} + 4\|\mathbf{\Delta}\|^{2}}\right)^{-M}, \tag{6.46}$$

where $\boldsymbol{\Delta} = \mathbf{R}_1 \left(\mathbf{x}_1^{(1)} - \mathbf{x}_1^{(2)} \right)$, and $\mathbf{R}_1 \in C^{M \times (N-1)}$ consists of the first N-1 columns of \mathbf{R} . Note that $\overset{\circ}{\boldsymbol{\Delta}}$ can be expressed as

$$\overset{\circ}{\mathbf{\Delta}} = \left[\mathring{r}_{11} \left(x_1^{(1)} - x_1^{(2)} \right), \ \dots \ , \mathring{r}_{(N-1)(N-1)} \left(x_{N-1}^{(1)} - x_{N-1}^{(2)} \right), 0 \right]^T, \tag{6.47}$$

and consequently, $\left\| \mathring{\boldsymbol{\Delta}} \right\|^2$ is upper bounded by

$$\left\| \mathring{\Delta} \right\|_{\max}^2 = \mathring{r}_{11}^2 \varrho^2 + \cdots + \mathring{r}_{(N-1)(N-1)}^2 \varrho^2, \tag{6.48}$$

when a one-bit slicing error (assuming Gray mapping) occurs on all upper layers, with $\rho = 2/\log(2^q)$ for a 2^q-QAM constellation. Since the expected values of the chi-squared-distributed square of diagonal elements in **R** are greater than those in $\mathring{\mathbf{R}}$ (expected value equals degrees of freedom), we have $\|\mathbf{\Delta}\|^2 > \|\mathring{\mathbf{\Delta}}\|^2$, and hence SSSD outperforms SLORD. Furthermore, with higher order constellations, $\|\mathring{\mathbf{\Delta}}\|^2_{\max}$ is significantly reduced, boosting the performance of SSSD.

6.4 Characterization and Analysis of BER

6.4.1 Punctured N/C Detector

Let $P_n(r_{nn})$ and $\dot{P}_n(\mathring{r}_{nn})$ be the probabilities of bit error conditioned on r_{nn} and \mathring{r}_{nn} , when detecting x_n $(1 \le n \le N)$, for N/C and PN/C, respectively. Consider the PN/C detector, and assume as in [46] normalized binary phase shift keying (BPSK), where $\mathcal{M} = \{-1, 1\}$, we have

$$\acute{P}_{N}(\mathring{r}_{NN}) = Q\left(\sqrt{\frac{2\mathring{r}_{NN}^{2}}{\sigma^{2}}}\right) \tag{6.49}$$

at layer N. At the remaining layers, if the cancellation at layer N is correct, we get $\dot{P}_n(\mathring{r}_{nn}) = Q\left(\sqrt{\frac{2\mathring{r}_{nn}^2}{\sigma^2}}\right)$. Otherwise, we have

$$\bar{y}_n - \mathring{r}_{nN} \hat{x}_N^{\text{PN/C}} = \mathring{r}_{nn} x_n + \mathring{r}_{nN} (x_N - \hat{x}_N^{\text{PN/C}}) + w_n.$$
(6.50)

Noting that $x_N - \hat{x}_N^{\text{PN/C}} = \pm 2$, the variance of interference plus noise is $\sigma^2 + 4$, and hence the BER becomes $\dot{P_n}(\mathring{r}_{nn}) = Q\left(\sqrt{\frac{2\mathring{r}_{nn}^2}{\sigma^2 + 4}}\right)$. Thus, the resultant BER for detecting x_n can be written as

$$\dot{P}_{n}(\ddot{r}_{nn}) = Q\left(\sqrt{\frac{2\ddot{r}_{nn}^{2}}{\sigma^{2}}}\right) \left(1 - \dot{P}_{N}(\ddot{r}_{NN})\right) + Q\left(\sqrt{\frac{2\ddot{r}_{nn}^{2}}{\sigma^{2} + 4}}\right) \dot{P}_{N}(\ddot{r}_{NN}).$$
(6.51)

The BER for N/C with regular QRD at layer $n \ (n=N-1,\cdots,1)$ is [46]

$$P_n(r_{nn}) = \sum_{\psi_{n+1} \in D_{n+1}} P_n(\operatorname{err}|r_{nn}, \psi_{n+1}) P_{n+1}(\psi_{n+1})$$
(6.52)

$$P_n(\text{err}|r_{nn},\psi_{n+1}) = Q\left(\sqrt{\frac{2r_{nn}^2}{\sigma^2 + 4\psi_{n+1}\psi_{n+1}^T}}\right),\tag{6.53}$$

where $P_{n+1}(\psi_{n+1})$ can be computed recursively, and ψ_n is an instance of D_n , the set of all possible error patterns leading to layer n, which are represented as binary vectors with 1 in the place of incorrect layer detection:

$$D_n = \{ [\underbrace{00\cdots0}_{N-n+1}], [\underbrace{00\cdots1}_{N-n+1}], \cdots [\underbrace{11\cdots1}_{N-n+1}] \}.$$
(6.54)

Note that with WRD, we have a smaller set $\dot{D}_n = \{[00\cdots 0], [00\cdots 1]\} \subset D_n$, where $|\dot{D}_n| = 2 < |D_n| = 2^{N-n+1}$. Therefore, error propagation is largely reduced.

However, having fewer terms in the BER formula does not mean a better BER performance. The average BER at layer n is obtained by taking the expectation over r_{nn}^2 and \mathring{r}_{nn}^2 . Since \mathring{r}_{nn}^2 has smaller values than r_{nn}^2 at layers $1 \le n \le N-2$, and

since $Q(\cdot)$ is a monotonically decreasing function, PN/C will result in performance degradation. But layer N has the worst performance, despite not being affected by noise coloring, since more errors occur at this layer due to low array gain, and they get propagated to higher layers. Therefore, the performance of both N/C and PN/C detectors will be dominated by $\dot{P}_N(\dot{r}_{NN}) = P_N(r_{NN})$, and all computational savings in the proposed PN/C detector come at a negligible cost.

In equation form, the function $G(d, \gamma)$ provides the average BER over a *d*-fold diversity Rayleigh fading channel with mean branch SNR γ :

$$G(d,\gamma) = \left[\frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)\right]^{d} \sum_{k=0}^{d-1} \binom{d-1+k}{k} \left[\frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)\right]^{k}, \quad (6.55)$$

where $\mu = \sqrt{\gamma/(1+\gamma)}$. The average BER with PN/C at layers $1 \le n \le N-1$ is thus expressed as

$$\dot{P}_{n} = G\left(2, \frac{1}{\sigma^{2}}\right)(1 - \dot{P}_{N}) + G\left(2, \frac{1}{\sigma^{2} + 4}\right)\dot{P}_{N},$$
(6.56)

where layers $1 \le n \le N-1$ only provide a 2-fold diversity due to puncturing. Similarly, the average BERs at layer n < N for N/C can be obtained by replacing $P_n(\operatorname{err}|r_{nn},\psi_{n+1})$ in (6.52) by its average over r_{nn} , $P_n(\operatorname{err}|\psi_{n+1})$, where

$$P_n(\operatorname{err}|\psi_{n+1}) = \mathsf{E}[P_n(\operatorname{err}|r_{nn},\psi_{n+1})]$$
(6.57)

$$= G\left(N - n + 1, \frac{1}{\sigma^2 + 4\psi_{n+1}\psi_{n+1}^T}\right), \tag{6.58}$$

with the numerator in γ being 1 because we assume normalization. We have

$$\dot{P}_{N}(\dot{r}_{NN}) = P_{N}(r_{NN}) = G(1, 1/\sigma^{2})$$
(6.59)

$$=\frac{1}{2}\left(1-\sqrt{\frac{1/\sigma^2}{1+1/\sigma^2}}\right).$$
 (6.60)

Note that these equations can be extended to an arbitrary constellation size by

expressing the function $G(d, \gamma)$ as $G(d, \gamma, |\mathcal{M}|)$. The function $G(d, \gamma, 2^q)$ provides the average BER of 2^q -QAM over a *d*-fold diversity Rayleigh fading channel with mean branch SNR γ [158, 159]:

$$G(d,\gamma,2^{q}) = \frac{\sqrt{2^{q}}-1}{2^{q}} \left[\left(\sqrt{2^{q}}-1\right) + 4I_{1} - \left(\sqrt{2^{q}}-1\right)I_{2} \right]$$
(6.61)

$$I_{1} = \left[\frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)\right]^{d} \sum_{k=0}^{d-1} \binom{d-1+k}{k} \left[\frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)\right]^{k}$$
(6.62)

$$I_{2} = \begin{cases} \frac{4}{\pi} \mu \tan^{-1} \mu & \text{for } d = 1 \\ \frac{4}{\pi} \sum_{k=0}^{d-1} \frac{(2k)!}{2^{2k} (k!)^{2}} \left[\left(\frac{1}{1 + \bar{\varrho}\gamma} \right)^{k} \mu \tan^{-1} \mu \right] \\ + \frac{2}{\pi} \sum_{k=1}^{d-1} \frac{(2k)!}{2^{2k} (k!)^{2}} \left[\sum_{\nu=1}^{k} \frac{2^{2\nu} \nu!}{(2\nu)!} \left(\frac{1}{1 + \bar{\varrho}\gamma} \right)^{k-\nu+1} \\ \times \left(\frac{\bar{\varrho}\gamma}{1 + 2\bar{\varrho}\gamma} \right) (\nu - 1)! \left(\frac{1}{1 + 2\bar{\varrho}\gamma} \right)^{\nu-1} \right] & \text{for } d \ge 2 \end{cases}$$

$$\mu = \sqrt{\frac{\bar{\varrho}\gamma}{1 + \bar{\varrho}\gamma}}, \qquad \bar{\varrho} = \frac{3\log(2^{q})}{2(2^{q} - 1)} \qquad (6.64)$$

When using $G(d, \gamma, 2^q)$ in (6.52) and (6.51), the constant term 4, which represents the variance of the error caused by wrong decisions on lower layers, should be modified. With 2^q -QAM, and assuming normalized constellations, an error at a lower layer will more likely incur a noise of variance $\rho^2 = (2/\log(2^q))^2$ at upper layers.

6.4.2 Punctured Chase Detector

To capture the performance of the PCD, we follow a probabilistic approach similar to that in [160]. Denote by $\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}}$, $\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{CD}}$, and $\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{PCD}}$, the vector outputs, and by P^{ML} , P^{CD} , and P^{PCD} , the vector error rates, of the ML detector, the CD, and the PCD, respectively (vector error rates and BERs are related by a scaling factor). We

start by the case of a regular CD; we have

$$\boldsymbol{P}^{\text{CD}} = \mathsf{E}_{\mathbf{R},\mathbf{x}} \bigg[\Pr\left(\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{CD}} \neq \mathbf{x} \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x} \right) \bigg]. \tag{6.65}$$

For clarity of presentation, we drop the expectation operator in what follows. Clearly, $P^{ML} < P^{CD}$ is a lower bound; we seek a tight upper bound. We further have

$$P^{\text{CD}} = \Pr(\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{CD}} \neq \mathbf{x} \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x})$$

= $\Pr(\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{CD}} \neq \mathbf{x} \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} \neq \mathbf{x}) \Pr(\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} \neq \mathbf{x} \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x})$
+ $\Pr(\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{CD}} \neq \mathbf{x} \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} = \mathbf{x}) \Pr(\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} = \mathbf{x} \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}).$ (6.66)

The first term in (6.66) is upper bounded by $P^{ML} = \Pr(\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{ML} \neq \mathbf{x} | \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x})$. To simplify the second term, we expand

$$Pr(\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{CD} \neq \mathbf{x} \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{ML} = \mathbf{x})$$

$$= Pr(\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{CD} \neq \mathbf{x} \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{ML} = \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{S}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{R})) \times Pr(\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{S}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{R}) \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{ML} = \mathbf{x})$$

$$(6.68)$$

+ Pr(
$$\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{CD}} \neq \mathbf{x} \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} = \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x} \notin \mathcal{S}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{R}) \rangle \times \Pr(\mathbf{x} \notin \mathcal{S}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{R}) \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} = \mathbf{x}).$$

(6.69)

We can note that

$$\Pr(\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{CD}} \neq \mathbf{x} \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} = \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{S}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{R})) \triangleq P^{\text{A}} = 0, \text{ and}$$
(6.70)

$$\Pr(\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{CD} \neq \mathbf{x} \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{ML} = \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x} \notin \mathcal{S}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{R})) = 1.$$
(6.71)

Hence, substituting back in (6.67), we get

$$\Pr(\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{CD}} \neq \mathbf{x} | \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} = \mathbf{x}) = \Pr(\mathbf{x} \notin \mathcal{S}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{R}) | \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} = \mathbf{x}) \triangleq P^{\text{B}}.$$
 (6.72)



Figure 6.6: Empirical error probabilities with CD - 4×4 MIMO - 16-QAM.

Substituting back in (6.66), the second term is upper bounded by $P^{\rm B}$, which effectively is equivalent to the probability that the generated list does not contain the true vector. But since we exhaustively search over all possible values of \hat{x}_N in \mathcal{M} , this probability will in effect be the probability of error in SIC on upper layers. Therefore, we have

$$P^{\rm ML} < P^{\rm CD} < P^{\rm ML} + P^{\rm B}.$$
 (6.73)

Similarly, we can derive the bounds for P^{PCD} by expanding $\Pr(\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{PCD}} \neq \mathbf{x} | \mathring{\mathbf{R}}, \mathbf{x})$ and substituting $\mathcal{S}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{R})$ with $\mathcal{P}(\bar{\mathbf{y}}, \mathring{\mathbf{R}})$. However, the modified P^{A} and P^{B} , \acute{P}^{A} and \acute{P}^{B} , will evaluate differently:

$$\mathbf{P}^{\mathbf{A}} \triangleq \Pr(\mathbf{x}^{\mathrm{PCD}} \neq \mathbf{x} \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^{\mathrm{ML}} = \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{\bar{y}}, \mathbf{R})) \neq 0$$
(6.74)

$$\dot{P}^{\mathrm{B}} \triangleq \Pr(\mathbf{x} \notin \mathcal{P}(\bar{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{\mathring{R}}) \mid \mathbf{\mathring{R}}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{\hat{x}}^{\mathrm{ML}} = \mathbf{x}) > P^{\mathrm{B}}.$$
(6.75)

modified distance metric might not select it as the HO vector. Therefore, the bounds for the PCD are

$$P^{\mathrm{ML}} < P^{\mathrm{PCD}} < P^{\mathrm{ML}} + \dot{P}^{\mathrm{B}} + \xi, \qquad (6.76)$$

where $\xi = \dot{P}^{A}(1 - \dot{P}^{B})(1 - P^{ML})$. As shown in Fig. 6.6, the dominant factors that affect the performances of P^{CD} and P^{PCD} at high SNR are P^{B} and \dot{P}^{B} , respectively. Thus, \dot{P}^{A} , and hence ξ , can be safely neglected. Nevertheless, since SIC over a punctured channel matrix is more prone to errors, we have $\dot{P}^{B} > P^{B}$, and accordingly $P^{PCD} > P^{CD}$. But layers with smallest degrees of freedom (equal to 4) dominate the BER performance, and they exist in both the CD and the PCD. Therefore, the performance gap will be in the form of a shift, and there is no loss in diversity gain.

An alternative approximate approach to study the BER performance of the CD starting from N/C exists [48], where the gain of generating a list by considering more candidate symbols at layer N can be seen as an effective SNR gain at that layer. The gain factor is given by

$$\Gamma = \frac{\delta_{Ls}}{\delta_N},\tag{6.77}$$

where δ_N is the distance between the transmitted symbol and the nearest decision boundary in \mathcal{M} , and δ_{Ls} is the distance to the nearest decision boundary of the list (an error occurs when x_N is not in the list). Since in our case the list is the entirety of \mathcal{M} , the SNR gain is $\Gamma = \infty$. In other words, no error is propagated from layer N, which was the limiting layer in N/C. Therefore, the BER of CD and PCD can be obtained by summing the combinations of BERs on all layers n < N, which are computed using (6.52) and (6.51), respectively, while setting



Figure 6.7: Theoretical (solid lines) vs simulated BERs - 4×4 MIMO - 16-QAM.



Figure 6.8: Theoretical (solid lines) vs simulated BERs - $16\!\times\!\!16$ MIMO - 16-QAM.

 $\acute{P_N}(\mathring{r}_{NN})=P_N(r_{NN})=0$ in these equations. Hence, we have

$$P^{\text{PCD}} = (N-1) \left[G\left(2, \frac{1}{\sigma^2}\right) \right].$$
(6.78)
109

Note here that P^{PCD} stands for BER instead of vector error rate.

Figures 6.7 and 6.8 show the theoretical and simulated BERs with 16-QAM, for 4×4 and 16×16 MIMO systems. Note that the CD and PCD theoretical curves are not true upper bounds on error performance, but rather close approximations [48]. The gap between punctured and unpunctured schemes increases with the number of antennas. However, this gap can be reduced by employing partial puncturing, at the expense of less computational savings. For example, the partially-punctured N/C (PPN/C) detector and the partially-punctured CD (PPCD) correspond to the case where the entries above the diagonal in the third column are not zeroed-out during puncturing. In the remainder of this thesis, we always consider full puncturing that results in maximal complexity reduction.

6.4.3 Symbol-Based Subspace Detector

Denote by P^{SLORD} and P^{SSSD} the vector error rates, of SSSD and SLORD, respectively. We start by the case of SLORD. Noting that the performance can be captured from one partition, say t=1, we investigate:

$$\Pr(\hat{x}_N^{\text{SLORD}} \neq x_N \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}) \tag{6.79}$$

$$= \Pr(\hat{x}_{N}^{\text{SLORD}} \neq x_{N} \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} \neq \mathbf{x}) \Pr(\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} \neq \mathbf{x} \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x})$$
(6.80)

+
$$\Pr(\hat{x}_N^{\text{SLORD}} \neq x_N \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} = \mathbf{x}) \Pr(\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} = \mathbf{x} \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x})$$
 (6.81)

$$\Pr(\hat{x}_{N}^{\text{SLORD}} \neq x_{N} \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} = \mathbf{x})$$
(6.82)

$$= \Pr(\hat{x}_{N}^{\text{SLORD}} \neq x_{N} \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} = \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{S}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{R}))$$
(6.83)

 $\times \Pr(\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{S}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{R}) \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\mathrm{ML}} = \mathbf{x})$ (6.84)

+ Pr(
$$\hat{x}_N^{\text{SLORD}} \neq x_N \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} = \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x} \notin \mathcal{S}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{R})$$
) (6.85)

 $\times \Pr(\mathbf{x} \notin \mathcal{S}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{R}) \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\mathrm{ML}} = \mathbf{x}).$ (6.86)

We define:

$$\Pr(\hat{x}_N^{\text{SLORD}} \neq x_N \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} = \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{S}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{R})) \triangleq P^{\text{D}} = 0$$
(6.87)

$$\Pr(\hat{x}_{N}^{\text{SLORD}} \neq x_{N} \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} = \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x} \notin \mathcal{S}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{R})) \triangleq P^{\text{C}} \neq 1$$
(6.88)

$$\Pr(\mathbf{x} \notin \mathcal{S}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{R}) \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{ML} = \mathbf{x}) = P^{B},$$
(6.89)

and substitute back in (6.82) to get

$$\Pr(\hat{x}_N^{\text{SLORD}} \neq x_N \mid \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} = \mathbf{x}) = \boldsymbol{P}^{\text{C}} \boldsymbol{P}^{\text{B}}.$$
(6.90)

Following the same argument as in Sec.6.4.2 we have.

$$P^{\mathrm{ML}} < P^{\mathrm{SLORD}} < P^{\mathrm{ML}} + P^{\mathrm{C}} P^{\mathrm{B}} (1 - P^{\mathrm{ML}})$$

$$(6.91)$$

$$P^{\rm ML} < P^{\rm SLORD} < P^{\rm ML} + P^{\rm C} P^{\rm B}$$

$$(6.92)$$

Similarly, we can derive the bounds for $P^{\rm SSSD}$ by expanding $\Pr(\hat{x}_N^{\rm SSSD}\neq x_N\mid \mathring{\bf R},{\bf x}).$ We define

$$\Pr(\hat{x}_{N}^{\text{SSSD}} \neq x_{N} \mid \mathring{\mathbf{R}}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} = \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{P}(\bar{\mathbf{y}}, \mathring{\mathbf{R}})) = \acute{P}^{\text{D}} \neq 0$$
(6.93)

$$\Pr(\hat{x}_N^{\text{SSSD}} \neq x_N \mid \mathring{\mathbf{R}}, \mathbf{x}, \hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{ML}} = \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x} \notin \mathcal{P}(\bar{\mathbf{y}}, \mathring{\mathbf{R}})) = \acute{P}^{\text{C}} \neq 1$$
(6.94)

$$\Pr(\mathbf{x} \notin \mathcal{P}(\bar{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{\hat{R}}) \mid \mathbf{\hat{R}}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{\hat{x}}^{ML} = \mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{\hat{P}}^{B},$$
(6.95)

where following the same procedure we get

$$P^{\rm ML} < P^{\rm SSSD} < P^{\rm ML} + (\dot{P}^{\rm C}\dot{P}^{\rm B} + \dot{P}^{\rm D}(1 - \dot{P}^{\rm B}))(1 - P^{\rm ML})$$
(6.96)

$$P^{\mathrm{ML}} < P^{\mathrm{SSSD}} < P^{\mathrm{ML}} + \acute{P}^{\mathrm{C}}\acute{P}^{\mathrm{B}} + \acute{P}^{\mathrm{D}}.$$
(6.97)

Therefore, the dominant factor that affects P^{SLORD} at high SNR is $P^{\text{C}}P^{\text{B}}$, and the factors that affect P^{SSSD} are $\acute{P}^{\text{C}}\acute{P}^{\text{B}}$ and \acute{P}^{D} (we can show that \acute{P}^{D} is identical to



Figure 6.9: Empirical error probabilities with SSD - 4×4 MIMO - 16-QAM.

 $\acute{P}^{\rm A}$ from (6.74)). Note that $P^{\rm C}$ can be expressed as the probability that an error occurs at layer N in the CD, given that an error occurred at the upper layers, and $\acute{P}^{\rm C}$ is similarly defined in the case of a PCD (recall also that noise remains uncolored at layer N under puncturing). Since the PCD does not propagate errors at upper layers, the distance metric (5.15) is not severely distorted, and \hat{x}_N can still be recovered. We thus have $\acute{P}^{\rm C} \ll P^{\rm C}$. Moreover, as Fig. 6.9 shows, $\acute{P}^{\rm D}$ is the limiting term for $P^{\rm SSSD}$ at high SNR because $\acute{P}^{\rm C}\acute{P}^{\rm B} \ll \acute{P}^{\rm D}$. Hence, although $P^{\rm B} < \acute{P}^{\rm B}$, we still have $P^{\rm SSSD} < P^{\rm SLORD}$, which is a gain caused by puncturing. This is in accordance with the conclusion in Sec. 6.3.2.

6.5 Comments on Soft-Output Detection

Using the results of Sec. 6.4.3, we deduce that SO SSSD outperforms SO SLORD. Moreover, note that with CD and PCD, only the layer of interest is exhaustively searched, which provides the required distance metrics to compute the LLRs on



Figure 6.10: QRD-based vs WRD-based distance metrics.

this layer only. Repeating the same process on all layers, the resultant detectors would be SO SLORD and SO SSSD, respectively:

$$\lambda_{n,k,t}^{\text{PCD}} = \lambda_{n,k,t}^{\text{SSSD}} \tag{6.98}$$

$$\lambda_{n,k,t}^{\text{CD}} = \lambda_{n,k,t}^{\text{SLORD}}.$$
(6.99)

But since distance metrics from different channel decompositions in SSD are independent, SO SSD will not achieve a better performance than SO SSSD.

Finally, the performance of SO detectors is sensitive to factors that are not captured in the HO analysis. For example, computing distances via WRD as $\|\mathbf{W}^{\mathcal{H}}(\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{Hx})\|^2$, instead of $\|\mathbf{Q}^{\mathcal{H}}(\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{Hx})\|^2$, is subject to downscaling, as Fig. 6.10 shows. The scaling effect is higher with smaller distances, that will end up as ML or counter-ML distances to be used in LLR computations. Hence, the LLRs get scaled accordingly. This results in less confidence in LLR outputs, which is ben-

eficial since LORD schemes produce overconfident LLRs. Furthermore, Fig. 6.10 shows a comparison of QRD-based and WRD-based distance metrics versus symbols from the constellation at the root layer. A noiseless 4×4 MIMO system with 64-QAM is assumed. The symbols on the x-axis are sorted in increasing order of distance metrics (constellation point 1 with a zero distance corresponds to the true transmitted symbol vector). Both absolute distances as well as distance ratios are shown. On average, the order of distance metrics is retained under puncturing. However, at specific instances, the order gets distorted with a probability greater than \not{P}^{A} .

Conclusion

In this chapter, the performance of the proposed detectors has been characterized and analyzed mathematically, by deriving bounds on the achievable rates, diversity gains, and error probability. It has been shown that puncturing results in a graceful loss in system capacity, and it does not negatively impact the receive diversity gain in HO detectors. The analysis has been extended to SO detection, and it has been shown that significant performance gains are attainable by ordering the layer of interest to be at the root when puncturing the channel.

Chapter 7

Dual-Layer Multiuser MIMO Detection

In this chapter, we consider near optimal detection methods for 2×2 MU-MIMO systems by treating the interfering signal as a constrained unknown to be estimated. We propose joint likelihood-based MC of the co-scheduled user and data detection of the user of interest. By adjusting the Max-Log-MAP MC approach to the structure of the ML detector or LC-LORD, and expanding it to include distances of counter maximum likelihood hypothesis symbols, the decision metric for MC is shown to be an accumulation over a set of tones of Euclidean distance computations also used by the detectors for bit LLR generation. Hence, we show that an enhanced near IA MU-MIMO detector can be *efficiently* implemented with a slight modification to the SO versions of the detectors. An efficient hardware implementation scheme is presented. The results of this section appeared, in parts, in [161], [162], and [163].



Figure 7.1: 2×2 MU-MIMO system model

7.1 System Model

We follow the system model of Sec. 2.1, but limit the discussion to the special case of dual-layer MIMO (N = M = 2). We also define a new notation for the MTs. We assume x_1 to be drawn from the arbitrary, but known, constellation $\overline{\Lambda}$ (MT of the user of interest), that could be QPSK, 16-QAM or 64-QAM, and x_2 to be drawn from an unknown constellation Λ_j , $j \in \{0, 1, 2, 3\}$, where Λ_0 , Λ_1 , Λ_2 and Λ_3 correspond to the constellations Φ , QPSK, 16-QAM and 64-QAM, respectively, with Φ representing a constellation having one entry of zero power, corresponding to the case when there is no interferer.

7.2 Interference Rejection Combining

Linear IRC detection is employed when estimates of both the desired and coscheduled users' channels are available at the receiver, but knowledge of the MT of the co-scheduled user is *not*. IRC works as a linear MMSE receiver [59], performing whitening followed by MRC:

$$\mathbf{h}_{1}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{L}^{-1}\mathbf{y} = \mathbf{h}_{1}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{L}^{-1}\mathbf{h}_{1}x_{1} + \mathbf{h}_{1}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{L}^{-1}(\mathbf{h}_{2}x_{2} + \mathbf{n}),$$
(7.1)

with $\mathbf{L} = \mathbf{h}_2 \mathbf{h}_2^{\mathcal{H}} + \sigma^2 \mathbf{I}_2$ being the covariance matrix of the sum of interference and noise components. The resultant distance metric to be used in LLR computation is generated as

$$\varphi^{\text{IRC}}(x_1) = \frac{1}{\sigma_{\mathbf{n},\text{IRC}}^2} \left| \mathbf{h}_1^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{L}^{-1} \mathbf{y} - \mathbf{h}_1^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{L}^{-1} \mathbf{h}_1 x_1 \right|^2,$$
(7.2)

where unlike in [63], we have accounted for the variability of the variance from tone to tone by the scaling factor $\frac{1}{\sigma_{n,IRC}^2}$, with $\sigma_{n,IRC}^2 = \mathbf{h}_1^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{L}^{-1} \mathbf{h}_1$. Then the LLRs are computed as

$$\lambda_i^{\text{IRC}} = \min_{x_1 \in \bar{\Lambda}_i^{(1)}} \varphi^{\text{IRC}}(x_1) - \min_{x_1 \in \bar{\Lambda}_i^{(0)}} \varphi^{\text{IRC}}(x_1), \tag{7.3}$$

where $\bar{\Lambda}_i^{(1)}$ and $\bar{\Lambda}_i^{(0)}$ correspond to points in $\bar{\Lambda}$ having in the bit position *i* of the symbol of interest the values of 1 and 0, respectively. Note that since the interference is discrete and not Gaussian, IRC is not optimal.

7.3 ML MC for 2×2 MU-MIMO Systems

The optimal likelihood-based MC scheme decides on the modulation format that has the maximum likelihood within multiple hypotheses. Following the Bayesian formulation, hypothesis testing is performed on the possible modulation formats to estimate the constellation of the interferer. We consider four hypotheses: $\mathbf{y} \sim \Pr(\mathbf{y}; x_1 \in \bar{\Lambda}, x_2 \in \Lambda_j), \ j \in \{0, 1, 2, 3\}$, with likelihoods

$$\Pr(\mathbf{y}; \Lambda_j) = \sum_{x_1 \in \tilde{\Lambda}, x_2 \in \Lambda_j} \Pr(\mathbf{y}|x_1, x_2) \Pr(x_1, x_2).$$
(7.4)

Under statistical independence between x_1 and x_2 , and assuming uniform priors, $\Pr(x_1) = 1/|\bar{\Lambda}|$ and $\Pr(x_2) = 1/|\Lambda_j|$, where $|\cdot|$ denotes the cardinality of the constellation ($\Pr(x_1)$) is fixed over hypotheses and thus can be dropped), the ML MC decision metric can be derived as

$$\hat{j} = \underset{j \in \{0,1,2,3\}}{\operatorname{arg\,max}} \sum_{x_1 \in \bar{\Lambda}, x_2 \in \Lambda_j} \Pr(\mathbf{y}|x_1, x_2) \frac{1}{|\Lambda_j|}.$$
(7.5)

Noting that $\Pr(\mathbf{y}|x_1, x_2) = \frac{1}{(\pi\sigma^2)^{N_r}} \exp(-\frac{1}{\sigma^2} \|\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}\|^2)$, and neglecting the term $\frac{1}{(\pi\sigma^2)^{N_r}} = \frac{1}{(\pi\sigma^2)^2}$ which is assumed fixed over hypotheses, the resultant Log-MAP decision metric is

$$\hat{j}_{\text{Log-MAP}} = \underset{j \in \{0,1,2,3\}}{\arg\max} \left(\log \frac{1}{|\Lambda_j|} + \log \sum_{x_1 \in \bar{\Lambda}, x_2 \in \Lambda_j} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{\sigma^2} \|\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}\|^2\right) \right), \quad (7.6)$$

which is the optimal ALRT solution. Note that neglecting the correction term $\log(1/|\Lambda_j|)$ results in the GLRT solution [164].

Solving (7.6) is computationally intensive, because for each j we have to calculate $|\bar{\Lambda}| \times |\Lambda_j|$ exponential terms. However, one of these terms is dominant and corresponds to the ML distance

$$d_j^{\mathrm{ML}} = \min_{x_1 \in \tilde{\Lambda}, \, x_2 \in \Lambda_j} \varphi^{\mathrm{ML}}(\mathbf{x}) \tag{7.7}$$

$$\varphi^{\mathrm{ML}}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{\sigma^2} \|\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}\|^2.$$
(7.8)

Hence, following the approximation $(\log \sum_r \exp(a_r) \approx \max_r a_r)$, we obtain

$$\hat{j}_{\text{Max-Log-MAP}} = \underset{j \in \{0,1,2,3\}}{\operatorname{arg\,max}} \left(\log \frac{1}{|\Lambda_j|} - d_j^{\text{ML}} \right), \tag{7.9}$$

which is the sub-optimal Max-Log-MAP classifier [62] [63].



Figure 7.2: Lattice points used in MC schemes

7.4 Proposed MU-MIMO Receivers

Since the more distance metrics that get accumulated in (7.6), the better the approximation is, we can enhance the classifier by considering the most influential N distances that best minimize $\varphi^{\text{ML}}(\mathbf{x})$. We call this approach the Closest-N classifier, and we will use it as a reference to compare our second proposed approach to.

We next consider a special subset of distances, that consists of the counter ML distances corresponding to bits of the symbol of interest in addition to the ML distance. We call the corresponding scheme counter-ML-distance-based MC (CMLD). Note that with CMLD, the distances considered are not the smallest, and hence not the most influential. The counter ML distance corresponding to a specific bit is defined as

$$d_{\mathrm{cML},j,i} = \begin{cases} \min_{x_1 \in \bar{\Lambda}, x_2 \in \Lambda_j | b_i = 0} \varphi^{\mathrm{ML}}(\mathbf{x}) & b_i^{\mathrm{(ML)}} = 1\\ \min_{x_1 \in \bar{\Lambda}, x_2 \in \Lambda_j | b_i = 1} \varphi^{\mathrm{ML}}(\mathbf{x}) & b_i^{\mathrm{(ML)}} = 0 \end{cases}$$
(7.10)

with $b_i^{(ML)}$ being the value of the *i*th bit in the bit vector of the ML solution.

The lattice points (symbol vectors) to which the distances are taken in each approach are shown in Fig. 7.2. For Log-MAP, Max-Log-MAP and Closest-N, the points are drawn directly from the 2-D MIMO lattice structure. However, only the component of interest is shown for the CMLD approaches, which is drawn from its corresponding constellation,

After the classifier decides on \hat{j} , an ML SO detector generates the bit LLRs as follows:

$$\lambda_i^{\mathrm{ML}} = \min_{x_1 \in \bar{\Lambda}_i^{(1)}, x_2 \in \Lambda_{\hat{j}}} \varphi^{\mathrm{ML}}(\mathbf{x}) - \min_{x_1 \in \bar{\Lambda}_i^{(0)}, x_2 \in \Lambda_{\hat{j}}} \varphi^{\mathrm{ML}}(\mathbf{x}).$$
(7.11)

Hence, the main component of the decision metric for MC is found to be an accumulation over a set of tones of Euclidean distance computations, which are also used by the ML detector for bit LLR soft decision generation. Combining MC and detection routines is thus computationally efficient.

Furthermore, if we consider LC-LORD instead of ML detection, the proposed MC schemes should be modified. First, (7.6) does not hold with LORD, since only layer-1 is exhaustively searched. Moreover, while (7.9) still holds with LORD, d_j^{ML} is not guaranteed to be within the reduced QAM Θ , and thus it does not hold with LC-LORD. Consequently, we introduce the Quasi-Log-MAP and Quasi-Max-Log-MAP MC schemes, that best approximate the original schemes. With Quasi-Log-MAP, the summation in (7.6) is over the $|\Theta|$ lattice points searched by LC-LORD, with corresponding distance metrics $d_1(x_1)$, while with Quasi-Max-Log-MAP, the modified ML distance metric considered is $\min_{x_1 \in \Theta} d_1(x_1)$. Similarly, we can define the Closest-N and CMLD classifiers starting from the LC-LORD solution.

Equation (7.12) generalizes the likelihood function assuming T observations (tones) are accumulated under a constant interfering MT before deciding on a winning hypothesis, where \bar{S} corresponds to the subset of lattice points to consider



Figure 7.3: Architecture for a 2×2 MU-MIMO detector.

in each approach:

$$\hat{j} = \underset{j \in \{0,1,2,3\}}{\arg \max} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \left(\log \frac{1}{|\Lambda_j|} + \log \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in \overline{S}} \exp\left(-\varphi^{\mathrm{ML}}(\mathbf{x})\right) \right).$$
(7.12)

The joint MC and detection setup is described as follows. After observing T vectors, and for each of the four possible hypotheses, the detection routine is called T times and the outputs are stored in memory. Concurrently, the likelihood for each hypothesis gets computed. Eventually, the hypothesis that gets the maximum likelihood is declared a winner and the corresponding output is retrieved. The price to pay is an increase in space complexity.

| Approach | Exponentials | Distance Computations |
|--------------------|--|--|
| Log-MAP | $\left \bar{\Lambda}\right \left(\Lambda_0 + \Lambda_1 + \Lambda_2 + \Lambda_3 \right)$ | $\left \bar{\Lambda}\right \left(\left \Lambda_{0}\right +\left \Lambda_{1}\right +\left \Lambda_{2}\right +\left \Lambda_{3}\right \right)$ |
| Closest-N | 4N | $\left \bar{\Lambda}\right \left(\left \Lambda_{0}\right +\left \Lambda_{1}\right +\left \Lambda_{2}\right +\left \Lambda_{3}\right \right)$ |
| CMLD | $4(2^{q}+1)$ | $\left \bar{\Lambda}\right \left(\Lambda_{0} + \Lambda_{1} + \Lambda_{2} + \Lambda_{3} \right)$ |
| Max-Log-MAP | 4 | $\left \bar{\Lambda}\right \left(\Lambda_{0} + \Lambda_{1} + \Lambda_{2} + \Lambda_{3} \right)$ |
| Joint Log-MAP | $\left \bar{\Lambda}\right \left(\Lambda_0 + \Lambda_1 + \Lambda_2 + \Lambda_3 \right)$ | 0 |
| Joint Closest- N | 4N | 0 |
| Joint CMLD | $4(2^{q}+1)$ | 0 |
| Joint Max-Log-MAP | 4 | 0 |

Table 7.1: Computational Complexity of MC Schemes with ML Detection

7.5 Joint MC and Detection Architecture

An optimized architecture for a 2×2 MU-MIMO detector following the CMLD approach is shown in Fig. 7.3. At the core of this architecture is a ML MIMO detector (or LC-LORD), that detects **x** assuming all possible choices of the interferer's MT, and generates the corresponding lists of d^{cML} s and d^{ML} s for all Tvectors. These distances and symbols are stored in buffers of size $T \times (2^q + 1)$. The sum of the logarithm of the exponential of the distance metrics are passed to an adder that accumulates them over a span of T tones, during which the interferer modulation is assumed to be static. The resulting accumulated distances for each interferer hypothesis are stored in a buffer, and after deciding on a winning hypothesis, the corresponding stored distances are forwarded for LLR processing.

This algorithm can be used in 802.11ac (WiFi) [1], which supports 80MHz of bandwidth with 242 usable tones, 8 of which are reserved for pilots and 234 data tones (worst case is 20MHz, 4 pilots, and 52 data tones). The length of the data field in a WiFi frame can be a very large number of OFDM symbols (L). Since the interferer's modulation constellation remains static over T tones and L symbols, the particular choice of T = 234 results in substantial savings in computations. The detector only needs to run in this mode to identify the

| Approach | Exponentials | Distance Computations |
|-------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|
| Log-MAP | $ \bar{\Lambda} $ | $ \bar{\Lambda} $ |
| Quasi-Log-MAP | $\bar{\Theta}$ | $ \overline{\Theta} $ |
| $	ext{Closest-}N$ | 4N | $ \bar{\Lambda} $ |
| CMLD | $4(2^q+1)$ | $ \bar{\Lambda} $ |
| Max-Log-MAP | 4 | $ \bar{\Lambda} $ |
| Quasi-Max-Log-MAP | 4 | $ \bar{\Theta} $ |
| Joint Log-MAP | $ \bar{\Lambda} $ | 0 |
| Joint Quasi-Log-MAP | $ \overline{\Theta} $ | 0 |
| Joint Closest- N | 4N | 0 |
| Joint CMLD | $4(2^q+1)$ | 0 |
| Joint Max-Log-MAP | 4 | 0 |
| Joint Quasi-Max-Log-MAP | 4 | 0 |

Table 7.2: Computational Complexity of MC Schemes with LC-LORD

interferer's constellation for one OFDM symbol in the frame. It can then switch back to normal ML detection mode (without MC) to generate the LLRs for the remaining ODFM symbols. Moreover, the algorithm can be used in LTE [4] transmission modes 7, 8, and 9, where estimates of desired and co-scheduled users channels are available at the receiver.

The total number of distance computations needed to generate the LLRs from the $234 \times L$ data tones is $234 \times L \times |\bar{\Lambda}| \times |\Lambda_j|$, and the average overhead of MC is $234 \times 3 \times |\bar{\Lambda}| \times |\Lambda_j|$. This corresponds to an increase of only 3/L%, compared to distances computed by an ML detector with perfect knowledge of the interferer. The size L of the data field can take a range of values from 8 to more than 1024, hence, the increase in distance computations ranges between 37.5% and less than 0.3%. However, an additional burden of MC is the number of exponential and logarithmic operations it requires (blue box in Fig. 7.3). Tables 7.1 and 7.2 compare the complexity of different MC routines, per tone, when applied solely or in a joint setup, in terms of Euclidean distance computations and number of exponential operations, in the context of ML detection and LC-LORD, respectively.



Figure 7.4: CCR performance - $\overline{\Lambda}$ is 16-QAM - T = 12 - 0.9 correlation.

7.6 Simulation Results

The joint MC and detection schemes were simulated. The decision on the winning hypothesis was made after receiving T = 52 or T = 12 tones, with the first corresponding to WiFi's worst case, and the second to an LTE scenario. Turbo coding was used, with a code rate of 1/3 and number of decoding iterations equal to 4. We considered the scenario where the user of interest uses 16-QAM with ML detection and 64-QAM with LC-LORD (since LC-LORD is of less interest with smaller constellations), while the interferer hops over the four hypotheses with equal probability on every new frame. Furthermore, we considered both rich scattering and correlated channels, with transmit and receive correlation coefficients of 0.9 and 0.6 as defined for LTE.

For ML detection, we simulated four receivers that are assisted by the studied MC schemes: Log-MAP, Max-Log-Map, Closest-5 (Closest-N with N = 5) and CMLD. In addition, we included the receiver that always assumes the interference of the studied statement of the stu



Figure 7.5: CFER performance - ML Detection - $\overline{\Lambda}$ is 16-QAM - T = 52 - 0.9 correlation.

to be 16-QAM, as well as the ideal IA receiver. Figure 7.4 shows, for highly correlated channels, the correct classification ratio (CCR) for the MC approaches with T = 12. The CCR gaps are significant, but all approaches converge to unity at high SNR. Figures 7.5 and 7.6 show the coded frame error rate (CFER) plots with high channel correlation, for T = 52 and T = 12, respectively. The choice T = 52 made the Log-MAP MC-based receiver approach the performance of the IA receiver. On average, compared to Max-Log-MAP, CMLD resulted in a CFER SNR gain of 0.6 dB, Closest-5 a gain of 1.1 dB, and Log-MAP a gain of 2.2 dB. Moreover, the IRC receiver and the receiver that assumes the interferer to be 16-QAM performed badly under high channel correlation.

With ideal channel conditions, the total gap between the Log-MAP and Max-Log-MAP MC-based receivers does not exceed 0.7 dB, as shown in Fig. 7.7 for T = 12. Compared to Max-Log-MAP, CMLD resulted in a CFER SNR gain of 0.15 dB and Closest-5 a gain of 0.3 dB. Note that the Log-Map MC-based



Figure 7.6: CFER performance - ML Detection - $\bar{\Lambda}$ is 16-QAM - T = 12 - 0.9 correlation.



Figure 7.7: CFER performance - ML Detection - $\bar{\Lambda}$ is 16-QAM - T = 12 - uncorrelated channels.



Figure 7.8: CCR Performance - LC-LORD - $\bar{\Lambda}$ is 64-QAM - $|\Theta|\!=\!49$ - 0.6 correlation.



Figure 7.9: BER Performance - LC-LORD - $\bar{\Lambda}$ is 64-QAM - $|\Theta| = 49$ - 0.6 correlation.



Figure 7.10: BER Performance - LC-LORD - $\bar{\Lambda}$ is 64-QAM - $|\Theta|=49$ - ucorrelated channels.



Figure 7.11: BER Performance - LC-LORD - $\bar{\Lambda}$ is 64-QAM - $|\Theta|=25$ - uncorrelated channels.



Figure 7.12: BER Performance - LC-LORD - $\overline{\Lambda}$ is 64-QAM - $\Theta = \overline{\Lambda}$ - uncorrelated channels.

detector did not approach the optimal ML IA receiver here, because the CCR values are far from unity over low SNR range.

For LC-LORD, we simulated the receivers that are assisted by the MC schemes studied in Sec. 7.4: Quasi-Log-MAP, Quasi-Max-Log-Map, Closest-5 (Closest-Nwith N = 5) and CMLD (note that with LC-LORD, counter ML distances in case of CMLD might get saturated). In addition, we included the receiver that always assumes the interferer to be 64-QAM, as well as the ideal IA receiver.

We considered two scenarios of reduced search in LC-LORD, one with a worst case search region of $|\Theta| = 49$ and another with a worst case of $|\Theta| = 25$. However, even the first case results in remarkable complexity savings when $|\bar{\Lambda}| = 64$, because most of times the center of Θ is close to the boundaries of $\bar{\Lambda}$, and thus Θ gets truncated, which further reduces its size. Moreover, we applied LC-LORD to 70% of the streams, keeping the less reliable 30% in full complexity mode.

Figure 7.8 shows, for high correlation and $|\Theta| = 49$, the CCR plots for the

MC approaches. All approaches reach unity CCR at high SNR. The gap between Quasi-Log-MAP and Quasi-Max-Log-MAP classifiers is around 1.2 dB, and Closest-5 and CMLD cut this gap in half, with Closest-5 being slightly superior.

The coded BER performance of the proposed approaches, compared to the reference detectors, is shown in Fig. 7.9. Assuming the interferer to always be 64-QAM performs badly with high channel correlation, and so does IRC to a less extent. The gap between IRC and the IA receiver is 4 dB, and the MC-based approaches cut this gap in half. Quasi-Log-MAP and Quasi-Max-Log-MAP are 1 dB apart, and Closest-5 and CMLD beat Quasi-Max-Log-MAP by 0.5 dB.

The rest of the plots show the BER performance with uncorrelated channels. For $|\Theta| = 49$ (Fig. 7.10), the gap between IRC and IA reduces to 2 dB, and assuming the interferer 64-QAM is only 0.8 dB away from IRC. Moreover, MC-based detectors almost coincide, both being less than 1 dB away form IA. However, if the search region is further reduced to $|\Theta| = 25$, IRC will beat the MC-based detectors at high SNR, even when the channels are uncorrelated, as shown in Fig. 7.11. Finally, Fig. 7.12 shows the BER performance, when $\Theta = \overline{\Lambda}$, which is in effect the optimal joint MC and LORD detection case. Comparing its plots with those of Fig. 7.10, we conclude that setting $|\Theta| = 49$ and running full complexity LORD at the worst 30% of carriers is near optimal.

From these results, we can see that both Closet-5 and CMLD offer enhanced low complexity realizations for MC-based MU-MIMO receivers. From a practical perspective, CMLD has the advantage as shown in Sec. 7.5, where the proposed joint MC and detection setup does not apply to Closest-5 (extra processing is required to sort the closest 5 distances as well as extra space).

The benefits of CMLD become clearer in the context of joint MC and SO SD. A SD reduces the number of visited lattice points, however, points leading to counter ML distances are never omitted and efficient joint CMLD MC and detection is maintained. On the other hand, the Closest-N classifier is more useful if applied jointly with LSD, which keeps track of distances to closest neighbouring symbols, or with sphere decoding with adaptive radius pruning, both of which do not guarantee the inclusion of counter ML symbols. Moreover, this work can be combined with [165, 166], using constant and linear Max-Log-MAP to enhance the approximation performance. Finally, we could have considered the distances to counter ML hypothesis symbols that correspond to the bits of the interfering symbol x_2 as well, but soft detectors do not keep track of the LLRs of the interferer, and hence less savings can be made with the joint MC and detection setup.

Conclusion

In this chapter, low-complexity receivers have been proposed for 2×2 MU-MIMO systems, based on joint MC and ML detection or LC-LORD, where the ML MC scheme has been adapted to cope with both detectors. These receivers have been compared to other state-of-the-art receivers. The performance of the proposed schemes has been shown to lie between the MC-based schemes that use Log-MAP and Max-Log-MAP classifiers, remarkably beating the latter, especially with high channel correlation. An efficient implementation has been proposed by making use of a hardware architecture that enables joint MC and detection. Finally, it has been shown that the proposed approaches can be used in various communication standards, where in the special case of WiFi they result in a negligible complexity overhead.

Chapter 8

High-Order Multiuser MIMO Detection

In this chapter, we extend the work on 2×2 MU-MIMO and propose an efficient SSSD for larger antenna configurations, in which the MT of the interferer is estimated, while multiple decoupled streams are being individually detected. We propose low-complexity versions of the optimal log-MAP and Max-Log-MAP modulation classifiers, that adapt to the limitations of the proposed SSSD scheme, and employ them in a hierarchical fashion with feature-based classifiers. We show that the proposed algorithms can be *efficiently* implemented, by proposing a corresponding low-complexity architecture and studying its complexity in the context of 802.11ac. The corresponding results appeared in [136].

8.1 System Model

We modify the system model of Sec. 2.1 by considering a scenario in which $N_{\text{user}} \leq N$ antennas transmit useful data to the user of interest, while the remaining $N_{\text{inter}} = N - N_{\text{user}}$ antennas send interfering data (Fig. 8.1). Note that the entries of **H** are still considered i.i.d $C\mathcal{N}(0, 1)$, and no weighting is applied.



Figure 8.1: MU-MIMO system model.

We assume that the N_{user} symbols of the user of interest that form $\mathbf{x}_{\text{user}} = [x_1 \cdots x_{N_{\text{user}}}]^T$ are drawn from the arbitrary, but known, constellation \mathcal{M} . We also assume, without loss of generality, that the N_{inter} symbols of the interferer that form $\mathbf{x}_{\text{inter}} = [x_{N_{\text{user}}+1} \cdots x_N]^T$ are drawn from the same unknown constellation \mathcal{U}_j , $j \in \{0, 1, 2, 3, 4\}$, where \mathcal{U}_0 , \mathcal{U}_1 , \mathcal{U}_2 , \mathcal{U}_3 and \mathcal{U}_4 correspond to the constellations Φ , QPSK, 16-QAM, 64-QAM and 256-QAM, respectively.

8.2 Reference MU-MIMO MC Schemes

8.2.1 Likelihood-Based MC

In a derivation similar to that of Sec. 7.3, we consider five hypotheses: $\mathbf{y} \sim \Pr(\mathbf{y}; \mathbf{x}_{user} \in \mathcal{M}^{N_{user}}, \mathbf{x}_{inter} \in \mathcal{U}_{j}^{Ninter}), j \in \{0, 1, 2, 3, 4\}$, with likelihoods

$$\Pr(\mathbf{y}; \mathcal{U}_j) = \sum_{\mathbf{x}_{user} \in \mathcal{M}^{Nuser}, \mathbf{x}_{inter} \in \mathcal{U}_j^{Ninter}} \Pr(\mathbf{y} | \mathbf{x}) \Pr(\mathbf{x}).$$
(8.1)

Under statistical independence between the components of \mathbf{x} , and assuming uniform priors, $\Pr(x_1) = \cdots = \Pr(N_{\text{user}}) = 1/|\mathcal{M}|$ and $\Pr(N_{\text{user+1}}) = \cdots = \Pr(x_N) = 1/|\mathcal{U}_j|$

(the probabilities of user symbols are independent of the interferer and thus can be dropped), the ML MC decision metric can be expressed as

$$\hat{j} = \underset{j \in \{0,1,2,3,4\}}{\operatorname{arg\,max}} \sum_{\mathbf{x}_{user} \in \mathcal{M}^{N_{user}}, \mathbf{x}_{inter} \in \mathcal{U}_{j}^{N_{inter}}} \operatorname{Pr}(\mathbf{y}|\mathbf{x}) \frac{1}{|\mathcal{U}_{j}|^{N_{inter}}}.$$
(8.2)

Noting that $\Pr(\mathbf{y}|\mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{(\pi\sigma^2)^M} \exp(-\frac{1}{\sigma^2} ||\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}||^2)$, and neglecting $\frac{1}{(\pi\sigma^2)^M}$ which is fixed over hypotheses, the resultant Log-MAP metric (ALRT solution) is

$$\hat{j}_{\text{Log-MAP}} = \underset{j \in \{0,1,2,3,4\}}{\operatorname{arg\,max}} \left(N_{\text{inter}} \log \frac{1}{|\mathcal{U}_j|} + \underset{\substack{\mathbf{x}_{\text{user}} \in \mathcal{M}^{N_{\text{user}}}\\\mathbf{x}_{\text{inter}} \in \mathcal{U}_j^{N_{\text{inter}}}}}{\exp\left(-\frac{1}{\sigma^2} \|\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}\|^2\right)} \right).$$

$$(8.3)$$

Solving equation (8.3) is computationally intensive, because for each j we have to calculate $|\mathcal{M}|^{N_{\text{user}}} \times |\mathcal{U}_j|^{N_{\text{inter}}}$ exponential terms. However, one of these terms is dominant and corresponds to the scaled ML distance

$$d_j^{\mathrm{ML}} = \min_{\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{user}} \in \mathcal{M}^{N_{\mathrm{user}}}, \, \mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{inter}} \in \mathcal{U}_j^{N_{\mathrm{inter}}}} \frac{1}{\sigma^2} \, \|\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}\|^2 \,.$$
(8.4)

Hence, following the Jacobian-logarithm approximation we obtain

$$\hat{j}_{\text{Max-Log-MAP}} = \underset{j \in \{0,1,2,3,4\}}{\operatorname{arg\,max}} \left(N_{\text{inter}} \log \frac{1}{|\mathcal{U}_j|} - d_j^{\text{ML}} \right), \tag{8.5}$$

which is the sub-optimal Max-Log-MAP classifier [62] [63].

Therefore, as in the case of 2×2 MIMO, the main component of the decision metric for MC is found to be an accumulation over a set of tones of Euclidean distance computations, which are also used by the ML detector for bit LLR generation. Combining MC and detection routines is thus computationally efficient.
8.2.2 MC Using Higher-Order Cumulants

For feature-based classification, feature vectors containing higher-order CCs are used. These features cannot be directly extracted from the components of \mathbf{y} , since they consist of linear mixtures of the components of the transmitted signal vector and additive noise. First, the channel is compensated, using ZF for example, where the received vector is multiplied by the pseudo-inverse of the channel matrix. Then, the MT-specific features are estimated from the noisy recovered symbol streams, the components of the vector $\hat{\mathbf{y}}_{\text{ZF}}$.

The general expression of a cumulant of order u, v-times conjugated, for a complex random variable s is given as [167]:

$$\kappa_{s}^{u,v} = \sum_{\exists_{u}} \left[k(p) \prod_{j=1}^{p} \mathsf{E}\{s^{u_{j}-v_{j}} s^{*v_{j}}\} \right]$$
(8.6)

where \beth_u is the set of the partitions of the elements $\{1, 2, \dots, u\}$. A partition ρ consists of p sets $v_j : \rho = \{v_j\}_{j=1}^p$, where u_j is the size of the set v_i, v_j is the number of conjugated terms, and $k(p) = (-1)^{p-1}(p-1)!$.

Assume that we require estimating the MT from which the *i*th symbol $\hat{y}_{ZF,i}$ of \hat{y}_{ZF} was drawn, we replace *s* by $\hat{y}_{ZF,i}$, and compute (8.6) with the required *u* and *v*. Equation (8.6) can be simplified for specific values of *u* and *v*. For example, we have:

$$\kappa_s^{2,0} = \mathsf{E}\{s^2\} \tag{8.7}$$

$$\kappa_s^{2,1} = \mathsf{E}\{|s|^2\} \tag{8.8}$$

$$\kappa_s^{4,0} = \mathsf{E}\{s^4\} - 3\mathsf{E}\{s^2\}^2 \tag{8.9}$$

$$\kappa_s^{4,2} = \mathsf{E}\{s^2 s^{*2}\} - \left|\mathsf{E}\{s^2\}\right|^2 - 2\mathsf{E}\{ss^{\mathcal{H}}\}^2.$$
(8.10)

Due to symmetry in constellations, only cumulants of even order are non-

| Cumulant | Φ | QPSK | 16-QAM | 64-QAM | 256-QAM | |
|------------------|---|------|--------|--------|---------|--|
| $\kappa_s^{2,0}$ | 0 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | |
| $\kappa_s^{2,1}$ | 0 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | |
| $\kappa_s^{4,0}$ | 0 | 1 | -0.68 | -0.619 | -0.6047 | |
| $\kappa_s^{4,1}$ | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | |
| $\kappa_s^{4,2}$ | 0 | -1 | -0.68 | -0.619 | -0.6047 | |
| $\kappa_s^{6,0}$ | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | |
| $\kappa_s^{6,1}$ | 0 | -4 | 2.08 | 1.7972 | 1.7345 | |
| $\kappa_s^{6,2}$ | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | |
| $\kappa_s^{6,3}$ | 0 | 4 | 2.08 | 1.7972 | 1.7345 | |

Table 8.1: Theoretical Cumulants for Different Constellations

zero for linearly modulated signals, and hence are useful for MC. The theoretical values for various cumulants for QAM modulations are shown in table 8.1. Note that when only discriminating between QAMs, $\kappa_s^{4,1}$, $\kappa_s^{6,0}$, and $\kappa_s^{6,2}$ are also all zeros, and hence can not be used. Moreover, $\kappa_s^{2,0}$ and $\kappa_s^{2,1}$ can only be used to know whether interference exists or not.

Eventually, the decision on a specific modulation scheme is made by choosing the MT that minimizes the Euclidean distance between the feature vector estimate and the theoretical feature vector. When multiple branches transmit symbols from the same MT, selection combining can be applied to select the feature estimate from the branch that has the highest SNR, or a more sophisticated MRC mechanism.

8.3 Proposed MU-MIMO MC Schemes

8.3.1 Modified Likelihood-Based MC

Since in this study we use SSSD instead of ML detection, major modifications should be made to likelihood-based MC. Equation (8.3) does not hold with subspace decomposition, since the entire lattice is not exhaustively searched, neither does (8.5), since d_j^{ML} is not guaranteed to be within the search region. Moreover, aiming at efficiently combining MC and SSSD, and since SSSD only makes use of the layers of interest, we propose carrying the summation over the desired signal constellations while MC is for the interfering user.

We thus introduce the Quasi-Log-MAP and Quasi-Max-Log-MAP MC schemes, that best approximate the original schemes. With Quasi-Log-MAP, the summation in 8.3 is over the $|\mathcal{M}|$ lattice points searched by SSSD, on one of the detected streams, say l, and hence the modified likelihood function can be represented as

$$\hat{j}_{\text{Quasi-Log-MAP}} = \underset{j \in \{0,1,2,3,4\}}{\operatorname{arg\,max}} \left(\log \frac{1}{|\mathcal{U}_j|} + \log \sum_{x_l \in |\mathcal{M}|} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{\sigma^2} \left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}}^{(t)} - \mathring{\mathbf{R}}^{(t)} \mathbf{x} \right\|^2\right) \right),$$
(8.11)

where the Euclidean distance is expanded as in (2.26).

With Quasi-Max-Log-MAP, the modified ML distance metric $(d^{\text{ML}'})$ is considered to be the minimum of the spanned scaled distances in Quasi-Log-MAP. Moreover, better (average) performance can be achieved when accumulating the minimum distances from all layers of interest. Equation (8.12) generalizes the proposed likelihood function assuming T observations (tones) are accumulated under a constant interfering MT before deciding on a winning hypothesis.

$$\hat{j}_{\text{Quasi-Max-Log-MAP}} = \underset{j \in \{0,1,2,3,4\}}{\arg \max} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \left(\log \frac{1}{|\mathcal{U}_j|} - \sum_{l=1}^{N_{\text{user}}} d_{j,l,t}^{\text{ML}'} \right)$$
(8.12)

Since distances from different layers of interest that undergo different decompositions are independent, combining them is equivalent to repeating the observation and taking the average, as opposed to having a more powerful observation. Hence, dropping the inner summation over N_{user} layers in (8.12) is efficient.

8.3.2 Hierarchical MC

While likelihood-base MC applies subspace decomposition a number of times equal to the number of hypotheses, feature-based MC requires only one subspace decomposition routine following MC. However, we can have a combination of both, that reduces the entailed complexity with minimum effect on performance.

Note that the theoretical CC values for higher order QAM constellations are very close. Also, despite the fact that higher order cumulants have more distant theoretical values, their corresponding variance is high. Thus, higher order cumulants do not necessarily result in better performance. Nevertheless, at least second order cumulants can be used to eliminate the hypothesis of no interferer, before proceeding with likelihood based MC to estimate other hypotheses.

We propose hierarchical MC as follows: First, the ZF solution is computed, and $\kappa_s^{2,0}$ is calculated. If the result is closer to 0, we assume no interference, and the entire likelihood-based MC routine is skipped. Otherwise, if the result is closer to 1, likelihood-based MC follows, but with one less hypothesis to check.

8.3.3 Assuming High-Order Interfering Modulation Types

Instead of adding a MC routine, an attractive solution is to assume the interfering MT to be a high order QAM, without attempting to estimate it. A similar solution was presented in [60, 61], where the interfering MT was assumed to be 16-QAM, and an ML detector followed. In our case, assuming very high order constellations is feasible, because the number of distances computed in SSSD is not affected by the size of the interfering constellation. The only increase in complexity by assuming higher order interfering constellations is in the slicing operation they undergo, which is negligible. Therefore, we propose to assume the interfering MT to be 64-QAM, 256-QAM, or 1024-QAM, where the latter is not even one of the possible hypotheses.



Figure 8.2: Architecture for joint hierarchical MC and SSSD.

8.4 Joint MC and Detection Architecture

After the classifier decides on \hat{j} , SO SSSD generates the bit LLRs. These two tasks can be realized jointly as previously described. The optimized architecture for the proposed MU-MIMO detector with hierarchical likelihood and featurebased MC is shown in Fig. 8.2. At the core of this architecture is a SSSD, that in the first stage detects the first received symbol assuming all possible choices of the interferer's MT (except the one corresponding to no interference), and generates the corresponding list of Euclidian distance metrics for all T vectors. These distances and symbols are stored in buffers (increased space complexity). The sum of the logarithm of the exponential of the distance metrics (no logarithms and exponentials with Max-Log-MAP and Quasi-Max-Log-MAP) are passed to an adder that accumulates them over a span of T tones, during which the interferer



Figure 8.3: CCR performance - 4×4 MU-MIMO - $N_{user} = 2 - M$ is 64-QAM - uncorrelated.

modulation is assumed to be static. The resulting accumulated distances for each interference hypothesis are saved, and after deciding on a winning hypothesis, the corresponding distances are forwarded for LLR processing. This block is only activated when the feature-based classifier decides that an interferer exists. Otherwise, SSSD is applied once, assuming the interfering MT is Φ , and the distances are forwarded for LLR processing.

As described in Sec.7.5, the proposed algorithms can be used in many communication standards. Since the interferer's modulation constellation remains static over T tones and L symbols, the particular choice of T = 234 results in substantial computational savings in the context of 802.11ac. The detector only needs to run in the above mode to identify the interferer's constellation for one OFDM symbol in the frame. It can then switch back to normal SSSD. The total number of distance computations needed to generate the LLRs from the 234×L× $|\mathcal{M}|$ × N_{user} . With likelihood-based MC, the average overhead of MC



Figure 8.4: FER performance - 4×4 MU-MIMO - $N_{user} = 2$ - \mathcal{M} is 64-QAM - uncorrelated.

is $234 \times 4 \times |\mathcal{M}| \times N_{\text{user}}$. This corresponds to a maximum increase of only 4/L%, compared to the distances computed by a SSSD with perfect knowledge about the interferer. The size L of the data field can take values between 8 and 1024, hence, the increase in distance computations ranges between 50% and less than 0.4%. With hierarchical MC, the overhead in distance computations is 3/L%, which only occurs 80% of times, and it thus ranges between 30% and 0.23%. However, we have to add the complexity of ZF and computing second order CCs.

8.5 Simulation Results

Joint MC and SSSD was implemented following the studied system model. The decision on the hypothesis is done after receiving T = 234 tones. Turbo coding is used, with a code rate of 1/2 and 8 decoding iterations. The interferer was assumed to hop over the five hypotheses with equal probability on every new



Figure 8.5: FER performance - 8×8 MU-MIMO - $N_{user} = 2$ - \mathcal{M} is 64-QAM - uncorrelated.

frame. Moreover, in addition to the regular channel \mathbf{H}_{c} , we considered another channel \mathbf{H}_{c} , that accounts for antenna correlation as defined for LTE.

The CCR of the MC schemes is shown in Fig. 8.3. Classifiers based on CC did not perform well since all hypotheses are QAMs, and the Quasi-Log-MAP and Quasi-Max-Log-MAP classifiers had a very similar performance. Hierarchical versions of the classifiers had exact likelihood-based classification performance, which means that the reduction in complexity came at no performance cost.

In the remaining figures, we illustrate the FER performance of five SSSD schemes: the IA SSSD, the MC-based SSSD with a hierarchical classifier, and the SSSD schemes that assume the interfering MT to be 64-QAM, 256-QAM, and 1024-QAM. For a 4×4 MU-MIMO system with $N_{\text{user}} = 2$, Fig. 8.4 shows the corresponding FER performance with 64-QAM and uncorrelated channels. Adding a MC routine and assuming the 64-QAM hypothesis are found to achieve near-IA performance. Moreover, less than 0.5 dB apart are the schemes that



Figure 8.6: FER performance - 4×4 MU-MIMO - $N_{\rm user}=2$ - $\mathcal M$ is 64-QAM - 0.3 correlation.



Figure 8.7: FER performance - 4×4 MU-MIMO - $N_{\rm user}=2$ - $\mathcal M$ is 64-QAM - 0.9 correlation.

assume 256-QAM and 1024-QAM, respectively. Similar performance is noted for 8×8 MU-MIMO, with $N_{user} = 2$ and six interfering layers, as shown in Fig. 8.5.

Upon adding channel correlation, some of the SSSD schemes that assume the interferer without MC will exhibit an error floor. Figure 8.6 shows the case when medium correlation is added (transmit and receive correlation factors of 0.3). The SSSD that assumes the interferer to be 16-QAM saturated, while the remaining schemes maintained near-IA performance. Pushing this further, Fig. 8.7 shows the case when the channel is highly correlated (transmit correlation factor of 0.6 and receive correlation factor of 0.9). Here, all interference-assuming detectors saturated, each at a different FER level, with the best of them being the SSSD that assumes the 1024-QAM hypothesis.

To better understand these results we note the following: SSSD is less sensitive to interference than other detection schemes, which explains why assuming an interfering MT without estimation works fine. Moreover, 64-QAM is closer to the median of the hypotheses, and hence slicing over it is more likely to result in a similar output to slicing over the correct hypothesis. However, with high channel correlation, the slicing operation will cause larger errors. Thus, assuming the interfering MT to be of high order reduces this error while maintaining the structure of a QAM. Finally, correlation shifts the plots to a higher SNR range, where the CCR of MC is near 1, and therefore near-IA performance is maintained with MC-based SSSD.

Conclusion

Several low-complexity SSSDs for MU-MIMO systems have been proposed, alongside an architectural implementation. It has been concluded that while assuming the MT of the interferer without estimation is sufficient with good channel conditions, MC is required at high SNR with correlated channels. The MC complexity overhead has been shown to reduce to only 0.23% in WiFi.

Chapter 9

Per-Layer MC for Adaptive MIMO Systems

In this chapter, the problem of efficient MC in regular single-user MIMO systems is considered. Per-layer likelihood-based MC is proposed by employing subspace decomposition to partially decouple the transmitted streams. When detecting the MT of the stream of interest, a dense constellation is assumed on all remaining streams. The proposed classifier outperforms existing MC schemes at a lower complexity cost, and can be efficiently implemented in the context of joint MC and subspace data detection. The corresponding results appeared in [168].

We follow the system model of Sec. 2.1. In a MIMO system that supports non-uniform MTs, each of the N transmitted symbols is assumed to be drawn from one of S possible MTs, with equal probability. We develop MC schemes to estimate the MT per-layer, using the received signal \mathbf{y} and assuming perfect CSI.

9.1 Likelihood-Based MIMO MC

With regular single-user MIMO, Bayesian hypothesis testing is performed on all the S^N possible hypotheses, corresponding to $\bar{X}_j = X_{j,1} \times \ldots \times X_{j,N}$ finite lattices $(j \in \{1, \ldots, S^N\})$, with likelihoods

$$\Pr(\mathbf{y}; \bar{\mathcal{X}}_j) = \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in \bar{\mathcal{X}}_j} \Pr(\mathbf{y} | \mathbf{x}) \Pr(\mathbf{x}).$$
(9.1)

Under statistical independence between the components of \mathbf{x} , and assuming uniform priors, $\Pr(x_n) = 1/|\mathcal{X}_n|$, the decision metric can be expressed as

$$\eta = \arg\max_{j \in \{1,...,S^N\}} \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in \bar{\mathcal{X}}_j} \Pr(\mathbf{y}|\mathbf{x}) \frac{1}{|\mathcal{X}_{j,1}|} \times \dots \times \frac{1}{|\mathcal{X}_{j,N}|}.$$
(9.2)

Consequently, the Log-MAP decision metric (ALRT solution) is

$$\eta_{\mathrm{L}} = \underset{j \in \{1, \dots, S^N\}}{\operatorname{arg\,max}} \left(\log \frac{1}{|\mathcal{X}_{j,1}|} + \dots + \log \frac{1}{|\mathcal{X}_{j,N}|} + \log \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in \bar{\mathcal{X}}_j} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{\sigma^2} \|\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}\|^2\right) \right).$$
(9.3)

Solving (9.3) is computationally intensive, because for each j we have to calculate $|\chi_{j,1}| \times \cdots \times |\chi_{j,N}|$ exponential terms. The Max-Log-MAP solution is:

$$\eta_{\rm M} = \arg\max_{j \in \{1,...,S^N\}} \left(\log \frac{1}{|\mathcal{X}_{j,1}|} + \dots + \log \frac{1}{|\mathcal{X}_{j,N}|} - d_j^{\rm ML} \right)$$
(9.4)

$$d_j^{\text{ML}} = \min_{\mathbf{x} \in \bar{\mathcal{X}}_j} \frac{1}{\sigma^2} \|\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}\|^2.$$
(9.5)

While Max-Log-MAP eliminates exponential operations, the number of Euclidean distance computations per hypothesis remains exponential, and computing the likelihood functions S^N times is exhaustive. An alternative approach is required, that separates the transmitted signals for individual treatment, which results in only $|X_{j,n}|$ distance computations per layer n and hypothesis $j \in \{1, \ldots, S\}$. This is achieved by the per-layer sub-optimal ALRT solution. With perfect CSI at the receiver, the sub-optimal ALRT classifier finds the ZF equalized output $\hat{\mathbf{y}}^{\text{ZF}}$, computes the scaled noise variance $\sigma_{\text{ZF}}^2 = (\mathbf{h}_n^{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{h}_n)^{-1} \sigma^2$, and generates the

likelihood function per layer n as follows:

$$\eta_{\rm S} = \underset{j \in \{1,\dots,S\}}{\arg\max} \left(\log \frac{1}{|\mathcal{X}_{j,n}|} + \log \sum_{x_n \in \mathcal{X}_{j,n}} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{\sigma_{\rm ZF}^2} \left|\hat{y}_n^{ZF} - x_n\right|^2\right) \right). \tag{9.6}$$

We seek a classifier that decouples the layers while maintaining distance metrics that are close to that of Log-MAP.

9.2 Proposed MIMO MC

We build on the WRD decomposition of Sec. 2.25. To generate the likelihood functions on all layers, the N streams are decoupled, one at a time, by cyclically shifting the columns of \mathbf{H} and generating the punctured UTMs. Alternatively, a minimal swapping operation can put the layer of interest n at the rightmost column location as described in Sec. 4.2.1. Each permuted $\mathbf{H}^{(n)}$ is then WR-decomposed into $\mathbf{W}^{(n)}$ and $\mathring{\mathbf{R}}^{(n)}$. By accumulating T observations before deciding on a winning hypothesis, the proposed likelihood functions at layer n can be expressed as:

$$\hat{\eta}_{\mathrm{L}} = \underset{j \in \{1, \dots, S\}}{\operatorname{arg\,max}} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \left(\log \frac{1}{|\mathcal{X}_{j,n}|} + \log \sum_{\tilde{x}_{2} \in \mathcal{X}_{j,n}} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{\sigma^{2}} \left\| \tilde{\mathbf{y}}^{(n)} - \mathring{\mathbf{R}}^{(n)} \mathbf{x} \right\|^{2}\right) \right)$$
(9.7)

$$\hat{\eta}_{\rm M} = \underset{j \in \{1,...,S\}}{\arg \max} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \left(\log \frac{1}{|\mathcal{X}_{j,n}|} - \hat{d}_j^{\rm ML} \right)$$
(9.8)

$$\hat{d}_{j}^{\mathrm{ML}} = \min_{\tilde{x}_{2} \in \mathcal{X}_{j,n}} \frac{1}{\sigma^{2}} \left\| \bar{\mathbf{y}}^{(n)} - \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{R}}^{(n)} \mathbf{x} \right\|^{2}.$$
(9.9)

Note that the knowledge of MTs on all remaining layers is required, which is infeasible in an independent per-layer scheme. Therefore, we propose to do slicing assuming dense constellations, 1024-QAM for example. The idea of slicing over a dense constellation comes from the work on MU-MIMO in Sec.8.3.3, where we

| Approach | Euc. Dist. | Exp. | Log. |
|----------------------|--|--|-------|
| Log-MAP (ALRT) | $S^N 	imes \mathcal{X}_{\max} ^N$ | $S^N 	imes \mathcal{X}_{	ext{max}} ^N$ | S^N |
| Max-Log-MAP | $S^N 	imes \mathcal{X}_{\max} ^N$ | 0 | 0 |
| Sub-optimal ALRT | $N \times S \times \mathcal{X}_{\max} $ | $N \times S \times \mathcal{X}_{\max} $ | S |
| Subspace-Log-MAP | $N \times S \times \mathcal{X}_{\max} $ | $N \times S \times \mathcal{X}_{\max} $ | S |
| Subspace-Max-Log-MAP | $N \times S \times \mathcal{X}_{\max} $ | 0 | 0 |

Table 9.1: Computational Complexity of MIMO MC Schemes

have shown that near-optimal data detection can be achieved while assuming interferers to have high order MTs, which captures the geometry of constellations while minimizing errors. Dense constellations are not an issue in our case, since subspace decomposition only employs these constellations in slicing operations.

Table 9.1 compares the upper bounds on computational complexity of studied classifiers, in terms of the number of Euclidean distance computations, as well as exponential and logarithmic operations, where χ_{max} is the largest possible MT. Note that the table does not account for the less significant preprocessing computations (ZF equalization, QRD/WRD) that can be computed once for a large number of observations when the channel variation is slow. While computations in optimal ALRT are exponential in the number of transmit antennas, they are linear in the proposed subspace-decomposition-based classifiers and sub-optimal ALRT solution (the latter is less complex since its distance computations are one dimensional).

Note that had we used QRD instead of WLD, the distance metrics in (9.7) and (9.8) would have been executed via SIC as done in LORD, resulting in LORD-Log-MAP and LORD-Max-Log-MAP classifiers, respectively.

9.3 Joint MC and Detection Architecture

Be it SSSD or MC, while independently processing a layer of interest, the MTs on the remaining layers are unknown, and parallel slicing or SIC is conducted

Algorithm 2 Proposed per-layer joint MC and detection

- 1: Swap the column of interest n with column N in \mathbf{H}
- 2: Decompose the channel matrix
- 3: Calculate the distance metrics for all hypotheses while assuming the MTs on the remaining layers to be 1024-QAM
- 4: Calculate the classifier likelihood function
- 5: Repeat steps 3 and 4 for T observations, accumulate likelihoods, and decide on the winning hypothesis
- 6: Forward the distance metrics that correspond to the winning hypothesis for bit LLR generation

assuming 1024-QAM. This means that the distance metrics computed for data detection are identical to those computed in (9.7) and (9.8), and thus combining MC and detection results in a minimal MC overhead.

The joint MC and detection setup is summarized in algorithm 2 and architecturally illustrated in Fig. 9.1. For T observations, the detection routine is executed T times for all hypotheses, and the resulting distance metrics are stored in memory. Concurrently, the likelihood of each hypothesis is computed. Eventually, the metrics corresponding to the winning hypothesis are retrieved for LLR processing. The receiver can run in this joint mode for a sufficient number of observations and then switch back to regular data detection. Moreover, since the operations on different layers are independent, the proposed algorithm can be parallelized on multiple processing units.

9.4 Simulation Results

Several MC and detection schemes were simulated in the context of 4×4 MIMO. We considered five hypotheses of MTs per layer, varying with equal probability on every new frame, which are Φ , QPSK, 16-QAM, 64-QAM and 256-QAM, with Φ here corresponding to the case when the transmitting antenna is silent, as opposed to no interference in MU-MIMO. Note that an all-QAM set of hypotheses that only differs by modulation order is hard to classify, but is more likely to occur



Figure 9.1: Joint MC and subspace detection architecture.

in future standards. The winning hypothesis was decided after accumulating T = 1000 observations. Turbo coding was used, with a code rate of 1/2 and 8 decoding iterations. Moreover, in addition to the regular channel **H**, we considered a correlated channel with a correlation factor of 0.3 as defined for LTE.

Figure 9.2 shows that for uncorrelated channels, the best performance is achieved by Subspace-Log-MAP and LORD-Log-MAP classifiers, when the MTs on the remaining layers are assumed to be 1024-QAM. The Subspace-Max-Log-MAP and sub-optimal ALRT classifiers lag behind, but are also capable of achieving unity CCR at high SNR. However, assuming 64-QAMs instead of 1024-QAMs



Figure 9.2: CCR performance - uncorrelated channels.



Figure 9.3: CCR performance - correlated channels.



Figure 9.4: FER performance - correlated channels - 64-QAM on layer of interest.

resulted in bad classification performance for both subspace-decomposition and LORD-based classifiers. The exhaustive Log-MAP classifier with T = 10 observations only was added as a reference, and the much less complex proposed approaches outperformed it. Also, the reference feature based (4th order CCs) classifier performed very bad with an all-QAM set of hypotheses. Figure 9.3 then shows that for highly correlated channels, only Subspace-Log-MAP performs well at high SNR, approaching the upper Log-MAP bound.

The corresponding coded FER performance of the proposed detectors with high channel correlation is shown in Fig. 9.4. The detectors were simulated assuming the layer of interest to use 64-QAM (following successful per-layer MC), while the MTs at the remaining layers were unknown, and randomly hopping over possible hypotheses. Both SLORD and SSSD were tested, assuming the remaining MTs to be 1024-QAM or 64-QAM. These detectors were compared to the regular MT-aware SLORD and SSSD that have perfect knowledge of MTs on all layers. While regular SSSD beats SLORD by more than 10 dB, only assuming 1024-QAM in conjunction with SSSD was able to achieve near MT-aware performance. This declares the subspace-based classifiers winners in the context of joint MC and detection.

Conclusion

Low-complexity per-layer MC schemes have been proposed for MIMO systems, based on subspace decomposition. It has been shown that assuming the MT on all layers except the layer of interest to be a dense constellation results in good classification performance. This assumption has been proved to have a negligible performance degradation cost in SSSD, which made fully parallelizable efficient joint MC and data detection feasible.

Chapter 10

Massive MIMO 1-Bit Precoding

In this chapter, the problem of efficient precoding in the downlink of massive multiple-input multiple-output systems is considered. We investigate the performance and complexity tradeoffs of search-based precoders in the context of 1-bit digital-to-analog converters. By adapting the procedures of popular searchbased detection algorithms to 1-bit quantized precoding, two families of nonlinear precoders are proposed. The first employs QR-decomposition combined with tree-based search techniques, and the second uses Gibbs sampling for search enumerations without decomposing the channel. Simulations demonstrate that some of the proposed schemes outperform reference nonlinear precoders, both in performance and complexity with low order MIMO, and in performance with a graceful increase in computations in the context of massive MIMO with high order modulation types.

10.1 System Model

We consider, as shown in Fig.10.1, a downlink multiuser MIMO scenario in which a BS with B antennas serves U single-antenna UEs at the same time and frequency. While the RF chains are assumed ideal, the DACs at the BSs are subject



Figure 10.1: Massive MIMO downlink system model

to 1-bit quantization. The equivalent complex baseband input-output system relation is $\mathbf{y} = \mathbf{H}\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{n}$, where $\mathbf{y} = [y_1 \cdots y_u \cdots y_U]^T \in C^{U \times 1}$ is the received vector, $\mathbf{H} \in C^{U \times B}$ is the downlink circularly-symmetric channel matrix with CN(0, 1) entries, $\mathbf{x} = [x_1 \cdots x_b \cdots x_B]^T \in \overline{\mathcal{L}}^{B \times 1}$ is the precoded transmitted symbol vector, and $\mathbf{n} \in C^{U \times 1}$ is the noise vector with $CN(0, \sigma^2)$ entries. With finite-precision, the *b*th symbol of \mathbf{x} , $x_b = l_{\mathbf{R}} + jl_{\mathbf{I}} \in \overline{\mathcal{L}}$, has quantized in-phase and quadrature components, i.e., $l_{\mathbf{R}}, l_{\mathbf{I}} \in \mathcal{L}$ where $\mathcal{L} = \{l_0, l_1, \cdots, l_{L-1}\}$ is the set of possible quantization labels and $\overline{\mathcal{L}} = \mathcal{L} \times \mathcal{L}$. For 1-bit quantization, we have $\overline{\mathcal{L}} = |\mathcal{L}| = 2$.

Precoding is used to increase the array gain and reduce multi-user interference. Prior to precoding, the symbol vector $\mathbf{s} = [s_1 \cdots s_2 \cdots s_U]^T \in \mathcal{M}^U$ is obtained by mapping the information bits to a QAM constellation \mathcal{M} . The BS then uses the knowledge of \mathbf{H} to precode \mathbf{s} into $\mathbf{x} = \mathcal{P}_{\nabla}(\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{H})$, through a mapping function $\mathcal{P}_{\nabla}(\cdot, \cdot) = \mathcal{M}^U \times C^{U \times B} \rightarrow \bar{\mathcal{L}}^B$. The precoded vector satisfies the average power constraint $\mathsf{E}\left[\|\mathbf{x}\|^2 \leq P\right]$ for some maximum transmit power P, and the SNR is consequently defined as $\mathsf{SNR} = P/\sigma^2$. We thus have $\bar{\mathcal{L}} = \{\sqrt{P/2B}(\pm 1 \pm j)\}$. At the receiver, we assume that the *u*th UE is capable of accounting for array gain, by scaling the received symbol y_u by a precoding factor $\beta \in \mathcal{R}$, that depends on a perfectly known \mathbf{H} , to obtain an estimate $\hat{s}_u = \beta y_u$, which gets sliced over \mathcal{M} .

10.2 Reference Precoders

A popular approach for formulating the precoding optimization problem is minimizing the mean square error between the received signal and the transmitted symbols under the power constraint [106, 169]. With coarse quantization, an additional distortion due to finite precoder outputs exists. Since optimal precoding is exhaustive due to the cardinality of $\bar{\mathcal{L}}^B$, only LQPs and low-complexity NLQPs are feasible.

10.2.1 Linear Quantized Precoders

With LQPs, a precoding matrix $\mathbf{P} \in C^{B \times U}$ is designed based solely on \mathbf{H} . The transmit vector is generated as a quantized version of \mathbf{Ps} , i.e., $\mathbf{x} = Q(\mathbf{Ps})$, where $Q(\cdot): C^B \to \bar{\mathcal{L}}^B$ is the quantizer-mapping function

$$Q(\mathbf{z}) = \sqrt{P/2B} \left(\operatorname{sgn}(\mathfrak{R}\{\mathbf{z}\}) + j \operatorname{sgn}(\mathfrak{I}\{\mathbf{z}\}) \right).$$
(10.1)

The MMSE precoding problem is expressed as

$$\min_{\mathbf{P}\in\mathcal{C}^{B\times U},\ \beta\in\mathcal{R}} \quad \mathsf{E}_{\mathbf{s}}[\|\mathbf{s}-\beta\mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}\|^{2}] + \beta^{2}U\sigma^{2}$$
(10.2)

subject to
$$\mathsf{E}_{\mathbf{s}}[\|\mathbf{x}\|^2] \le P$$
, and $\beta > 0$. (10.3)

Solving (10.2) in closed form is challenging due to quantization. An alternative solution [106] is to design linear precoders that assume infinite-resolution DACs at the BS, and then quantize the resulting precoded vector. For example, for the ZF precoder, we have

$$\mathbf{P}^{\mathrm{ZF}} = \frac{1}{\beta^{\mathrm{ZF}}} \mathbf{H}^{H} (\mathbf{H} \mathbf{H}^{H})^{-1}$$
(10.4)

$$\beta^{ZF} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{P}} \sqrt{\operatorname{tr}((\mathbf{H}\mathbf{H}^{H})^{-1})}.$$
(10.5)

The resulting precoded vector is $\mathbf{x}^{\text{ZF}} = Q(\mathbf{P}^{\text{ZF}}\mathbf{s})$.

10.2.2 Nonlinear Quantized Precoders

With NLQPs, \mathbf{x} is obtained as a function of both \mathbf{H} and the instantaneous \mathbf{s} . The 1-bit NLQP problem is defined as

$$\min_{\mathbf{x}\in\bar{\mathcal{L}}^{B},\ \beta\in\mathcal{R}} \|\mathbf{s}-\boldsymbol{\beta}\mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}\|^{2}+\boldsymbol{\beta}^{2}U\sigma^{2}$$
(10.6)

subject to
$$\beta > 0.$$
 (10.7)

Note that this resembles an L₂-norm regularized closest-vector problem (CVP), and solving it exhaustively requires $|\bar{\mathcal{L}}^B| = 4^B$ Euclidean distance computations. The SD can solve the CVP exactly with less computations. To map the SD procedure to the SP at the transmitter side, it is noted in [106] that

$$\|\mathbf{s} - \boldsymbol{\beta}\mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}\|^2 + \boldsymbol{\beta}^2 U\sigma^2 = \|\mathbf{s} - \boldsymbol{\beta}\mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}\|^2 + \boldsymbol{\beta}^2 \frac{U\sigma^2}{P} \|\mathbf{x}\|^2$$
(10.8)

$$= \left\| \bar{\mathbf{s}} - \boldsymbol{\beta} \bar{\mathbf{H}} \mathbf{x} \right\|^2, \tag{10.9}$$

since $\|\mathbf{x}\|^2 = P$ in the case of 1-bit quantization, and where $\bar{\mathbf{s}} = [\mathbf{s}^T \ \mathbf{0}_B^T]^T$ and $\bar{\mathbf{H}} = [\mathbf{H}^T \sqrt{U\sigma^2/P}\mathbf{I}_B]^T$. The problem formulation in (10.6) can thus be rewritten as

$$\min_{\mathbf{x}\in\bar{\mathcal{L}}^B} \|\bar{\mathbf{s}}-\beta\bar{\mathbf{H}}\mathbf{x}\|^2, \qquad (10.10)$$

which can be transformed into a tree-search problem via QRD, where branches that exceed a specific radius constraint are pruned. However, the SP is still considered a brute-force solution in the context of massive MIMO. Hence, the most popular approximations to solve (10.6) are via semi-definite relaxation [107], namely the SQUID precoder and its variants.

10.3 Proposed QRD-Based Precoders

Building on the construction in (10.8) and applying QRD, we have $\overline{\mathbf{H}} = \mathbf{QR}$, where $\mathbf{Q} \in C^{(B+U)\times B}$ has orthonormal columns, and $\mathbf{R} \in C^{B\times B}$ is a square UTM. Let $\tilde{\mathbf{s}} = [\tilde{s}_1 \cdots \tilde{s}_b \cdots \tilde{s}_B] = \mathbf{Q}^H \overline{\mathbf{s}} \in C^{B\times 1}$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{R}} = \beta \mathbf{R} = [r_{bl}] \in C^{B\times B}$ with $r_{bb} \in \mathcal{R}^+$, the problem in (10.10) can be expressed as

$$\min_{\mathbf{x}\in\bar{\mathcal{L}}^B} \|\tilde{\mathbf{s}}-\tilde{\mathbf{R}}\mathbf{x}\|^2.$$
(10.11)

We next present low-complexity solutions to (10.11). The first solution follows from the NC detector. We propose the NC precoder (NCP) in which successive back-substitution and slicing are applied to suppress co-antenna interference. Hence, $\mathbf{x}^{\text{NCP}} = [x_1^{\text{NCP}} \cdots x_n^{\text{NCP}} \cdots x_N^{\text{NCP}}]$ is computed as

$$x_b^{\rm NCP} = Q\left(\left(\tilde{s}_b - \sum_{l=b+1}^B r_{bl} x_l^{\rm NCP}\right) / r_{bb}\right),\tag{10.12}$$

for $b = B, B - 1, \cdots, 1$.

In the second solution, we map the search routine in the CD to a chase precoder (CP) at the transmitter. The CP proceeds by populating a list $\mathcal{S}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}, \tilde{\mathbf{R}})$ of candidate symbol vectors for final decision. It first partitions $\tilde{\mathbf{s}}$, $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}$, and \mathbf{x} as

$$\tilde{\mathbf{s}} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_1 \\ \tilde{s}_B \end{bmatrix}, \quad \tilde{\mathbf{R}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{A} & \mathbf{b} \\ \mathbf{0} & c \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{x} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{x}_1 \\ x_B \end{bmatrix},$$
 (10.13)

where $\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_1 \in C^{(B-1)\times 1}$, $\tilde{s}_N \in C^{1\times 1}$, $\mathbf{A} \in C^{(B-1)\times(B-1)}$, $\mathbf{b} \in C^{(B-1)\times 1}$, $c \in \mathcal{R}^{1\times 1}$, $\mathbf{x}_1 \in \bar{\mathcal{L}}^{B-1}$, **0** is a $1 \times (B-1)$ vector of zero-valued entries, and $x_B \in \bar{\mathcal{L}}$. Then, for each x_B at the root layer, a candidate vector is accumulated via SIC on upper layers using (10.12) and added to \mathcal{S} . The number of candidate vectors in \mathcal{S} is $|\bar{\mathcal{L}}| = 2^{\bar{L}} = 4$, and the transmit vector is chosen from $\boldsymbol{\mathcal{S}}$ to be

$$\mathbf{x}^{\text{CP}} = \underset{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{S}}{\arg\min} \left\| \tilde{\mathbf{s}} - \tilde{\mathbf{R}} \mathbf{x} \right\|^2.$$
(10.14)

Furthermore, we propose a third precoder that is based on LORD, which we call the layered orthogonal lattice precoder (LORP). Instead of executing the CP routine once, LORP repeats chase precoding with different layer orderings, each time with a different layer as a root, by cyclically shifting the columns of $\mathbf{\bar{H}}$. The best output from these trials is the final solution. Each permuted $\mathbf{\bar{H}}$ at step $t, t = 1, \dots, B$, is QR-decomposed into $\mathbf{Q}^{(t)}$ and $\mathbf{R}^{(t)}$ and then partitioned as in (10.13). Let $\mathbf{x}_{(t)}^{CP}$ denote the CP solution at step t. Then, the final solution \mathbf{x}^{LORP} is $\mathbf{x}_{(t_{\min})}^{CP}$, where

$$t_{min} = \underset{t \in \{1, \cdots, B\}}{\operatorname{arg\,min}} \left\| \tilde{\mathbf{s}} - \tilde{\mathbf{R}} \mathbf{x}_{(t)}^{\operatorname{CP}} \right\|^2.$$
(10.15)

Since distances are preserved under different layer orderings with QRD, the accumulated candidate vectors across different partitions form an "extended" candidate list, which results in an added gain with LORP compared to CP. Note that the decomposition steps are independent, and can hence be computed in parallel.

All these proposed precoders depend on the value of the parameter β . However, the optimal β is unknown in practice. Since the objective function in (10.6) is quadratic in β , we have

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\Re\{\mathbf{s}^H \mathbf{H} \mathbf{x}\}}{\|\mathbf{H} \mathbf{x}\|^2 + U\sigma^2}$$
(10.16)

$$= \frac{\Re\{\mathbf{s}^{H}\mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}\}}{\mathbf{x}^{H}(\mathbf{H}^{H}\mathbf{H} + \frac{U\sigma^{2}}{P}\mathbf{I}_{B})\mathbf{x}}.$$
(10.17)

Hence, knowing **x** suffices to compute β . The proposed precoders can then be implemented iteratively. At the first iteration $\tau = 1$, the precoder, say NCP, is initialized with β^{ZF} . Then, after obtaining the precoding vector $\mathbf{x}_{(\tau)}^{\text{NCP}}$ at an iteration $\tau > 1$, we can compute $\beta_{\tau+1}^{\text{NCP}} = \hat{\beta}(\mathbf{x}_{(\tau)}^{\text{NCP}})$ using (10.16). This continues until convergence, or for a maximum of 10 iterations.

Moreover, since β depends on the instantaneous vector **s** with NLQP, it cannot be estimated at the receiver. As a solution, it is shown in [170] that it is sufficient to modify the precoding problem in (10.6) such that a common β is chosen for a block of transmit symbols. This allows the UEs to estimate β through pilot transmissions or blind estimation techniques. However, in the specific case of the constant envelope QPSK modulation, which is capacity-achieving with 1-bit quantization, there is no need for scaling. Hence, computing β at the receiver is redundant in this case, but including it as an extra degree of freedom in the iterative precoding problem at the transmitter will still lead to performance enhancement.

10.4 Proposed Non-QRD-Based Precoders

Taking into consideration the fact that the QRD of a large matrix is computationally demanding, we propose alternative search-based precoders that exploit (10.6) directly, without decompositions. The resultant schemes are similar to precoding designs with finite candidates in the literature. We hereby study their applicability to 1-bit massive MIMO. The first precoder mimics the behaviour of Gibbs-sampling-based detectors for large MIMO, and it is hence called the Gibbs precoder (GP).

Starting from the ZF solution at $\tau = 1$, we have $\mathbf{x}_{(\tau=1)}^{\text{GP}} = \mathbf{x}^{\text{ZF}}$ and $\beta_{(\tau=1)}^{\text{GP}} = \beta^{\text{ZF}}$. At each iteration $\tau > 1$, the GP routine begins by varying the symbol \dot{x}_b , 1 < b < B, in the vector $\dot{\mathbf{x}} = [\dot{x}_1 \cdots \dot{x}_b \cdots \dot{x}_B]^T = \mathbf{x}_{(\tau-1)}^{\text{GP}}$, while keeping the remaining elements of $\dot{\mathbf{x}}$ intact. For each possible value of \dot{x}_b , the metric $d(\dot{\mathbf{x}}) = \left\|\mathbf{s} - \beta_{(\tau-1)}^{\text{GP}} \mathbf{H}\dot{\mathbf{x}}\right\|_2^2 + \beta_{(\tau-1)}^{\text{GP}} U\sigma^2$ gets computed and stored in memory, alongside its corresponding symbol flip. This repeats for all remaining symbols in $\dot{\mathbf{x}}$, where every time a specific symbol is being explored, the remaining symbols retain their values from

Algorithm 3 Gibbs precoder algorithm

1: $\mathbf{x}_{(\tau=1)}^{\text{GP}} = \mathbf{x}^{\text{ZF}}, \ \boldsymbol{\beta}_{(\tau=1)}^{\text{GP}} = \boldsymbol{\beta}^{\text{ZF}}$ 2: for $\tau = 2: 10$ do $\dot{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{x}_{(\tau-1)}^{\text{GP}}$ for b = 1 : B do 3: 4: $x_b^{\text{GP}}(\tau) = \arg\min_{\acute{x}_b \in \mathcal{X}} \left\| \mathbf{s} - \boldsymbol{\beta}_{(\tau-1)}^{\text{GP}} \mathbf{H} \acute{\mathbf{x}} \right\|_2^2 + {\boldsymbol{\beta}_{(\tau-1)}^{\text{GP}}}^2 U \sigma^2$ 5: end for 6: $\boldsymbol{\beta}_{(\tau)}^{\text{GP}} = \Re\{\mathbf{s}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}_{(\tau)}^{\text{GP}}\} / \left(\left\|\left\|\mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}_{(\tau)}^{\text{GP}}\right\|_{2}^{2} + U\sigma^{2}\right)\right\|_{2}^{2} + U\sigma^{2}\right)$ 7: if $\mathbf{x}_{(\tau)}^{\text{GP}} == \mathbf{x}_{(\tau-1)}^{\text{GP}}$ then Break 8: 9: end if 10:11: end for

the initial solution $\mathbf{x}_{(\tau-1)}^{\text{GP}}$. After accumulating $B \times (2^{\bar{L}} - 1) + 1$ metric values, the symbol flip that best minimizes d is applied to the initial solution to obtain $\mathbf{x}_{(\tau)}^{\text{GP}}$. The corresponding procedure is summarized in Algorithm 3. Let \mathcal{G} be the set of $B \times (2^{\bar{L}} - 1) + 1$ tested candidate vectors, GP effectively solves

$$\mathbf{x}_{(\tau)}^{\text{GP}} = \underset{\mathbf{\dot{x}} \in \mathcal{G}}{\operatorname{arg\,min}} \left\| \mathbf{s} - \boldsymbol{\beta}_{(\tau-1)}^{\text{GP}} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{\dot{x}} \right\|_{2}^{2} + \boldsymbol{\beta}_{(\tau-1)}^{\text{GP}} U \sigma^{2}.$$
(10.18)

This differs from conventional Gibbs sampling, where exploring a new symbol starts after updating the solution with the best value of the previous symbol. In the proposed GP all symbols can be explored in parallel. Furthermore, metric computations can be significantly reduced when only one symbol is modified compared to the initial solution. Computing $\beta_{(\tau)}^{\text{GP}}$ using (10.16) completes one iteration, and this gets repeated until convergence, or for a maximum of T = 10 iterations.

The GP can be seen as the non-QRD version of LORP. We similarly propose the single-layer GP (SGP) as a non-QRD version of CP. With SGP, only one arbitrary symbol is varied in the search routine. Furthermore, we add as a reference the exhaustive ML precoder, that in each iteration τ exhaustively searches all possible values of $\mathbf{\dot{x}} \in \bar{\mathcal{L}}^{B}$, to find the vector that best minimizes the distance



Figure 10.2: Modular architecture design for QRD-based precoders.

metric $d(\mathbf{\dot{x}})$. Since QRD does not modify distances, SP and ML precoding are identical.

10.5 Complexity Analysis

A modular cost-efficient architecture that implements the QRD-based precoders is shown in Fig. 10.2, and its non-QRD-based counterpart is shown in Fig. 10.3. The designs are hierarchical, showing LORD using CP building blocks, that them-



Figure 10.3: Modular architecture design for non-QRD-based precoders.

selves use NCP, while GP uses SGP blocks. With CP, the distances computed and their symbol vectors are directly forwarded for a processing unit at the corresponding layer of interest. Since the CP processes can run in parallel on all layers, the LORP precoding vector can be computed after a CP processing delay of one layer. The LORP architecture is thus partially parallelizable. A similar behavior can be noted with SGP and GP, where SGP is fully parallelizable but GP is not.

We analyze the complexity in terms of floating-point operations (FLOPs) based on real multiplications and additions. Real division and square-root operations are assumed equivalent to a real multiplication, while complex multiplication requires 4 real multiplications and 2 real additions, and complex addition requires 2 real additions. The complexity plots are generated via simulations to take into account the fact that some of the proposed schemes converge faster than others. Note that since the search is for the best combination of quantiza-



Figure 10.4: Complexity in number of FLOPs - 16×128 MIMO.

tion vectors, it can be argued that the complexity is almost independent of the true MT prior to quantization.

Figure 10.4 compares the average number of FLOPs per transmitted frame for the studied precoders versus SNR, in the context of massive 16×128 MIMO. Except for SP, the entailed complexity of the precoders is almost independent of SNR. While SGP is the least complex (near-ZF complexity), LORP is shown to be relatively exhaustive and impractical. In between, CP, NCP, GP, and SQUID are all feasible solutions. Compared to SQUID, GP is twice as complex, while CP and NCP result in a linear increase in complexity. Figure 10.5 then compares the complexity of the studied precoders in the case of 2×8 multiuser MIMO. Here again LORP is relatively complex, but it is much less complex than ML precoding, and even less complex than SP at high SNR. The remaining precoders, CP, NCP, GP, and SGP are all less complex than the reference SQUID.



Figure 10.5: Complexity in number of FLOPs - 2×8 MIMO.

Nevertheless, these complexity numbers can be significantly reduced, if real representations of the complex matrices were employed with 1-bit precoding. In this case, all multiplications with candidate precoding vectors can be conducted by simple sign flips. Finally, it can be argued that the complexity of the proposed precoders will only scale up marginally with higher order coarse quantizations.

10.6 Simulation Results and Discussions

The studied precoding schemes are simulated following the system model of Sec. 10.1. The simulation chain that includes reference precoding schemes is regenerated from [106]. Quantized ZF and ZF with infinity resolution (ZFi) are simulated for reference, alongside SQUID and SP. Figure 10.6 shows the uncoded bit error rate (BER) performance with 16×128 massive MIMO, when \mathcal{M} is



Figure 10.6: Uncoded BER performance - 16×128 MIMO - QPSK.

QPSK. All proposed precoders achieve the same performance as SQUID, lagging behind ZFi by 3 dB, except for SGP, which is as bad as ZF. Note that the average number of required FLOPs is added to the legends.

Figure 10.7 then shows the results for the massive MIMO scenario with 16-QAM. The first thing to notice here is that SQUID is numerically unstable at high SNR with high order MTs. The best performing search-based precoder with high order constellations is LORP, which lags behind ZFi by 4dB, followed by CP, NCP, and GP, respectively.

As for the case of lower order 2×8 MIMO systems, Fig. 10.8 shows that even with QPSK, SQUID fails to converge at high SNR. The best performing precoders in this scenario are LORP and GP, which achieve near ML/SP performance. SGP introduced a slight improvement compared to ZF, but both are significantly outperformed by CP and NCP.

Taking both performance and complexity into consideration, it can be argued



Figure 10.7: Uncoded BER performance - 16×128 MIMO - 16-QAM.

that CP, NCP, and GP are efficient candidates for massive MIMO precoding with coarse quantization. They outmatch reference nonlinear precoders in the literature, in performance, complexity, or both, depending on the scenario. Table 10.1 summarizes the results, and illustrates the corresponding scenario-dependent recommendations. The classification metrics are Inefficient, Feasible and Efficient.

Despite its low complexity, SGP does not perform well and is thus inefficient. On the other hand, despite good performance, LORP and SP are only applicable with low MIMO orders. SQUID is clearly the winner in the context of massive MIMO with QPSK. However, NCP, CP, and GP are scalable and efficient solutions for most scenarios. CP is the best solution at high SNR with massive MIMO and large MTs, while GP is the best solution with low-order MIMO, and a very efficient solution with massive MIMO as well.

Therefore, contrary to popular belief, the use of search-based precoding in massive MIMO systems is valid and efficient. This observation is emphasized



Figure 10.8: Uncoded BER performance - 2×8 MIMO - QPSK.

in an adaptive setting (adaptive modulators and precoders), where the proposed modular architectures would result in significant simplifications. Since the proposed less complex precoders constitute their more complex extensions, an optimized hardware with simple switching circuitry can insure seamless hopping over different precoders depending on runtime channel conditions.

Conclusion

Two families of efficient nonlinear search-based precoders have been proposed, in the context of massive MIMO with 1-bit DACs, which are QRD-based and non-QRD-based. It has been shown through empirical simulations that the proposed precoders can achieve significant performance and complexity gains compared to reference nonlinear precoders with low order MIMO systems, as well as performance gains at the expense of graceful complexity costs with massive MIMO.

| SQUID | Efficient | Efficient | Efficient | Inefficient | Inefficient | Inefficient | Inefficient | Inefficient |
|---------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|
| SP | Inefficient | Inefficient | Inefficient | Inefficient | Feasible | Inefficient | Feasible | Inefficient |
| GP | Efficient | Efficien | Efficient | Feasible | Efficient | Efficient | Efficient | Efficient |
| SGP | Inefficient |
| LORP | Inefficient | Inefficient | Inefficient | Inefficient | Feasible | Feasible | Feasible | Feasible |
| CP | Feasible | Feasible | Feasible | Efficient | Feasible | Inefficient | Feasible | Inefficient |
| NCP | Feasible | Feasible | Feasible | Efficient | Feasible | Inefficient | Feasible | Inefficient |
| SNR Range | Low SNR | High SNR |
| MT Order | QPSK | | 16-QAM | | QPSK | | 16 OAM | INTU 720-01 |
| MIMO Order | | Massive | | | | Low-Order | | |

Table 10.1: Summary of Precoders and Recommendations

Chapter 11

Conclusions and Future Work

Conclusions

In the first part of this thesis, single-user MIMO systems have been addressed. Heuristic techniques have been first proposed to increase the efficiency of low order MIMO systems, by enhancing iterative detection/decoding receivers with high order MTs, as well as reducing the preprocessing channel matrix QRD overhead in popular detectors. Then, a family of low-complexity MIMO detectors that employ punctured QRD in lieu of regular QRD has been proposed and studied, both analytically, by deriving bounds on the capacity, diversity gains, and error probability, and empirically through simulations. The proposed HO detectors have been shown to achieve significant computational savings in the context of large MIMO systems, while at the same time achieving the same diversity gains as their QRD-based counterparts. Furthermore, significant performance gains have been observed with the proposed SO detectors, especially with highly correlated channels. An architectural design has been proposed, by using the detectors of lower complexity as building blocks in their more complex extensions, and it has been established that the proposed schemes scale up efficiently, both in the number of antennas and the constellation size. In particular, SO per-layer
subspace detection has been shown to achieve a $2.5 \,\mathrm{dB}$ SNR gain in 256-QAM 16×16 MIMO, while saving 77% of N/C computations.

In the second part of the thesis, several low-complexity MU-MIMO detectors have been proposed, that are based on joint detection and MC. The discussion was first motivated by studying dual-layer systems, and then extended to higher order systems. In particular, the MC complexity overhead in the context of joint MC and SSSD has been shown to reduce to 0.23%. It has been concluded that while assuming the MT of the interferer without estimation is sufficient with good channel conditions, MC is required at high SNR with correlated channels. An extension to this work was to consider MC in a single-user scenario with adaptive MTs. Per-layer MC has been achieved via subspace decomposition, and significant performance and complexity reduction gains have been noted.

It can be argued that the proposed schemes in this thesis are better candidates for large MIMO detection than reference detectors in the literature when complexity is taken into consideration. For example, detection based on local search [37,38] does not achieve near-ML diversity, nor does it scale up efficiently with high order modulation constellations. Similarly, heuristic tabu search algorithms [39,40] do not perform well with high order MTs, and their performance is hard to track analytically. Detectors based on message passing on graphical models [41,42] have been recently extended to support high order MTs; however, they are better suited for joint iterative detection and decoding schemes. Furthermore, with LR [43,44], processing large channel matrices using conventional reduction schemes is costly, and low complexity schemes such as element-based LR incur performance degradation. Nevertheless, LR can be implemented in combination with our proposed approaches, despite the fact that the resultant LLR computations are not straightforward. Finally, detection using Monte Carlo sampling [45] is clearly outperformed by the proposed schemes.

In the last part of this thesis, preliminary results on the scalability of nonlinear search-based precoding in the context of massive MIMO have been discussed.

Future Work

As a future work, we will mainly aim at investigating low-complexity nonlinear precoding and detection algorithms for massive MIMO, which can outperform conventional state-of-the-art linear solutions with graceful computational costs. Our focus would be on the case where neither the transmitter nor the receiver have any a priori CSI. This implies that the fading realizations have to be learned through pilot transmission followed by channel estimation at the receiver, based on coarsely quantized observations. For simplicity, we will assume single-cell operation at early stages of the work. We will try to exploit the extra degrees of freedom to combat quantization effects. The investigated algorithms are to be supported by theoretical performance analysis and practical architectural designs, in order to present well defined feasible end-to-end solutions for future 5G wireless systems. In particular, we can proceed as follows:

- Investigate search-based NLQP algorithms for the downlink. Explore space for performance and complexity tradeoffs. Extend the investigation to include the complexity of the UE into account, and explore space for tradeoffs between precoding at the BS and detection at the UEs.
- Analyse the performance of the proposed NLQPs theoretically, using diversity studies, bit error rate (BER) computations, and capacity analyses.
- Design practical architectures that realise the proposed NLQPs. Implement and test the proposed designs in hardware to obtain exact measures of the occupied area and achievable throughput.
- Investigate quantized detectors for the uplink and explore performancecomplexity tradeoffs. Analyse the performance of the proposed detectors theoretically.

- Design practical architectures that can realise the proposed detectors. Implement and test the proposed designs in hardware.
- Investigate channel estimation schemes and analyse the impact on the overall system theoretically.
- Design practical architectures that can realise the proposed channel estimators, jointly with the detectors, or as separate entities.
- Investigate alternative uses of the degrees of freedom that are provided by the large number of BS antennas. One approach is to design smart coding schemes across the extra dimensions. For instance, a group of antennas with 1-bit data converters can be jointly encoded to support a single data stream, as if they were a single antenna element with higher resolution. This can be thought of as layered quantization.

Moreover, the work in several sections in this thesis can be further extended. In what follows we highlight some examples in a random order of importance.

- Implement the proposed efficient architectures in hardware.
- Further analyse the AIR-based detectors and compare them to our proposed WRD detectors, both in performance and complexity.
- Extend the capacity analysis to propose optimized resource allocation schemes that make best use of the proposed detectors.
- Derive the capacity bounds of the proposed shemes for very large MIMO.
- Conduct a theoretical study to identify at what precoding conditions is MC beneficial to mitigate intra-cell interference.
- Investigate the performance-complexity tradeoffs of solutions that trade precoding at the BS with MC followed by IA detection at the receiver.

Bibliography

- "IEEE standard for local and metropolitan area networks part 11: Wireless LAN medium access control (MAC) and physical layer (PHY)," *IEEE Std. 802.11*, 2012. [Online]. Available: http: //standards.ieee.org/getieee802/802.11.html
- [2] "IEEE standard for air interface for broadband wireless access systems," *IEEE Std. 802.16*, 2012. [Online]. Available: http://standards.ieee.org/ getieee802/802.16.html
- [3] "Physical channels and mapping of transport channels onto physical channels," 3GPP Std. TS 25.211. [Online]. Available: http://www.3gpp.org
- [4] "Evolved universal terrestrial radio access (E-UTRA); physical channels and modulation," *3GPP Std. TS 36.211.* [Online]. Available: http: //www.3gpp.org
- [5] A. Paulraj, R. Nabar, and D. Gore, *Introduction to space-time wireless communications*. Cambridge University Press, 2003.
- [6] G. J. Foschini and M. J. Gans, "On limits of wireless communications in a fading environment when using multiple antennas," *Wireless Personal Commun.*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 311–335, Mar. 1998.
- [7] E. Telatar, "Capacity of multi-antenna Gaussian channels," Transactions on Emerging Telecommunications Technologies, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 585–595, Nov. 1999.
- [8] B. M. Hochwald and S. Ten Brink, "Achieving near-capacity on a multipleantenna channel," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 51, no. 3, pp. 389–399, Mar. 2003.
- [9] T. L. Marzetta and B. M. Hochwald, "Capacity of a mobile multiple-antenna communication link in Rayleigh flat fading," *IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory*, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 139–157, Jan. 1999.

- [10] D. Gesbert, M. Kountouris, R. W. Heath, C. b. Chae, and T. Salzer, "Shifting the MIMO paradigm," *IEEE Signal Process. Mag.*, vol. 24, no. 5, pp. 36–46, Sep. 2007.
- [11] E. G. Larsson, O. Edfors, F. Tufvesson, and T. L. Marzetta, "Massive MIMO for next generation wireless systems," *IEEE Commun. Mag.*, vol. 52, no. 2, pp. 186–195, Feb. 2014.
- [12] E. Björnson, E. G. Larsson, and T. L. Marzetta, "Massive MIMO: Ten myths and one critical question," *IEEE Commun. Mag.*, vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 114–123, Feb. 2016.
- [13] E. Björnson, L. Sanguinetti, J. Hoydis, and M. Debbah, "Optimal design of energy-efficient multi-user MIMO systems: Is massive MIMO the answer?" *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 3059–3075, Jun. 2015.
- [14] T. L. Marzetta, E. G. Larsson, H. Yang, and H. Q. Ngo, Fundamentals of Massive MIMO. Cambridge University Press, 2016.
- [15] E. Björnson, J. Hoydis, L. Sanguinetti *et al.*, "Massive MIMO networks: Spectral, energy, and hardware efficiency," *Foundations and Trends* (R) in Signal Processing, vol. 11, no. 3-4, pp. 154–655, 2017.
- [16] H. Q. Ngo, E. G. Larsson, and T. L. Marzetta, "Energy and spectral efficiency of very large multiuser MIMO systems," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 61, no. 4, pp. 1436–1449, Apr. 2013.
- [17] H. Yang and T. L. Marzetta, "Performance of conjugate and zero-forcing beamforming in large-scale antenna systems," *IEEE J. Sel. Areas Commun.*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 172–179, Feb. 2013.
- [18] S. Wagner, R. Couillet, M. Debbah, and D. T. M. Slock, "Large system analysis of linear precoding in correlated MISO broadcast channels under limited feedback," *IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory*, vol. 58, no. 7, pp. 4509–4537, Jul. 2012.
- [19] R. Couillet and M. Debbah, "Signal processing in large systems: A new paradigm," *IEEE Signal Process. Mag.*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 24–39, Jan. 2013.
- [20] J. Hoydis, S. ten Brink, and M. Debbah, "Massive MIMO in the UL/DL of cellular networks: How many antennas do we need?" *IEEE J. Sel. Areas Commun.*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 160–171, Feb. 2013.
- [21] H. Q. Ngo, E. G. Larsson, and T. L. Marzetta, "The multicell multiuser MIMO uplink with very large antenna arrays and a finite-dimensional channel," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 61, no. 6, pp. 2350–2361, Jun. 2013.

- [22] E. Björnson, E. G. Larsson, and M. Debbah, "Massive MIMO for maximal spectral efficiency: How many users and pilots should be allocated?" *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 1293–1308, Feb. 2016.
- [23] E. Björnson, J. Hoydis, M. Kountouris, and M. Debbah, "Massive MIMO systems with non-ideal hardware: Energy efficiency, estimation, and capacity limits," *IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory*, vol. 60, no. 11, pp. 7112–7139, Nov. 2014.
- [24] E. Björnson, M. Matthaiou, and M. Debbah, "Massive MIMO with nonideal arbitrary arrays: Hardware scaling laws and circuit-aware design," *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 14, no. 8, pp. 4353–4368, Aug. 2015.
- [25] A. Chockalingam and B. S. Rajan, Large MIMO systems. Cambridge University Press, 2014.
- [26] J. Duplicy, B. Biljana, R. Balraj, R. Ghaffar, P. Horváth, F. Kaltenberger, R. Knopp, I. Kovács, H. Nguyen, and D. Tandur, "MU-MIMO in LTE systems," *EURASIP J. on Wireless Commun. and Netw.*, vol. 2011, no. 1, pp. 496-763, Dec. 2011.
- [27] L. Bai, J. Choi, and Q. Yu, Low complexity MIMO receivers. Springer, 2014.
- [28] E. Viterbo and J. Boutros, "A universal lattice code decoder for fading channels," *IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory*, vol. 45, no. 5, pp. 1639–1642, Jul. 1999.
- [29] B. Hassibi and H. Vikalo, "On the sphere-decoding algorithm I. Expected complexity," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, vol. 53, no. 8, pp. 2806–2818, Aug. 2005.
- [30] H. Vikalo and B. Hassibi, "On the sphere-decoding algorithm II. Generalizations, second-order statistics, and applications to communications," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, vol. 53, no. 8, pp. 2819–2834, Aug. 2005.
- [31] M. M. Mansour, S. Alex, and L. Jalloul, "Reduced complexity soft-output MIMO sphere detectors - Part I: Algorithmic optimizations," *IEEE Trans.* Signal Process., vol. 62, no. 21, pp. 5505–5520, Nov. 2014.
- [32] —, "Reduced complexity soft-output MIMO sphere detectors Part II: Architectural optimizations," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, vol. 62, no. 21, pp. 5521–5535, Nov. 2014.
- [33] L. G. Barbero and J. S. Thompson, "Fixing the complexity of the sphere decoder for MIMO detection," *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 7, no. 6, pp. 2131–2142, Jun. 2008.

- [34] —, "Extending a fixed-complexity sphere decoder to obtain likelihood information for Turbo-MIMO systems," *IEEE Trans. Veh. Technol.*, vol. 57, no. 5, pp. 2804–2814, Sep. 2008.
- [35] J. Jalden, L. G. Barbero, B. Ottersten, and J. S. Thompson, "The error probability of the fixed-complexity sphere decoder," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, vol. 57, no. 7, pp. 2711–2720, Jul. 2009.
- [36] F. Rosário, F. A. Monteiro, and A. Rodrigues, "Fast matrix inversion updates for massive MIMO detection and precoding," *IEEE Signal Process. Lett.*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 75–79, Jan. 2016.
- [37] K. V. Vardhan, S. K. Mohammed, A. Chockalingam, and B. S. Rajan, "A low-complexity detector for large MIMO systems and multicarrier CDMA systems," *IEEE J. Sel. Areas Commun.*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 473–485, Apr. 2008.
- [38] P. Li and R. D. Murch, "Multiple output selection-LAS algorithm in large MIMO systems," *IEEE Commun. Lett.*, vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 399–401, May 2010.
- [39] T. Datta, N. Srinidhi, A. Chockalingam, and B. S. Rajan, "Random-restart reactive tabu search algorithm for detection in large-MIMO systems," *IEEE Commun. Lett.*, vol. 14, no. 12, pp. 1107–1109, Dec. 2010.
- [40] N. Srinidhi, T. Datta, A. Chockalingam, and B. S. Rajan, "Layered tabu search algorithm for large-MIMO detection and a lower bound on ML performance," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 59, no. 11, pp. 2955–2963, Nov. 2011.
- [41] J. Goldberger and A. Leshem, "MIMO detection for high-order QAM based on a Gaussian tree approximation," *IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory*, vol. 57, no. 8, pp. 4973–4982, Aug. 2011.
- [42] T. L. Narasimhan and A. Chockalingam, "Channel hardening-exploiting message passing (CHEMP) receiver in large-scale MIMO systems," *IEEE J. Sel. Topics Signal Process.*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 847–860, Oct. 2014.
- [43] D. Wubben, D. Seethaler, J. Jalden, and G. Matz, "Lattice reduction," *IEEE Signal Process. Mag.*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 70–91, May 2011.
- [44] Q. Zhou and X. Ma, "Element-based lattice reduction algorithms for large MIMO detection," *IEEE J. Sel. Areas Commun.*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 274– 286, Feb. 2013.

- [45] T. Datta, N. A. Kumar, A. Chockalingam, and B. S. Rajan, "A novel Monte-Carlo-sampling-based receiver for large-scale uplink multiuser MIMO systems," *IEEE Trans. Veh. Technol.*, vol. 62, no. 7, pp. 3019–3038, Sep. 2013.
- [46] J. Choi, "Nulling and cancellation detector for MIMO and its application to multistage receiver for coded signals: Performance and optimization," *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 1207–1216, May 2006.
- [47] D. W. Waters and J. R. Barry, "The Chase family of detection algorithms for multiple-input multiple-output channels," in *Proc. IEEE Global Commun. Conf. (GLOBECOM)*, vol. 4, Dallas, TX, USA, Nov. 2004, pp. 2635–2639.
- [48] —, "The Chase family of detection algorithms for multiple-input multipleoutput channels," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, vol. 56, no. 2, pp. 739–747, Feb. 2008.
- [49] Y. Jiang, J. Li, and W. W. Hager, "Joint transceiver design for MIMO communications using geometric mean decomposition," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, vol. 53, no. 10, pp. 3791–3803, Oct. 2005.
- [50] —, "Uniform channel decomposition for MIMO communications," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, vol. 53, no. 11, pp. 4283–4294, Nov. 2005.
- [51] S. Ariyavisitakul, J. Zheng, E. Ojard, and J. Kim, "Subspace beamforming for near-capacity MIMO performance," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, vol. 56, no. 11, pp. 5729–5733, Nov. 2008.
- [52] E. Ojard and S. Ariyavisitakul, "Method and system for approximate maximum likelihood (ML) detection in a multiple input multiple output (MIMO) receiver," Sep. 10 2008, US Patent App. 12/207,721.
- [53] M. M. Mansour, "A near-ML MIMO subspace detection algorithm," *IEEE Signal Process. Lett.*, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 408–412, Apr. 2015.
- [54] —, "A low-complexity MIMO subspace detection algorithm," EURASIP J. on Wireless Commun. and Netw., vol. 2015, no. 1, pp. 1–11, Dec. 2015.
- [55] H. Sarieddeen, M. M. Mansour, and A. Chehab, "Efficient near-optimal 8x8 MIMO detector," in Proc. IEEE Wireless Commun. and Netw. Conf. (WCNC), Doha, Qatar, Apr. 2016, pp. 1–6.
- [56] M. Siti and M. Fitz, "A novel soft-output layered orthogonal lattice detector for multiple antenna communications," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Commun.* (ICC), vol. 4, Istanbul, Turkey, Jun. 2006, pp. 1686–1691.

- [57] A. Tomasoni, M. Siti, M. Ferrari, and S. Bellini, "Hardware oriented, quasi-optimal detectors for iterative and non-iterative MIMO receivers," *EURASIP J. on Wireless Commun. and Netw.*, vol. 2012, no. 1, p. 62, Dec. 2012.
- [58] L. Jungwon, D. Toumpakaris, and Y. Wei, "Interference mitigation via joint detection," *IEEE J. Sel. Areas Commun.*, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 1172–1184, Jun. 2011.
- [59] Z. Bai, B. Badic, S. Iwelski, T. Scholand, R. Balraj, G. Bruck, and P. Jung, "On the equivalence of MMSE and IRC receiver in MU-MIMO systems," *IEEE Commun. Lett.*, vol. 15, no. 12, pp. 1288–1290, Dec. 2011.
- [60] R. Ghaffar and R. Knopp, "Interference sensitivity for multiuser MIMO in LTE," in Proc. IEEE Int. Workshop on Signal Process. Advances in Wireless Commun. (SPAWC), San Francisco, CA, USA, Jun. 2011, pp. 506-510.
- [61] —, "Interference-aware receiver structure for multi-user MIMO and LTE," EURASIP J. on Wireless Commun. and Netw., vol. 2011, no. 1, pp. 1–17, Dec. 2011.
- [62] A. Gomaa, L. M. A. Jalloul, M. M. Mansour, K. Gomadam, and D. Tujkovic, "Max-Log-MAP optimal MU-MIMO receiver for joint data detection and interferer modulation classification," *IEEE Commun. Lett.*, vol. 20, no. 7, pp. 1389–1392, Jul. 2016.
- [63] J.-H. Bae, S. Kim, J. Lee, and I. Kang, "Advanced downlink MU-MIMO receiver for 3GPP LTE-A," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Commun. (ICC)*, Ottawa, ON, Canada, Jun. 2012, pp. 7004–7008.
- [64] H. Arslan, Cognitive radio, software defined radio, and adaptive wireless systems. Springer, 2007.
- [65] O. Dobre, A. Abdi, Y. Bar-Ness, and W. Su, "Survey of automatic modulation classification techniques: Classical approaches and new trends," *Communications, IET*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 137–156, Apr. 2007.
- [66] W. Wei and J.-M. Mendel, "Maximum-likelihood classification for digital amplitude-phase modulations," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 189–193, Feb. 2000.
- [67] P. Panagiotou, A. Anastasopoulos, and A. Polydoros, "Likelihood ratio tests for modulation classification," in *Proc. IEEE MILCOM*, vol. 2, Los Angeles, CA, USA, Oct. 2000, pp. 670–674.

- [68] F. Hameed, O.-A. Dobre, and D.-C. Popescu, "On the likelihood-based approach to modulation classification," *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 8, no. 12, pp. 5884–5892, Dec. 2009.
- [69] V. Choqueuse, S. Azou, K. Yao, L. Collin, and G. Burel, "Blind modulation recognition for MIMO systems," *MTA Review*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 183–196, Jun. 2009.
- [70] B. Shim and I. Kang, "Joint modulation classification and detection using sphere decoding," *IEEE Signal Process. Lett.*, vol. 16, no. 9, pp. 778–781, Jun. 2009.
- [71] A. Ramezani-Kebrya, I.-M. Kim, D.-I. Kim, F. Chan, and R. Inkol, "Likelihood-based modulation classification for multiple-antenna receiver," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 61, no. 9, pp. 3816–3829, Aug. 2013.
- [72] Y. Eldemerdash, O. Dobre, and M. Oner, "Signal identification for multipleantenna wireless systems: Achievements and challenges," *IEEE Commun. Surveys Tuts.*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 1524–1551, Jan. 2016.
- [73] O.-A. Dobre, A. Abdi, Y. Bar-Ness, and W. Su, "Cyclostationarity-based modulation classification of linear digital modulations in flat fading channels," *Wireless Personal Commun.*, vol. 54, no. 4, pp. 699–717, Sep. 2010.
- [74] M.-S. Muhlhaus, M. Oner, O.-A. Dobre, H.-U. Jkel, and F.-K. Jondral, "Automatic modulation classification for MIMO systems using fourth-order cumulants," in *Proc. IEEE Vehic. Technol. Conf. (VTC)*, Quebec City, QC, Canada, Sep. 2012, pp. 1–5.
- [75] M. Muhlhaus, M. Oner, O. Dobre, H. Jakel, and F. Jondral, "A novel algorithm for MIMO signal classification using higher-order cumulants," in *Proc. Radio and Wireless Symp. (RWS)*, Austin, TX, USA, Jan. 2013, pp. 7–9.
- [76] M. Muhlhaus, M. Oner, O. Dobre, and F. Jondral, "A low complexity modulation classification algorithm for MIMO systems," *IEEE Commun. Lett.*, vol. 17, no. 10, pp. 1881–1884, Oct. 2013.
- [77] T. E. Bogale and L. B. Le, "Massive MIMO and mmWave for 5G wireless hetnet: Potential benefits and challenges," *IEEE Vehicular Technology Magazine*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 64–75, Mar. 2016.
- [78] A. L. Swindlehurst, E. Ayanoglu, P. Heydari, and F. Capolino, "Millimeterwave massive MIMO: The next wireless revolution?" *IEEE Commun. Mag.*, vol. 52, no. 9, pp. 56–62, Sep. 2014.

- [79] R. H. Walden, "Analog-to-digital converter survey and analysis," IEEE J. Sel. Areas Commun., vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 539–550, Apr. 1999.
- [80] S. H. Park, O. Simeone, O. Sahin, and S. S. Shitz, "Fronthaul compression for cloud radio access networks: Signal processing advances inspired by network information theory," *IEEE Signal Process. Mag.*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 69–79, Nov. 2014.
- [81] S. Han, C. I. I, Z. Xu, and C. Rowell, "Large-scale antenna systems with hybrid analog and digital beamforming for millimeter wave 5G," *IEEE Commun. Mag.*, vol. 53, no. 1, pp. 186–194, Jan. 2015.
- [82] J. Mo, A. Alkhateeb, S. Abu-Surra, and R. W. Heath, "Hybrid architectures with few-bit ADC receivers: Achievable rates and energy-rate tradeoffs," *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 2274–2287, Mar. 2017.
- [83] M. Sarajlić, L. Liu, and O. Edfors, "When are low resolution ADCs energy efficient in massive MIMO?" *IEEE Access*, vol. 5, pp. 14837–14853, Jul. 2017.
- [84] J. Mo and R. W. Heath, "High SNR capacity of millimeter wave MIMO systems with one-bit quantization," in *Proc. Inf. Theory and Appl. Workshop* (*ITA*), San Diego, CA, USA, Feb. 2014, pp. 1–5.
- [85] J. Mo, P. Schniter, N. G. Prelcic, and R. W. Heath, "Channel estimation in millimeter wave MIMO systems with one-bit quantization," in *Proc. Asilomar Conf. Signals, Systems and Computers (Asilomar)*, Pacific Grove, CA, USA, Nov. 2014, pp. 957–961.
- [86] S. Hoyos, B. M. Sadler, and G. R. Arce, "Monobit digital receivers for ultrawideband communications," *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 1337–1344, Jul. 2005.
- [87] J. Singh, O. Dabeer, and U. Madhow, "On the limits of communication with low-precision analog-to-digital conversion at the receiver," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 57, no. 12, pp. 3629–3639, Dec. 2009.
- [88] S. Krone and G. Fettweis, "Fading channels with 1-bit output quantization: Optimal modulation, ergodic capacity and outage probability," in *Proc. IEEE Inf. Theory Workshop (ITW)*, Dublin, Ireland, Aug. 2010, pp. 1–5.
- [89] C. Mollén, J. Choi, E. G. Larsson, and R. W. Heath, "Achievable uplink rates for massive MIMO with coarse quantization," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Process. (ICASSP)*, New Orleans, LA, USA, Mar. 2017, pp. 6488–6492.

- [90] L. Fan, S. Jin, C. K. Wen, and H. Zhang, "Uplink achievable rate for massive MIMO systems with low-resolution ADC," *IEEE Commun. Lett.*, vol. 19, no. 12, pp. 2186–2189, Dec. 2015.
- [91] T. M. Lok and V. K. W. Wei, "Channel estimation with quantized observations," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Inf. Theory (ISIT)*, Cambridge, MA, USA, Aug. 1998, p. 333.
- [92] A. Mezghani and J. A. Nossek, "Analysis of Rayleigh-fading channels with 1-bit quantized output," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Inf. Theory (ISIT)*, Toronto, ON, Canada, Jul. 2008, pp. 260–264.
- [93] C. Risi, D. Persson, and E. G. Larsson, "Massive MIMO with 1-bit ADC," arXiv preprint arXiv:1404.7736, 2014.
- [94] J. Choi, J. Mo, and R. W. Heath, "Near maximum-likelihood detector and channel estimator for uplink multiuser massive MIMO systems with one-bit ADCs," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 64, no. 5, pp. 2005–2018, May 2016.
- [95] J. J. Bussgang, "Crosscorrelation functions of amplitude-distorted Gaussian signals," 1952.
- [96] Y. Li, C. Tao, G. Seco-Granados, A. Mezghani, A. L. Swindlehurst, and L. Liu, "Channel estimation and performance analysis of one-bit massive MIMO systems," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, vol. 65, no. 15, pp. 4075– 4089, Aug. 2017.
- [97] S. Jacobsson, G. Durisi, M. Coldrey, U. Gustavsson, and C. Studer, "Throughput analysis of massive MIMO uplink with low-resolution ADCs," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, Apr. 2017.
- [98] C.-K. Wen, C.-J. Wang, S. Jin, K.-K. Wong, and P. Ting, "Bayes-optimal joint channel-and-data estimation for massive MIMO with low-precision ADCs," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, vol. 64, no. 10, pp. 2541–2556, Dec. 2016.
- [99] A. Kammoun, A. Müller, E. Björnson, and M. Debbah, "Linear precoding based on polynomial expansion: Large-scale multi-cell MIMO systems," *IEEE J. Sel. Topics Signal Process.*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 861–875, Oct. 2014.
- [100] J. Hoydis, M. Debbah, and M. Kobayashi, "Asymptotic moments for interference mitigation in correlated fading channels," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Inf. Theory (ISIT)*, St. Petersburg, Russia, Jul. 2011, pp. 2796–2800.
- [101] B. Yin, M. Wu, J. R. Cavallaro, and C. Studer, "Conjugate gradient-based soft-output detection and precoding in massive MIMO systems," in *Proc.*

IEEE Global Conmun. Conf. (GLOBECOM), Austin, TX, USA, Dec. 2014, pp. 3696–3701.

- [102] Z. Zhang, X. Cai, C. Li, C. Zhong, and H. Dai, "One-bit quantized massive MIMO detection based on variational approximate message passing," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, vol. PP, no. 99, pp. 1–1, Dec. 2017.
- [103] A. K. Saxena, I. Fijalkow, and A. L. Swindlehurst, "Analysis of one-bit quantized precoding for the multiuser massive MIMO downlink," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, vol. 65, no. 17, pp. 4624–4634, Sep. 2017.
- [104] J. Xu, W. Xu, and F. Gong, "On performance of quantized transceiver in multiuser massive MIMO downlinks," *IEEE Wireless Commun. Lett.*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 562–565, Oct. 2017.
- [105] Y. Li, C. Tao, A. L. Swindlehurst, A. Mezghani, and L. Liu, "Downlink achievable rate analysis in massive MIMO systems with one-bit DACs," *IEEE Commun. Lett.*, vol. 21, no. 7, pp. 1669–1672, Jul. 2017.
- [106] S. Jacobsson, G. Durisi, M. Coldrey, T. Goldstein, and C. Studer, "Quantized precoding for massive MU-MIMO," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 65, no. 11, pp. 4670–4684, Nov. 2017.
- [107] O. Castañeda, S. Jacobsson, G. Durisi, M. Coldrey, T. Goldstein, and C. Studer, "1-bit massive MU-MIMO precoding in VLSI," arXiv preprint arXiv:1702.03449, 2017.
- [108] O. Castaneda, T. Goldstein, and C. Studer, "POKEMON: A non-linear beamforming algorithm for 1-bit massive MIMO," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Process. (ICASSP)*, New Orleans, LA, USA, Mar. 2017.
- [109] O. Tirkkonen and C. Studer, "Subset-codebook precoding for 1-bit massive multiuser MIMO," in Proc. Annual Conf. on Inf. Sci. and Syst. (CISS), Baltimore, MD, USA, Mar. 2017, pp. 1–5.
- [110] A. Gokceoglu, E. Björnson, E. G. Larsson, and M. Valkama, "Spatiotemporal waveform design for multiuser massive MIMO downlink with 1-bit receivers," *IEEE J. Sel. Topics Signal Process.*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 347–362, Mar. 2017.
- [111] N. Liang and W. Zhang, "Mixed-ADC massive MIMO," IEEE J. Sel. Areas Commun., vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 983–997, Mar. 2016.
- [112] J. Zhang, L. Dai, Z. He, S. Jin, and X. Li, "Performance analysis of mixed-ADC massive MIMO systems over Rician fading channels," *IEEE J. Sel. Areas Commun.*, vol. 35, no. 6, pp. 1327–1338, Jun. 2017.

- [113] Q. Ding and Y. Jing, "Receiver energy efficiency and resolution profile design for massive MIMO uplink with mixed-ADC," *IEEE Trans. Veh. Technol.*, vol. 67, no. 2, pp. 1840–1844, Feb. 2018.
- [114] H. Pirzadeh and A. L. Swindlehurst, "Spectral efficiency under energy constraint for mixed-ADC MRC massive MIMO," *IEEE Signal Process. Lett.*, vol. 24, no. 12, pp. 1847–1851, Dec. 2017.
- [115] Y. Dong and L. Qiu, "Spectral efficiency of massive MIMO systems with low-resolution ADCs and MMSE receiver," *IEEE Commun. Lett.*, vol. 21, no. 8, pp. 1771–1774, Aug. 2017.
- [116] S. Jacobsson, G. Durisi, M. Coldrey, and C. Studer, "Linear precoding with low-resolution DACs for massive MU-MIMO-OFDM downlink," arXiv preprint arXiv:1709.04846, 2017.
- [117] —, "Massive mu-mimo-ofdm downlink with one-bit DACs and linear precoding," arXiv preprint arXiv:1704.04607, 2017.
- [118] S. Wang, Y. Li, and J. Wang, "Multiuser detection in massive spatial modulation MIMO with low-resolution ADCs," *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 2156–2168, Apr. 2015.
- [119] C. Studer and G. Durisi, "Quantized massive MU-MIMO-OFDM uplink," IEEE Trans. Commun., vol. 64, no. 6, pp. 2387–2399, Jun. 2016.
- [120] W. Zhang, "A general framework for transmission with transceiver distortion and some applications," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 60, no. 2, pp. 384–399, Feb. 2012.
- [121] S. Krone and G. Fettweis, "Capacity of communications channels with 1-bit quantization and oversampling at the receiver," in *Proc. of The 35th IEEE* Sarnoff Symp., May 2012, pp. 1–7.
- [122] C. Studer, S. Fateh, and D. Seethaler, "ASIC implementation of soft-input soft-output MIMO detection using MMSE parallel interference cancellation," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 46, no. 7, pp. 1754–1765, Jul. 2011.
- [123] L. Babai, "On lovász' lattice reduction and the nearest lattice point problem," *Combinatorica*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 1–13, 1986.
- [124] C. Studer and H. Bolcskei, "Soft-input soft-output single tree-search sphere decoding," *IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory*, vol. 56, no. 10, pp. 4827–4842, Oct. 2010.

- [125] C.-P. Schnorr and M. Euchner, "Lattice basis reduction: Improved practical algorithms and solving subset sum problems," *Mathematical programming*, vol. 66, no. 1-3, pp. 181–199, Aug. 1994.
- [126] K. wai Wong, C. ying Tsui, R. S. K. Cheng, and W. ho Mow, "A VLSI architecture of a K-best lattice decoding algorithm for MIMO channels," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS)*, vol. 3, no. 273-276, Phoenix-Scottsdale, AZ, USA, May 2002.
- [127] C. A. Shen, A. M. Eltawil, K. N. Salama, and S. Mondal, "A best-first soft/hard decision tree searching MIMO decoder for a 4x4 64-QAM system," *IEEE Trans. VLSI Syst.*, vol. 20, no. 8, pp. 1537–1541, Aug. 2012.
- [128] P. W. Wolniansky, G. J. Foschini, G. Golden, and R. A. Valenzuela, "V-BLAST: An architecture for realizing very high data rates over the rich-scattering wireless channel," in URSI Int. Symp. on Signals, Syst., and Electron., Pisa, Italy, Oct. 1998, pp. 295–300.
- [129] H. Sarieddeen, M. M. Mansour, L. M. A. Jalloul, and A. Chehab, "Lowcomplexity MIMO detector with 1024-QAM," in *Proc. IEEE Global Conf.* on Signal and Inform. Process. (GlobalSIP), Orlando, FL, USA, Dec. 2015, pp. 883–887.
- [130] A. Tomasoni, M. Siti, M. Ferrari, and S. Bellini, "Turbo-LORD: A MAPapproaching soft-input soft-output detector for iterative MIMO receivers," in *Proc. IEEE Global Conmun. Conf. (GLOBECOM)*, Washington, DC, USA, Nov. 2007, pp. 3504–3508.
- [131] —, "Low complexity, quasi-optimal mimo detectors for iterative receivers," *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 9, no. 10, pp. 3166–3177, Oct. 2010.
- [132] M. Siti and M. P. Fitz, "On layer ordering techniques for near-optimal MIMO detectors," in Proc. IEEE Wireless Commun. and Netw. Conf. (WCNC), Kowloon, China, Mar. 2007, pp. 1199–1204.
- [133] A. Gomaa and L. M. A. Jalloul, "Efficient soft-input soft-output detection of dual-layer MIMO systems," *IEEE Wireless Commun. Lett.*, vol. 3, no. 5, pp. 541–544, Oct. 2014.
- [134] M. M. Mansour and L. M. Jalloul, "Optimized configurable architectures for scalable soft-input soft-output MIMO detectors with 256-QAM," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, vol. 63, no. 18, pp. 4969–4984, Sep. 2015.
- [135] H. Sarieddeen, M. M. Mansour, and A. Chehab, "Efficient subspace detection for high-order MIMO systems," in Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Acoustics,

Speech, and Signal Process. (ICASSP), Shanghai, China, Mar. 2016, pp. 1001–1005.

- [136] H. Sarieddeen, M. M. Mansour, L. Jalloul, and A. Chehab, "High order multi-user MIMO subspace detection," J. of Signal Process. Syst., vol. 90, no. 3, pp. 305–321, Mar. 2017.
- [137] H. Sarieddeen and M. M. Mansour, "Enhanced low-complexity layerordering for MIMO sphere detectors," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Commun.* (*ICC*), Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, May 2016, pp. 1–6.
- [138] G.-H. Golub and C.-F. Van Loan, *Matrix Computations*, 3rd ed. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins Univ. Press, 1996.
- [139] C. Studer, A. Burg, and H. Bolcskei, "Soft-output sphere decoding: Algorithms and VLSI implementation," *IEEE J. Sel. Areas Commun.*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 290–300, Feb. 2008.
- [140] D. Wubben, R. Bohnke, J. Rinas, V. Kuhn, and K. D. Kammeyer, "Efficient algorithm for decoding layered space-time codes," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 37, no. 22, pp. 1348–1350, Oct. 2001.
- [141] Y. Dai and Z. Yan, "Memory-constrained tree search detection and new ordering schemes," *IEEE J. Sel. Topics Signal Process.*, vol. 3, no. 6, pp. 1026–1037, Dec. 2009.
- [142] K. Su and I. J. Wassell, "A new ordering for efficient sphere decoding," in Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Commun. (ICC), vol. 3, no. 3, Seoul, South Korea, May 2005, pp. 1906–1910.
- [143] R. C. H. Chang, C. H. Lin, K. H. Lin, C. L. Huang, and F. C. Chen, "Iterative QR decomposition architecture using the modified Gram-Schmidt algorithm for MIMO systems," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, vol. 57, no. 5, pp. 1095–1102, May 2010.
- [144] H. Sarieddeen, M. M. Mansour, and A. Chehab, "Hard-output chase detectors for large MIMO: BER performance and complexity analysis," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Personal Indoor and Mobile Radio Commun. (PIMRC)*, Montreal, Canada, Oct. 2017, pp. 1–5.
- [145] —, "Large MIMO detection schemes based on channel puncturing: Performance and complexity analysis," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, no. 99, pp. 1–1, Dec. 2017.
- [146] F. Rusek and A. Prlja, "Optimal channel shortening for MIMO and ISI channels," *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 810–818, Feb. 2012.

- [147] F. Rusek and D. Fertonani, "Bounds on the information rate of intersymbol interference channels based on mismatched receivers," *IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 1470–1482, Mar. 2012.
- [148] S. Hu and F. Rusek, "A soft-output MIMO detector with achievable information rate based partial marginalization," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, vol. 65, no. 6, pp. 1622–1637, Mar. 2017.
- [149] E. G. Larsson and J. Jalden, "Fixed-complexity soft MIMO detection via partial marginalization," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, vol. 56, no. 8, pp. 3397–3407, Aug. 2008.
- [150] D. Persson and E. G. Larsson, "Partial marginalization soft MIMO detection with higher order constellations," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, vol. 59, no. 1, pp. 453–458, Jan. 2011.
- [151] S. L. Loyka, "Channel capacity of MIMO architecture using the exponential correlation matrix," *IEEE Commun. Lett.*, vol. 5, no. 9, pp. 369–371, Sep. 2001.
- [152] H. Sarieddeen, M. M. Mansour, and A. Chehab, "Channel-punctured large mimo detection," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Inf. Theory (ISIT)*, Vail, CO, USA, Jun. 2018, p. (to appear).
- [153] A. Edelman, "Eigenvalues and condition numbers of random matrices," SIAM J. on Matrix Anal. and Appl., vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 543–560, Oct. 1988.
- [154] E. A. Jorswieck and H. Boche, "Performance analysis of capacity of MIMO systems under multiuser interference based on worst-case noise behavior," *EURASIP J. on Wireless Commun. and Netw.*, vol. 2004, no. 2, pp. 273– 285, 2004.
- [155] C. D. Meyer, Matrix analysis and applied linear algebra. SIAM, 2000, vol. 2.
- [156] E. Biglieri, G. Taricco, and A. Tulino, "Performance of space-time codes for a large number of antennas," *IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory*, vol. 48, no. 7, pp. 1794–1803, Jul. 2002.
- [157] E. G. Larsson and P. Stoica, Space-time block coding for wireless communications. Cambridge University Press, 2008.
- [158] C.-J. Kim, Y.-S. Kim, G.-Y. Jeong, and D.-D. Lee, "Matched filter bound of square QAM in multipath Rayleigh fading channels," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 20–21, Jan. 1997.

- [159] J. Kim and I. Lee, "Analysis of symbol error rates for signal space diversity in Rayleigh fading channels," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Commun. (ICC)*, Beijing, China, May 2008, pp. 4621–4625.
- [160] D. Radji and H. Leib, "Interference cancellation based detection for V-BLAST with diversity maximizing channel partition," *IEEE J. Sel. Topics Signal Process.*, vol. 3, no. 6, pp. 1000–1015, Dec. 2009.
- [161] H. Sarieddeen, M.-M. Mansour, L.-M.-A. Jalloul, and A. Chehab, "Likelihood-based modulation classification for MU-MIMO systems," in *Proc. IEEE Global Conf. on Signal and Inform. Process. (GlobalSIP)*, Orlando, FL, USA, Dec. 2015, pp. 873–877.
- [162] H. Sarieddeen, M. Mansour, L. Jalloul, and A. Chehab, "Efficient near optimal joint modulation classification and detection for MU-MIMO systems," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Process. (ICASSP)*, Shanghai, China, Mar. 2016, pp. 3706–3710.
- [163] H. Sarieddeen, M. M. Mansour, L. M. A. Jalloul, and A. Chehab, "Lowcomplexity joint modulation classification and detection in MU-MIMO," in *Proc. IEEE Wireless Commun. and Netw. Conf. (WCNC)*, Doha, Qatar, Apr. 2016, pp. 1–6.
- [164] T. Yucek and H. Arslan, "A novel sub-optimum maximum-likelihood modulation classification algorithm for adaptive OFDM systems," in *Proc. IEEE Wireless Commun. and Netw. Conf. (WCNC)*, vol. 2, Atlanta, GA, USA, Mar. 2004.
- [165] B. Classon, K. Blankenship, and V. Desai, "Turbo decoding with the constant-log-MAP algorithm," in *Proc. of The 2nd Int. Symp. on Turbo Codes and Related Topics*, Brest, France, Sep. 2000, pp. 319–322.
- [166] M. C. Valenti and J. Sun, "The UMTS turbo code and an efficient decoder implementation suitable for software-defined radios," Int. J. of Wireless Inf. Netw., vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 203–215, Oct. 2001.
- [167] G. William and M.-S. Chad, "The cumulant theory of cyclostationary timeseries, part I," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, vol. 42, no. 12, pp. 3409–3429, Dec. 1994.
- [168] H. Sarieddeen, M. M. Mansour, and A. Chehab, "Modulation classification via subspace detection in MIMO systems," *IEEE Commun. Lett.*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 64–67, Jan. 2017.
- [169] M. Joham, W. Utschick, and J. A. Nossek, "Linear transmit processing in MIMO communications systems," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, vol. 53, no. 8, pp. 2700–2712, Aug. 2005.

[170] S. Jacobsson, G. Durisi, M. Coldrey, T. Goldstein, and C. Studer, "Nonlinear 1-bit precoding for massive MU-MIMO with higher-order modulation," in *Proc. Asilomar Conf. Signals, Systems and Computers (Asilomar)*, Pacific Grove, CA, USA, Nov. 2016, pp. 763–767.